

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/

Theses Digitisation:

https://www.gla.ac.uk/myglasgow/research/enlighten/theses/digitisation/

This is a digitised version of the original print thesis.

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk

MUSCLE BIOPSY ANALYSIS OF THE BODY WATER AND ELECTROLYTE CONTENT IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

A thesis submitted to the University of Glasgow for the degree of Doctor of Medicine in the Faculty of Medicine

by

JOHN ALISTAIR GRAHAM

Department of Surgery, Western Infirmary, Glasgow, W.1.

June, 1970.

ProQuest Number: 10760473

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10760473

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

To my wife, Heather.

CONTENTS

	Acknowledgements	1	
Chapter I	Introduction and historical background	3	
Chapter II	Biopsy technique, analytical methods and terminology		
	Notes on statistical analyses and terminology	27	
Chapter III	Muscle water and electrolytes in normal adult subjects	29	
Chapter IV	Muscle water and electrolytes in normal infants and children		
Chapter V	Water and electrolyte imbalance in pyloric stenosis		
Chapter VI	Muscle water and electrolytes after ureterocolic anastomosis		
Chapter VII	The metabolic imbalance of chronic renal failure		
Chapter VIII	Body water and electrolyte composition in acute renal failure		
Chapter IX	Muscle biopsy analysis in congestive cardiac failure		
Chapter X	The syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormones		
Chapter XI	Water and electrolyte metabolism in disorders of adrenal cortical function		
Chapter XII	The relationships between extracellular and intracellular water and electrolytes in health and disease	139	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The technique of analysis and partition of the biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes was developed while I was working in the Institute of Physiology, Glasgow University. My supervisor at that time Professor J.F. Lamb, gave me invaluable advice and encouragement, and I wish to accord to him my most grateful thanks. I also wish to thank Professor A.W. Kay who has since continued to give me constant help and encouragement.

I am greatly indebted to Mrs. Irene Thomson of the Institute of Physiology, and also Miss Ann Halliday and Mr. John Brannan of the Department of Surgery, Western Infirmary, who have given me superb technical assistance throughout this work.

Mrs. Elizabeth Nimmo typed the final draft of this thesis quickly and most efficiently, and Miss Ann McCaul made the prints of the figures and some of the tables for inclusion in the text. I wish to thank them both for their invaluable help.

An Aminco-Cotlove chloride titrator was purchased during the course of this work, as a result of a grant made by the committee of the Western Infirmary Endowments Fund, and their financial assistance is gratefully acknowledged.

Finally, I wish to thank the many physicians and surgeons who have made patients under their care freely available to me,

especially Drs. A.L. Linton and A.F. Lever, Professor A.W. Kay and Messrs. A.B. Kerr, K. Fraser and W.G. Scobie. CHAPTER 1

.

.

:

INTRODUCTION AND HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

INTRODUCTION

The advances in biochemical knowledge in this century have brought about an entirely new understanding of fluid and electrolyte metabolism in health and disease. Although serum-electrolyte concentrations can be measured with accuracy and sophistication using modern automated techniques, it has long been realised that these measurements only give partial information on fluid and electrolyte balance in the extracellular phase of the body. Furthermore, serum-electrolyte values often relate badly to the total body water and electrolyte contents and may even give misleading information. For this reason several methods of estimating total body water and electrolytes have been developed.

Metabolic balance studies were first used to give information on fluid and electrolyte disorders, but the results obtained only give indirect evidence of change, and the studies are laborious, time-consuming and very liable to error except in properly organised metabolic units. The pioneer work of Cuthbertson¹ and Moore and Ball² on the metabolic response of the body to trauma is a good example of the important advances arising from the use of this method.

In 1946, Moore published an account of the measurement of body water and solids using the isotope-dilution method³. He and subsequent workers have used and modified these techniques

extensively, and the monograph produced by Moore, et. al.⁴ describes clearly how such results may be used to assess the fluid and electrolyte balance in individual patients and to dictate therapy. There are, however, many important drawbacks to this method. Incomplete equilibration of the tracer substance, or penetration into body compartments not under study, especially in disease conditions, may seriously confound interpretation of the results. Most of the isotope tracers now used are radio-isotopes, and though the amount of radio-activity given is very small, there is a possible radiation hazard from repeated estimations or from use in infants, children or pregnant women.

Direct analysis of tissue water and electrolytes can also be used to give information on body water and electrolyte contents. Skeletal muscle is most commonly used, as it is the largest single component of the lean body mass, and is of relatively uniform cellular composition. Analysis of a skeletal muscle biopsy-specimen is a simple procedure and does not require complicated or expensive equipment. This technique has been employed in a desultory fashion for many years, but recent work has done much to elucidate the advantages and disadvantages of the method (see historical background).

The purpose of this investigation has been firstly to produce a simplified method of analysis of skeletal muscle biopsyspecimens. Secondly, to study the physiology of water and electrolyte

balance in skeletal muscle from normal adults and children. Thirdly, to enumerate the changes in muscle water and electrolytes in some pathological conditions, and lastly, to re-examine the physiological mechanisms in the light of the changes found in disease states. It is hoped that the results described will allow more knowledgeable and efficient treatment of water and electrolyte imbalance in individual patients.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Some of the early studies on muscle water and electrolytes were carried out using post-mortem materials⁵⁻⁷ and obviously the results found were open to criticism. Most of the other studies⁸⁻¹⁴ had the basic defect that the muscle specimens taken were large, up to as much as 10 G., and naturally it was undesirable to subject patients to this procedure. Also the biochemical analyses were laborious and relatively inaccurate by modern standards. In 1958 Litchfield and Gaddie¹⁵ published an analysis of the water and electrolyte content of small skeletal muscle biopsy-specimens, the total weight of muscle taken being not greater than 300 mg. The reproducibility of the results was high, and the variability was much smaller than that previously found by other workers with larger muscle specimens.

Around this time Flear and his associates started to

analyse biopsy-specimens from large numbers of patients, and from different muscle groups in the body. Their published work did much to establish the technique of the biopsy-specimen analysis¹⁶, and they were able to show that different muscle groups had slightly different water and electrolyte contents¹⁷, confirming differences previously noted in rat muscles^{18, 19}. Therefore, in order to compare normal with abnormal, the biopsy-specimens should be taken from the same muscle group in each case.

Rieffel and Stone²⁰ first described a method of taking muscle biopsy-specimens by needle-biopsy, and their work was developed by Bergström²¹; further modifications to the needle used have been described by Groh, et. al.²² and by Nichols, et. al.²³. This method has obvious aesthetic advantages, but does not give as accurate results as open biopsy methods, because the specimen obtained is very small and more liable to contamination with fat and connective tissue. So far, the results obtained by analysis of needle-biopsy specimens have been disappointing in many ways, but further technical advances may eventually make this the method of choice.

Finally it has been shown both in animals²⁴, adult humans²⁴ and children²⁵ that changes in muscle water and electrolytes correlate well with changes in total body water and electrolytes measured by isotope-dilution techniques. It will also be shown in

this thesis that muscle water and electrolyte contents agree with the findings of metabolic balance studies.

REFERENCES

- 1. CUTHBERTSON, D.P. (1930) The disturbance of metabolism produced by bony and non-bony injury, with notes on certain abnormal conditions of bone. <u>Biochem. J.</u>, 24, 1244-1263.
- 2. MOORE, F.D., BALL, M.R. (1952) The metabolic response to surgery. C.C. Thomas. Springfield, Illinois.
- 3. MOORE, F.D. (1946) Determination of total body water and solids with isotopes. <u>Science</u>, <u>104</u>, 157-161.
- 4. MOORE, F.D., OLESEN, K.H., McMURREY, J.D., PARKER, V.H., BALL, M.R., BOYDEN, C.M. (1963) The body cell mass and its supporting environment. W.B. Saunders & Co. Philadelphia and London.
- 5. CULLEN, G.E., WILKINS, W.E., HARRISON, T.R. (1933) Electrolytes in human tissue. II The electrolyte content of hearts and other tissues from cases with various diseases. <u>J. biol. Chem.</u>, <u>102</u>, 415-423.
- 6. FOX, C.L., SLOBODY, L.B. (1951) Tissue changes in the nephrotic syndrome: demonstration of potassium depletion. <u>Pediatrics</u>, 7, 186-192.
- 7. ISERI, L.T., ALEXANDER, L.C., McCAUGHEY, R.S., BOYLE, A.J., MYERS, G.B. (1952) Water and electrolyte content of cardiac and skeletal muscle in heart failure and myocardial infarction. <u>Am. Heart J.</u>, <u>43</u>, 215-227.
- 8. MUDGE, G.H., VISLOCKY, C. (1949) Electrolyte changes in human striated muscle in acidosis and alkalosis. J. clin. <u>Invest.</u>, <u>28</u>, 482-486.
- 9. MOKOTOFF, R., ROSS, G., LEITER, R. (1952) The electrolyte content of skeletal muscle in congestive heart failure; a comparison of results with inulin and chloride as reference standards for extracellular water. J. clin. Invest., <u>31</u>, 291-299.
- 10. TALSO, P.J., SPAFFORD, N., BLAW, M. (1953) The metabolism of water and electrolytes in congestive heart failure. I The electrolyte and water content of normal human skeletal muscle. J. Lab. Clin. Med., 41, 281-286.

- 11. CORT, J.H., MATTHEWS, H.L. (1954) Potassium deficiency in congestive heart failure. <u>Lancet</u>, <u>i</u>, 1202-1206.
- 12. WILSON, A.O. (1955) Electrolyte content of muscle samples obtained at surgical operations. <u>Br. J. Surg.</u>, <u>43</u>, 71-75.
- 13. BARNES, B.A., GORDON, E.B., COPE, O. (1957) Skeletal muscle analyses in health and in certain metabolic disorders. I The method of analysis and the values in normal muscle. <u>J. clin. Invest.</u>, <u>36</u>, 1239-1248.
- 14. NICHOLS, N. (1958) Intracellular glycogen and electrolyte concentrations in human skeletal muscle. <u>Proc. Soc. exp.</u> <u>Biol. (N.Y.)</u>, <u>97</u>, 363-366.
- 15. LITCHFIELD, J.A., GADDIE, R. (1958) The measurement of the phase distribution of water and electrolytes in skeletal muscle by the analysis of small samples. <u>Clin. Sci.</u>, <u>17</u>, 483-497.
- 16. FLEAR, C.T.G., FLORENCE, I. (1961) A rapid and micro method for the analysis of skeletal muscle for water, sodium, potassium, chloride and fat. <u>Clin. Chim. Acta</u>, <u>6</u>, 129-135.
- 17. FLEAR, C.T.G., CARPENTER, R.G., FLORENCE, I. (1965) Variability in the water, sodium, potassium and chloride content of human skeletal muscle. J. clin. Path., <u>18</u>, 74-81.
- 18. HOLLIDAY, M.A., SEGAR, W.E., LUKENBILL, U.A., VALENCIA, R.M., DURELL, A.M. (1957) Variations in muscle electrolyte composition due to sampling and to aging. <u>Proc. Soc. exp.</u> <u>Biol. (N.Y.)</u>, <u>95</u>, 786-788.
- 19. FLEAR, C.T.G., CRAMPTON, R.F., MATTHEWS, D.M. (1960) An in vitro method for the determination of the inulin space of skeletal muscle with observations on the composition of human muscle. <u>Clin. Sci.</u>, <u>19</u>, 483-493.
- REIFFEL, L., STONE, C.A. (1957) Neutron activation of tissue: measurements of sodium, potassium and phosphorus in muscle. <u>J. Lab. Clin. Med.</u>, <u>49</u>, 286-298.

- 21. BERGSTROM, J. (1962) Muscle electrolytes in man. <u>Scand.</u> J. clin. Lab. Invest., <u>14</u>, suppl. 68.
- 22. GROH, J., KVASNICKA, J. (1967) Age differences in the metabolism of electrolytes and water. IV Biopsy needle for biochemical study of skeletal muscle tissue. Clinical experience with the needle. <u>Sborn. Ved. Prac.</u> Lek. Fak. Karlov. Univ., <u>10</u>, 185-190.
- 23. NICHOLS, B.L., HAZLEWOOD, C.F., BARNES, D.J. (1968) Percutaneous needle biopsy of quadriceps muscle: potassium analysis in normal children. <u>J. Pediat.</u>, <u>72</u>, 840-852.
- 24. MULDOWNEY, F.P., WILLIAMS, R.T. (1963) Clinical disturbance, in serum sodium and potassium in relation to alteration in total exchangeable sodium, exchangeable potassium and total body water. <u>Am. J. Med.</u>, <u>35</u>, 768-780.
- 25. NICHOLS, B.L., ALLEYNE, G.A.O., BARNES, D.J., HAZLEWOOD, C.F. (1969) Relationship between muscle potassium and total body potassium in infants with malnutrition. <u>J. Pediat.</u>, <u>74</u>, 49-57.

CHAPTER II

.

BIOPSY TECHNIQUE, ANALYTICAL METHODS AND TERMINOLOGY

.

BIOPSY TECHNIQUE

Skeletal muscle biopsy-specimens were taken from either vastus lateralis, rectus abdominis or internal oblique muscles. Vastus lateralis was biopsied under both local anaesthesia (2% plain lignocaine) or general anaesthesia (sodium thiopentone, gallamine triethiodide, nitrous oxide and oxygen, and occasionally halothane); the other muscles were biopsied under general anaesthesia alone. 1) Vastus lateralis: the skin and subcutaneous tissues were infiltrated with local anaesthetic; the thick fascia lata prevents diffusion of the solution into the muscle. A 1-3 cm. skin incision was made, the fascia lata was split along the line of its fibres and retracted with pressure forceps, and the epimysium of the vastus lateralis was similarly incised and retracted. The underlying muscle was then gripped in pressure forceps and a biopsy of 100-200 mg. size snipped off with scissors. There is a brief spasm of pain as the muscle is cut, but no residual pain, and it was not necessary to premedicate the patients.

Any excess blood was gently mopped from the specimen, and three small pieces weighing 15-35 mg. were immediately cut from it and placed in weighed 10 ml. centrifuge tubes, and sealed with 'Parafilm' wax sheeting. In this way it was possible to obtain biopsy-specimens free of blood, fat or connective tissue, and also to avoid evaporative water loss.

A number of biopsy-specimens were taken from the vastus lateralis using the same technique, but under general anaesthesia. These were taken within 20 minutes of induction, before the main surgical procedure started.

2) Rectus abdominis or internal oblique: All biopsy-specimens from these muscles were taken within 20 minutes of the induction of general anaesthesia, from the particular muscle exposed by the surgical incision, using the technique described above. The specimen was never larger than 100 mg. in the group of infants and children studied in this way.

ANALYSIS OF THE WATER AND ELECTROLYTE CONTENTS

The fresh specimens in the tubes were re-weighed, after removing the 'Parafilm'. The balance used was accurate to 0.05 mg. The specimens were then dried at 85°C to constant weight (in fact drying for 5 hours ensured complete dehydration). The tubes were allowed to cool to room temperature and then re-weighed.

The electrolytes of the biopsy-specimens were then extracted in 1 ml. 0.05N nitric acid for at least ten hours, preliminary experiments having shown this length of time to be adequate. The extract fluid was then divided as follows:

(i) 0.25 ml. for estimation of the sodium and potassium

contents. This aliquot was diluted 1 in 40, and the electrolytes measured on an 'E.E.L.' flame photometer. The standard solutions contained both sodium and potassium.

(ii) 0.5 ml. for estimation of the chloride content. This was measured using the micropotentiometric method of Ramsay, et. al.¹. Recently, an amperometric titration method² has been used, measurements being made on an Aminco-Cotlove chloridimeter. The two methods give exactly similar results.

PARTITION OF THE WATER CONTENT

The difference between the wet and dry weights of the biopsy-specimen gives the total water content. The simplest method of estimating the extracellular fraction of the total water is to use the endogenous chloride content of the tissue. Most of the chloride is extracellular, but the chloride content of the cells can be calculated easily, since chloride is passively distributed between the cells and the extracellular water according to the cell membrane potential^{3, 4}. For a constant membrane potential, taken to be -85 mV⁵, it can be calculated from the Nernst equation that the external concentration of chloride bears a linear relation to the intracellular concentration). Therefore, as the extracellular chloride concentration is known, the intracellular

chloride concentration is easy to find.

The extracellular water of the biopsy-specimen is then calculated as follows:

Since the content of a substance in a given solution equals the volume of that solution times the concentration of the substance in solution, the extracellular and intracellular chloride contents can be described thus:

$$Cl_e = W_e [Cl]_e \qquad \dots \dots (1)$$

$$Cl_{i} = W_{i} [Cl]_{i} \qquad \dots \dots (2)$$

Equation 2 can be rewritten thus:

$$Cl_{t} - Cl_{e} = (W_{t} - W_{e}) [Cl]_{i} \qquad \dots \dots \dots (3)$$

Addition of equations 1 and 3 gives:

$$Cl_{t} = W_{e} [Cl]_{e} + (W_{t} - W_{e}) [Cl]_{i} \qquad \dots \dots (4)$$

Solving this equation for W_{ρ} gives:

$$W_{e} = \frac{Cl_{t} - W_{t} [Cl]_{i}}{[Cl]_{e} - [Cl]_{i}} \qquad \dots \dots (5)$$

Where,

W_t, W_e, W_i = total, extracellular and intracellular biopsy-specimen water contents. Cl_t, Cl_e, Cl_i = total, extracellular and intracellular

biopsy-specimen chloride contents.

Equation 5 is used to calculate the extracellular water of the biopsy-specimen and all the variables in the equation can be directly measured, except the intracellular chloride concentration which is calculated as above.

CALCULATION OF THE INTRACELLULAR ELECTROLYTES

Knowing the extracellular water content, and the extracellular electrolyte concentrations, the amount of the total biopsy-specimen sodium and potassium contents which is extracellular can be easily calculated. The remainder divided by the intracellular water content gives the intracellular sodium and potassium concentrations.

The extracellular electrolyte concentrations are taken to be the same as the serum-electrolyte values, without applying correction factors for the Donnan equilibrium or the solids content of the serum, since these factors are very small and produce only a negligible effect (in the case of sodium and potassium they cancel each other).

TERMINOLOGY AND REFERENCE BASE

The amount of water and electrolytes in the biopsy-specimens

are multiplied by the appropriate factor to express the results as ml. or meq. per Kg. dry weight of muscle tissue. The dry weight of the muscle was taken as the reference base, as this remains relatively constant throughout changes in water and electrolyte contents of the muscle, and is therefore most suitable for comparison of different samples. In a large number of biopsy-specimens, the mean fat content was only 3% and individual variation around this mean was very small. The estimation of fat in the specimens also introduces a further manipulation and therefore a further source of error into the analysis. For these reasons the fat content of the samples has not been measured, and therefore the reference base dry weight includes a small amount of fat (see Discussion).

The intracellular electrolytes are expressed as meq. per litre intracellular water.

DISCUSSION - ADVANTAGES AND POSSIBLE DISADVANTAGES OF THE METHOD

The main advantage of this method is its ease of application. Skeletal muscle biopsy-specimens may be taken quickly and almost painlessly after very little practice. The analysis of the samples is technically easy, and only requires apparatus readily available in most hospital biochemical laboratories; it is therefore inexpensive. The results are obtained quickly (16 - 20 hours at present), considerably faster than even the most sophisticated isotope-dilution techniques.

Only endogenous substances are measured by muscle biopsy. This therefore excludes the doubts present with isotope-dilution techniques as to equilibration of the tracer or penetration into compartments not under study. Also, more accurate information can be obtained by muscle biopsy in acute clinical states; no time is required for equilibration of tracer substances, time during which the pattern of the imbalance may be quickly changing.

It is possible using this method to estimate the intracellular water and electrolyte content of the muscle cells, the largest component of the lean body mass. This is especially of interest in the study of the physiopathology of a disease process. Calculated "intracellular" electrolyte concentrations can be obtained using isotope-dilution methods, but the meaning of such figures is difficult to interpret.

The technique of analysis of the biopsy-specimens and the calculation of the results differs in some respects from other studies; these changes have been made so that the method is as simple as possible. Firstly it has been shown that the technique of handling the specimen avoids significant evaporative water loss. It is not necessary therefore to take serial weighings of the

biopsy-specimen, as had been previously advocated⁶, ⁷. Other workers have shown this also, using different techniques⁸, ⁹. Secondly, the fat content of the samples has not been estimated, as fat appears to constitute only a small and relatively constant fraction of the solid content of the biopsy-specimens. Flear, et. al.¹⁰ claim to have found up to 21% fat content in muscle samples, but this seems excessively high and is probably due to significant visible fat contamination of the specimen, or to loss of non-fat tissue during the fat extraction.

The main objection against biopsy-specimen analysis of water and electrolytes is whether the results obtained are an accurate reflection of the total body water and electrolytes. Welt, et. al.¹¹ believe that as muscle tissue represents the largest single tissue mass in the body, its changes are highly significant as a reflection of changes in total body composition. Good correlations have been shown between the results of muscle biopsy analysis and those of isotope-dilution studies^{12, 13}. Wherever possible in this study the changes found by muscle biopsy have been checked by metabolic balance studies, and agreement has been good (see details with specific cases in later chapters). It seems likely therefore that the changes from normal found by muscle biopsy-specimen analysis do reflect changes taking place in the total body constituents.

The inherent difficulty of all methods of studying body

water and electrolytes is to find an accurate method of measuring the extracellular water content. In this method the endogenous chloride content of the biopsy-specimen is used as the indicator substance. Numerous workers used the total chloride content of the tissue to estimate the extracellular water, without making allowance for any intracellular chloride (see Chapter 1 for references). However, muscle cells do contain some chloride^{14, 15}, and it is also believed that the intracellular content varies in pathological conditions^{3, 15, 16}. The total chloride content would therefore not be an accurate indicator of the extracellular space under all conditions.

Conway³ and Hodgkin and Horowicz⁴, in a wide variety of experimental conditions, showed that the chloride content of muscle tissue was passively distributed between the cells and the extracellular water, according to the cell membrane potential. This finding has been used in this study to calculate the intracellular fraction of the total chloride content in the light of the extracellular chloride concentration. This contributes a worthwhile increase in the accuracy of the estimation of the extracellular water content, both in health and disease.

However, this difference in the method has in itself posed a further possible inaccuracy, as the calculation of the extracellular water will be accurate only if it can be assumed

TABLE 1

EFFECT OF MEMBRANE POTENTIAL ON

INTRACELLULAR CHLORIDE CONCENTRATION

MEMBRANE POTENTIAL (mV)	CALCULATED INTRACELLULAR CHLORIDE (meq. per 1.)	EXTRACELLULAR WATER (ml. per Kg. dry wt.)	DIFFERENCE (%)
-7 5	6.0	753	-5.9
- 85	4.2	800	-
- 95	2.9	831	+3•7

Calculated for extracellular chloride concentration of 100 meq. per 1; total biopsy-specimen chloride content 90 meq. per Kg. dry wt; total water content 3200 ml. per Kg. dry wt.

that the membrane potential does not vary by more than ± 10 mV from the assumed value of -85 mV; Table I shows that changes of membrane potential of this magnitude introduce only a small error to the calculations. In a letter published after the initial account of this method¹⁷, Flear, et. al.¹⁸ contended that membrane potential measurements from individual muscle fibres in normal subjects may vary by as much as 34 - 48 mV, and rightly pointed out that the variations of this magnitude would introduce serious error to the calculation of the intracellular chloride concentrations. However, there are two important objections to this statement. Firstly, there is bound to be variation around the mean in electrophysiological measurements; obviously a muscle biopsy will sample a large number of individual fibres with variable membrane potentials and therefore different intracellular electrolyte concentrations. The important finding will be the mean membrane potential of the fibres and the mean intracellular electrolyte Secondly, the results quoted by Flear, et. al. concentrations. come from papers by Johns¹⁹ and Creutzfeldt, et. al.²⁰, who measured the membrane potential of human muscle cells in vivo, and both authors stress the difficulties and limitations of this method. The assumed membrane potential used in this study was taken from the work of Elmqvist, et. al.^{5, 21} who produced an elegant and completely non-traumatised preparation of human intercostal muscle

which they were able to perfuse with oxygenated physiological solution during recording. The 95% confidence limits of their results are only 8.8 mV on either side of the mean. Johns¹⁹ in fact believes that the low membrane potentials recorded from one of his subjects were almost certainly due to muscle damage; the mean value for his other subjects is 86 \pm 6 mV (\pm one S.D.). Therefore the use of this membrane potential in the study of normal subjects would appear to be justified.

The cell membrane potentials may however be outwith the range of ⁺ 10 mV in abnormal cases. The only published reports on membrane potential measurements in man are in neurological disorders. Creutzfeldt, et. al.²⁰ found membrane depolarisation in a patient with episodic adynamia, but neither they nor Shy, et. al.²² found significant change from normal in familial periodic paralysis, even during paralytic attacks. The membrane potential is normal in myasthenia gravis⁵. On the basis of in vivo electrophysiological measurements, it is unlikely that changes in membrane potential of more than 10 mV from normal will be found in fluid and electrolyte imbalance in clinical practice. For instance, it is well known that depolarisation of cardiac muscle cells by more than 10 mV renders them inexcitable^{23, 24}, a situation incompatible with life in vivo! Prasad²⁵ found that the membrane potential of human atrial muscle cells bathed in potassium-free

solution was only hyperpolarised by 8 mV on average. Cardiac and skeletal muscle cells have very similar membrane potential values and respond similarly to changes in their external environment. Rector, et. al.²⁶ produced gross potassium deficiency states in rats, and found hyperpolarisation of skeletal muscle cell membrane by an average of 8 mV. Although results such as these should be applied in the in vivo situation in man with caution, they tend to enhance the indirect evidence available in some metabolic disorders, that the cell membrane and cell function are remarkably Particular examples of such evidence will be given later normal. in the appropriate chapters of this thesis. Until an experimentally sound method to measure membrane potential in vivo is developed, it is necessary to use whatever evidence is available, and at present there is little to suggest that gross changes in membrane potential are likely in most fluid and electrolyte disorders.

SUMMARY

The technique by which muscle biopsy-specimens were obtained in this study has been described, and the methods of analysis are discussed. The method differs in several respects from previous work, in an attempt to simplify analysis.

The corrected chloride content of the biopsy-specimens is used as an indicator of the extracellular water. The

intracellular electrolytes can then be calculated.

The dry weight of the muscle is used as the reference base as this is least likely to alter in pathological conditions. The fat content of the specimens is a small and relatively constant fraction of the dry weight, and has therefore not been measured.

The advantages and possible disadvantages of this method are discussed. The available evidence suggests that it is a satisfactory method, and that the water and electrolyte contents of the biopsy-specimens reflect the water and electrolyte contents of the body.

REFERENCES

- 1. RAMSAY, J.A., BROWN, R.H.J., CROGHAN, P.C. (1955) Electrometric titration of chloride in small volumes. J. exp. Biol., 32, 822-829.
- COTLOVE, E., TRANTHAM, H.V., BOWMAN, R.L. (1958) An instrument and method for automatic, rapid, accurate and sensitive titration of chloride in biologic samples. J. Lab. Clin. Med., <u>51</u>, 461-468.
- CONWAY, E.J. (1957) Nature and significance of concentration relations of potassium and sodium ions in skeletal muscle. Physiol. Rev., <u>37</u>, 84-132.
- 4. HODGKIN, A.L., HOROWICZ, P. (1960) Potassium contractures in single muscle fibres. <u>J. Physiol., Lond.</u>, <u>153</u>, 386-403.
- 5. ELMQVIST, D., HOFMANN, W.W., KUGELBERG, J., QUASTEL, D.M.J. (1964) An electrophysiological investigation of neuromuscular transmission in myasthesia gravis. J. Physiol., Lond., 174, 417-434.
- 6. LITCHFIELD, J.A., GADDIE, R. (1958) The measurement of the phase distribution of water and electrolytes in skeletal muscle by the analysis of small samples. <u>Clin. Sci.</u>, <u>17</u>, 483-497.
- 7. BERGSTRÖM, J. (1962) Muscle electrolytes in man. Scand. J. clin. Lab. Invest., 14, suppl. 68.
- 8. FLEAR, C.T.G., FLORENCE, I., WILLIAMS, J.A. (1968) Water, sodium, potassium and chloride content of skeletal muscle in fit and ill subjects. <u>J. clin. Path.</u>, <u>21</u>, 555-563.
- 9. DAS, J.B., ERAKLIS, A.J. (1969) Water and electrolyte content of skeletal muscle in congenital heart disease. J. thorac. cardiovasc. Surg., <u>57</u>, 819-823.
- FLEAR, C.T.G., PICKERING, J., MCNEILL, I.F. (1969)
 Observations on water and electrolyte changes in skeletal muscle during major surgery. J. Surg. Res., 2, 369-382.

- 11. WELT, L.G., HOLLANDER, W., BLYTHE, W.B. (1960) The consequences of potassium depletion. J. Chron. Dis., 11, 213-254.
- 12. MULDOWNEY, F.P., WILLIAMS, R.T. (1963) Clinical disturbances in serum sodium and potassium in relation to alteration in total exchangeable sodium, exchangeable potassium and total body water. <u>Am. J. Med.</u>, <u>35</u>, 768-780.
- 13. NICHOLS, B.L., ALLEYNE, G.A.O., BARNES, D.J., HAZLEWOOD, C.F. (1969) Relationship between muscle potassium and total body potassium in infants with malnutrition. <u>J. Pediat.</u>, <u>74</u>, 49-57.
- 14. YANNET, H., DARROW, D.C. (1940) Effect of depletion of extracellular electrolytes on the composition of skeletal muscle, liver and cardiac muscle. <u>J. biol. Chem.</u>, <u>134</u>, 721-730.
- 15. MANERY, J.F. (1954) Water and electrolyte metabolism. <u>Physiol. Rev.</u>, <u>34</u>, 334-417.
- 16. FLEAR, C.T.G., CRAMPTON, R.F. (1960) Evidence for the entry of chloride into cells in congestive cardiac failure. <u>Clin. Sci., 19</u>, 495-509.
- 17. GRAHAM, J.A., LAMB, J.F., LINTON, A.L. (1967) Measurement of body water and intracellular electrolytes by means of muscle biopsy. <u>Lancet</u>, <u>ii</u>, 1172-1176.
- 18. FLEAR, C.T.G., FLORENCE, I., WILLIAMS, J.A. (1968) Water and electrolytes in muscle. Lancet, <u>i</u>, 45-46.
- 19. JOHNS, R.J. (1958) Micro-electrode studies of muscle membrane potentials in man. <u>Res. Publ. Ass. nerv. ment.</u> <u>Dis., 38</u>, 704-713.
- 20. CREUTZFELDT, O.D., ABBOT, B.C., FOWLER, W.M., PEARSON, C.M. (1963) Muscle membrane potentials in episodic adynamia. <u>Electroenceph. clin. Neurophysiol., 15</u>, 508-519.
- 21. ELMQVIST, D., JOHNS, T.R., THESLEFF, S. (1960) A study of some electrophysiological properties of human intercostal muscle. <u>J. Physiol., Lond.</u>, <u>154</u>, 602-607.

- 22. SHY, G.M., WANKO, T., ROWLEY, P.T., ENGEL, A.G. (1961) Studies in familial periodic paralysis. <u>Expl. Neurol</u>., <u>3</u>, 53-121.
- 23. ANTONI, H., ENGSTFELD, G. (1961) Restitutive Wirkungen der sympathischen Übertragerstoffe auf die elektrische und mechanische Aktivitätdes Kaliumgelähmten Myokards. Verh. Deutch. Ges. Kreislaufforsch., 27, 232-237.
- 24. GRAHAM, J.A. (1966) The effect of adrenaline on mechanical activity and electrical events in frog ventricular muscle. M.Sc. Thesis. University of Glasgow.
- PRASAD, K. (1969) Transmembrane potential and force of contraction of the normal and potassium-deficient human atrial tissue in vitro. <u>Can J. Physiol. Pharmacol.</u>, <u>47</u>, 1015-1024.
- 26. RECTOR, F.C., BLOOMER, H.A.Jr., SELDIN, D.W. (1964) Effect of potassium deficiency on the reabsorption of bicarbonate in the proximal tubule of the rat kidney. <u>J. clin. Invest.</u>, <u>43</u>, 1976-1982.

NOTES ON STATISTICAL ANALYSES AND TERMINOLOGY

The statistical methods used in this thesis were all taken from Industrial Experimentation, H.M.S.O., London, 1957.

Student's t test was used to calculate the significance of differences between the means of groups of ill patients and the normal mean values. The value of t in each case includes the correction factor $\sqrt{n_1 \times n_2 \div n_1 + n_2}$ (where n_1 , n_2 are the number of samples) to take allowance of differences in the number of samples studied.

The significance, P, of the values of t and of the correlation coefficients, r, were taken from the appropriate tables of Documenta Geigy Scientific Tables, 1962.

The 95% confidence limits of the biopsy-specimen normal mean values are taken to be the normal ranges of these values $(\stackrel{+}{2}$ standard deviations on either side of the mean). Individual biopsy-specimen results in ill patients are therefore said to be significantly different from normal, or to lie outwith the normal range, when a particular value lies outside the 95% confidence limits of the normal mean value.

On the other hand, if the mean biopsy-specimen value of a group of ill patients is said to be significantly different from normal, this statement is made on the basis of a Student's t test

•

•
CHAPTER III

.

MUSCLE WATER AND ELECTROLYTES IN NORMAL ADULT SUBJECTS

.

INTRODUCTION

Graham, et. al.¹ were first to publish the results of muscle biopsy-specimens from normal subjects using the method described in the previous chapter. Biopsy-specimens were taken from vastus lateralis muscle under local anaesthesia, and from rectus abdominis under general anaesthesia; the total potassium content and the intracellular potassium concentration were significantly higher in the vastus lateralis group.

The possible reasons for this finding were firstly that other muscle groups in the body have been shown to have slightly different water and electrolyte contents², and secondly that the ionic composition of the muscle had been altered by general anaesthesia, as previously reported³, 4.

In addition to the main purpose of formulating normal standards for the study of muscle water and electrolytes in disease, this study has also been carried out to decide which of these alternatives was the explanation of the previous finding.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Muscle biopsy-specimens were taken, analysed and partitioned as described in Chapter II.

The subjects had all been admitted to hospital for minor

TABLE II

MEAN SERUM-ELECTROLYTE VALUES FOR

THREE GROUPS OF NORMAL SUBJECTS

	SERUM E	LECTROLYTES	(meq. per]	L. or mg. per 1	LOO ml.)
GROUP	SODIUM	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE	BICARBONATE	UREA
VASTUS L.A. MEAN (n=24) S.D. VASTUS G.A. MEAN (n=18) S.D. RECTUS G.A. MEAN (n=18) S.D.	142 5 141 4 140 4	4.7 0.4 4.6 0.3 4.5 0.4	102 4 102 4 102 4	26 2 26 2 27 27 2	34 4 34 8 32 5

- S.D. = standard deviation
- L.A. = local anaesthesia
- G.A. = general anaesthesia

, inizi

「「「「「「「「「」」」」」

elective surgical procedures. All had normal serum-electrolyte values and patients with any disorder likely to cause electrolyte imbalance were excluded. Some of the subjects, previously reported as normal¹ have been excluded from this study, as they had conditions now known to have a possible effect on fluid and electrolyte balance.

The biopsy-specimen results have been divided into three main groups:-

- (1) 24 specimens taken from the vastus lateralis under local anaesthesia (vastus L.A. group).
- (2) 18 specimens taken from the vastus lateralis under general anaesthesia (vastus G.A. group).
- (3) 18 specimens taken from the rectus abdominis under general anaesthesia (rectus G.A. group).

RESULTS

Individual serum-electrolyte concentrations were all within the normal range, taken as:- sodium, 137 - 148 meq. per l; potassium, 4.1 - 5.5 meq. per l; chloride, 96 - 106 meq. per l; bicarbonate, 24 - 31 meq. per l. Table II shows the mean serum-electrolyte values for the three groups; none of the differences were statistically significant.

The mean age and range of the subjects in these groups

TABLE III

MEAN BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS FOR VASTUS L.A. AND VASTUS G.A. GROUPS,

AND THE STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF THE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GROUPS

-									
		BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	N WATER Ey wt.)	TOTAL BIOP (meq	SY-SPECIMEN • per Kg. d	ELECTROLYTES Ey wt.)	INTRACI (I	HIJULAR ELE neq. per li	CTROLYTE tre)
GROUP	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULCOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE	MULTOS	POTASS IUM	CHLORID
VASTUS L.A. Mean (n=24) S.D.	3169 150	733 125	2436 170	143 28	420 31	86 14		171 8	4. • •
VASTUS G.A. Mean (n=18) S.D.	3210 192	644 140	2546 178	127 24	440 31	78 13	13 8	172 7	4•3 0•1
DIFFERENCE t VALUE P VALUE	0.777 N.S.	1.678 N.S.	2.037 < 0.05	1.938 N.S.	2.055 < 0.05	1.932 N.S.	1.643 N.S.	0.405 N.S.	0.000 N.S.

N.S. = not significant

were:- vastus L.A. group, 51 (22 - 86) years; vastus G.A. group, 44 (18 - 60) years; rectus G.A. group, 43 (24 - 69) years. There were 8 females in the first group, 6 in the second and 4 in the third.

Table III shows the mean values for muscle water and electrolytes in the two vastus groups of subjects. The results for each individual subject are the average of triplicate estimations on one biopsy-specimen; so the total variability of the average values shown in Table III is composed of the difference between subjects, and the difference between the triplicate estimations from each subject. Analysis of variation reveals however, that the variability shown as the standard deviation in the Table is largely due to a real difference between individual subjects, and only slightly to variation between the biopsy-specimen estimations in each individual subject.

Table III also gives the statistical significance of the differences between the two vastus lateralis groups; the intracellular water and potassium contents are higher in the vastus G.A. group and just reach statistical significance at the 5% level. This difference would not be expected as a result of anaesthesia, and is almost certainly due to the lower mean age of the vastus G.A. group. Moore, et. al.⁵ showed changes in body water and electrolyte contents when their normal subjects were divided into

31.

TABLE IV

BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS FROM VASTUS LATERALIS DIVIDED INTO AGE-GROUPS

ELECTROLYTES r litre)	TUM CHLORIDE	4•5 4•5	4•3 •4	40 •40	
ACELLULAR (meq. pe	I POTASS	174		173	
TUTR	SODIU	16 18	14 7	18 9	
N ELECTROLYTES lry wt.)	CHLORIDE	78 7	83 15	8 3 13	
SY-SPECIMEN • per Kg• d	POTASS IUM	430 34	431 31	416 38	
TOTAL BIOP (meq	MULICOS	131 31	135 27	145 30	
N WATER Lry wt.)	INTRACELLULAR	2457 125	2512 186	2388 177	
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	EXTRACELLULAR	19 670	709 152	709 109	
	TOTAL	3126 313	3221 175	3097 144	
	AGE-GROUP	16 - 30 YEARS (n=6) MEAN S.D.	31 - 60 YEARS (n=29) MEAN S•D.	61 - 90 YEARS (n=7) MEAN S.D.	

None of the differences are statistically significant.

TABLE V

AVERAGE VALUES FOR ALL VASTUS LATERALIS BIOPSY-SPECIMENS

		BIOPSY-SPECIMEN	V WATER	TOTAL BIOP	SY-SPECIMEN	ELECTROLYTES	INTRAC	ELLULAR ELE	CTROLITIES
		(ml. per Kg. di	ry wt.)	bea)	• per Kg. d	ry vt.)		meq. per li	tre)
	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULICOS	MUI SSATOY	CHLORIDE	SODIUM	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE
							- 		
	3187	703	2483	136	429	82	15	172	4•3
	168	135	180	27	32	ž	2	æ	0•2
58	51-3523	433-973	2123-2843	82-190	365-493	54-110	1-29	156-188	3.9-4.7

•

TABLE VI

MEAN BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS FOR THE VASTUS LATERALIS

GROUPS COMPARED TO THE RECTUS G.A. GROUP

			BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	IN WATER Lry wt.)	TOTAL BIOF (meq	SY-SPECIME	EN ELECTROLYTES dry wt.)	INTRACE (m	LLULAR ELF	CTROLYTE tre)
GROUP		TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULCOS	POTASS IUM	CHLORIDE	NULOOS	POTASS IUM	CHLOR IDE
VASTUS TOTAL	MEAN	3187	703	2483	136	429	82	15	172	4 •9
(n=42)	S.D.	168	135	180	27	32	14	7	8	•2
VASTUS L.A.	MEAN	3169	733	2436	143	420	86	17	171	4•
(n=24)	S.D.	150	125	170	28	31	14	7	8	•0
VASTUS G.A.	MEAN	3210	644	2546	127	440	73	13	172	4•3
(n=18)	S.D.	192	140	178	24	31	13	8	7	0•1
RECTUS G.A.	MEAN	3119	639	2484	137	408	75	19	164	4•3
(n=18)	S.D.	143	142	160	20	23	14	6	11	0•2

TABLE VII

STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN VASTUS LATERALIS

AND RECTUS ARDOMINIS BIOPSY-SPECIMENS, CALCULATED BY STUDENT'S T TEST

		BIOPSY-SPECIME	N WATER	TOTAL BIOP.	SY-SPECIMEN	ELECTROLITES	INTRACE.	LIULAR ELEC	ROLYTES
GROUP	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MILITOS	POTASSIUM	CHLOR IDE	MULICOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE
RECTUS V. VASTUS TOTAL	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	P<0.02	N.S.	N.S.	P<0.005	N.S.
RECTUS V. VASTUS L.A.	N.S.	P<0.05	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	P<0.02	N.S.	₽<0. 05	N.S.
RECTUS V. VASTUS G.A.	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	.	P<0.005	N.S.	₽ <0.05	₽<0. 02	N.S.

N.S. - not significant

í

into three age groups, 16 - 30 years, 31 - 60 years and 61 - 90 years. Table IV shows the average values for water and electrolyte contents for the subjects of the vastus L.A. and vastus G.A. groups combined, when divided into age groups as above. The total water, intracellular water and total potassium content all tend to be lower in the oldest age group, although no differences are statistically significant. The differences between the vastus groups are not therefore likely to be due to an effect of general anaesthesia but to an age difference (when subjects aged over 60 are excluded the mean results are very similar), and the results of the vastus L.A. group and the vastus G.A. group have been combined, and the average values will be used as the normal standards in this study (Table V).

Table VI shows the mean results of the vastus lateralis groups of biopsy-specimens compared to those of the rectus G.A. group, and Table VII shows the statistical significance of the differences found. The potassium content and intracellular potassium concentrations are higher in all the vastus groups (note especially between vastus G.A. and rectus G.A., where the anaesthetic used and the mean age of the groups were similar). The extracellular water and chloride contents are higher in the vastus L.A. group, and the intracellular sodium concentration is lower in the vastus G.A. group. There would appear therefore to be consistent differences between the muscle water and electrolyte content of vastus lateralis and rectus abdominis, and these differences are not due to the type of anaesthetic used or to the age of the subjects.

There are not enough females in the groups to permit analysis of any possible sex differences in water and electrolyte contents.

The results so far may be summarised thus:

(1) The potassium content and intracellular potassium concentration is significantly lower in rectus abdominis compared to vastus lateralis. As all the biopsy-specimens in abnormal cases were taken from vastus lateralis, the findings in rectus abdominis will not be discussed further, except in relation to the findings in normal infants and children (See Chapter IV).

(2) The differences between the vastus L.A. and vastus G.A. groups are almost certainly due to the lower mean age of the vastus G.A. group. However, as the age differences found are not statistically significant, the total material of the two groups can be combined, and the mean values obtained taken as the normal reference standards. The correlations given below refer only to the results from this combined group of 42 subjects.

Correlations

No correlations were found between any serum-electrolyte concentration and the corresponding biopsy-specimen content or



Figure 1: Correlation between biopsy-specimen total water and the sum of the total sodium and potassium contents in 42 normal subjects.



Figure 2: Correlation between biopsy-specimen extracellular water and total sodium content in 42 normal subjects.



Figure 3: Correlation between biopsy-specimen intracellular water and total potassium content in 42 normal subjects.



TOTAL SODIUM + POTASSIUM \div TOTAL WATER (meq/L)

Figure 4: Correlation between total cation concentration and serum sodium concentration in 42 normal subjects.



Figure 5: Correlation between total cation concentration and intracellular potassium concentration in 42 normal subjects.

intracellular concentration.

There was a strong correlation between biopsy-specimen total water content and the sum of the sodium plus potassium contents (Figure 1). There were better correlations between extracellular water and sodium content (Figure 2) and between intracellular water and potassium content (Figure 3).

There was a poor, but statistically significant correlation between the serum sodium concentration and the total cation concentration of the biopsy-specimens (i.e. sodium plus potassium contents divided by total water), shown in Figure 4. There was a good correlation between the intracellular potassium concentration and the total cation concentration (Figure 5). These correlations are an indication of the osmotic homogeneity of the body (see discussion).

DISCUSSION

The results of the original groups of biopsy-specimens presented here confirm the findings of Flear, et. al.² that different muscle groups have slightly different water and electrolyte contents. The lower potassium content and intracellular potassium concentration found in rectus abdominis compared to vastus lateralis are real differences and are not due to the effects of anaesthesia or the age of the subjects. TABLE VIII

.

COMPARISON OF BLOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF PRESENT SERIES WITH PREVIOUS REPORTS

.

	NO. OF			BIOPSY-SPECIM (ml. per Kg. d	EN WATER Ley vt.)	TOTAL BIOPS	Y-SPECIMEN per Kg. d	ELECTROLYTES	INTRACE (=	LLULAR ELE 19. per 11	CTROLYTES tre)
	PATIENTS	VALUE	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULICOS	POTASS IUM	CHLORIDE	MULICOS	POTASSIUM	CHLOR IDE
MOKOTOFF, et. al. ⁹	4	MEAN	3557	570	2987	116	466	70	12	157	1
		S.D.	1	1	I	1	1	•	•	1	1
TALSO, et. al. ¹⁰	16	MEAN	1	1	I	1	•	۱	17	153	ı
;		S.D.	•	•	ı	•	ı	1	80	80	ı
CORT & MATTHEWS ¹¹	ŝ	MEAN	3500	1	,	132	455	85	5	169	1
		S.D.	1	8	•	1	1	8	ı	1	1
WILSON ¹²	8	MEAN	3449	I	I	181	408	115	13	166	ı
1		S.D.	132	ı	1	26	22	23	6	8	1
BARNES, et. al. 13	9	MEAN	3140	1	1	61	469	ı	26	150	ſ
		s.D.	I	ß	ı	•	1	1	2	4	,
NICHOLS ¹⁴	9	MEAN	1	ſ	I	185	421	211	13	156	ſ
		S.D.	1	1	1	4	20	32	4	5	ı
LITCHFIELD & CADDIE ¹⁵	23	MEAN	3390	690	2700	139	447	81	З,	16	ſ
		S.D.		211	146	61	25	7	و	21	1
BERGSTROM ²¹	46	MEAN	3340	730	2730	116	447	87	5	167	1
		s.D.	198	203	210	27	50	24	m	12	1
PRESENT SERIES	42	MEAN	3187	703	2483	136	429	82	ង	172	₩. ₩.
		°. P.	168	135	180	27	32	1 4		no No	2°0
										-	

Other authors have related their findings to the wet weight of muscle tissue and have therefore not been included. The reference numbers are taken from the bibliography at the end of Chapter I. ŗ

「「「「「「「」」」」

Muscle tissue is known to gain water, sodium and chloride and to lose potassium after lengthy surgical procedures under general anaesthesia^{3, 4}. The vastus G.A. group had lower sodium and chloride, and higher potassium contents than the vastus L.A. group; these changes are unlikely therefore to be due to an effect of general anaesthesia.

It has been shown both in animals^{5, 6} and humans^{7, 8} that intracellular water and potassium fall with increasing age. The results of this study tend to confirm these findings, although no statistically significant change could be shown. However, the differences between the two vastus groups seem almost certain to be due to the greater mean age of the subjects in the vastus L.A. group, and the total material of the two groups has been combined. The normal values for biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes so obtained, and the variability, are similar to the results of other workers, (Table VIII).

Edelman, et. al.⁹ first reported the correlation between total body water and the sum of the exchangeable sodium and potassium contents of the body. This was to be expected as the sum of the sodium and potassium contents represents about 95% of the osmotically active cation of the body, the principal determinant of the "water holding property of the body"⁸. As sodium is mainly extracellular, and potassium intracellular, it should also be expected that

36.

correlation will be present between extracellular water and sodium content, and intracellular water and potassium content. All these correlations have been shown to hold good for skeletal muscle in this study.

It has also been shown that the serum sodium concentration (the principal extracellular cation) and the intracellular potassium concentration (the principal intracellular cation) both relate to the total cation concentration of the biopsy-specimens. This gives good evidence for an osmotic balance being maintained between extracellular and intracellular phases of the tissue. The correlation of serum sodium to total cation concentrations is not strong, but Edelman, et. al.⁹ showed that it was necessary to include material from cases with abnormal serum sodium concentrations, in order to 'stretch' the range and produce a good correlation. This relationship will therefore be studied later, with the inclusion of the results from abnormal cases. The correlation of intracellular potassium to total cation concentration is much stronger, but will likewise be examined under abnormal conditions in a later chapter of this thesis.

All these correlations suggest that, at least under normal conditions, any change in intracellular potassium content is balanced osmotically by movement of water in or out of the cell, rather than by movement of sodium to keep the cell cation content normal, as had been previously described^{10, 11}. Movement of water, rather than replacement with sodium, has the effect of keeping the concentration of potassium in the cell within relatively narrow limits. As the normal membrane potential of the cell depends on the ratio between the concentrations of internal and external potassium, this would appear to be a more suitable homeostatic mechanism than replacing potassium with sodium, which will cause a reduction of the cell membrane potential, and therefore a drop in efficiency of the cell function.

SUMMARY

Muscle water and electrolyte contents have been analysed in 60 normal subjects.

The mean biopsy-specimen potassium content and intracellular potassium concentration are lower in rectus abdominis compared to vastus lateralis.

There is no effect of general anaesthesia on muscle water and electrolytes if biopsy-specimens are taken soon after induction of anaesthesia.

There may be a slight reduction in intracellular water and potassium content with increasing age, but the differences are not statistically significant. Serum-electrolyte values do not correlate with the appropriate biopsy-specimen content or intracellular concentration.

Strong correlations are found between the total water and the sum of the sodium and potassium contents; between extracellular water and sodium contents; intracellular water and potassium contents; and the intracellular potassium concentration and the total cation concentration. There is a poor correlation between serum sodium concentration and the total cation concentration. These correlations reveal the osmotic homogeneity of the body, and suggest that changes in cell potassium content are balanced by changes in intracellular water content and not by reciprocal changes in intracellular sodium content.

39•

REFERENCES

- GRAHAM, J.A., LAMB, J.F., LINTON, A.L. (1967) Measurement of body water and intracellular electrolytes by means of muscle biopsy. <u>Lancet</u>, <u>ii</u>, 1172-1176.
- 2. FLEAR, C.T.G., CARPENTER, R.G., FLORENCE, I. (1965) Variability in the water, sodium, potassium and chloride content of human skeletal muscle. <u>J. clin. Path.</u>, <u>18</u>, 74-81.
- 3. WINFIELD, J.M., FOX, C.L., Jr., MERSHEIMER, W.L. (1951) Etiologic factors in post-operative salt retention and its prevention. <u>Ann. Surg.</u>, <u>134</u>, 626-634.
- 4. FLEAR, C.T.G., PICKERING, J., MCNEILL, I.F. (1969) Observations on water and electrolyte changes in skeletal muscle during major surgery. J. Surg. Res., 9, 369-382.
- 5. WELT, L.G., HOLLANDER, W., BLYTHE, W.B. (1960) The consequence of potassium depletion. J. Chron Dis, 11, 213-254.
- 6. HOLLIDAY, M.A., SEGAR, W.E., LUKENBILL, U.A., VALENCIA, R.M., DURELL, A.M. (1957) Variations in muscle electrolyte composition due to sampling and to ageing. <u>Proc. Soc. exp.</u> <u>Biol. (N.Y.)</u>, <u>95</u>, 786-788.
- 7. SAGILD, U. (1956) Total exchangeable potassium in normal subjects with special reference to changes with age. <u>Scand. J. clin. Lab. Invest.</u>, 8, 44-50.
- MOORE, F.D., OLESEN, K.H., McMURREY, J.D., PARKER, V.H., BALL, M.R., BOYDEN, C.M. (1963) The body cell mass and its supporting environment. W.B. Saunders & Co. Philadelphia and London.
- 9. EDELMAN, I.S., LEIBMAN, J., O'MEARA, M.P., BIRKENFIELD, L.W. (1958) Inter-relations between serum sodium concentration, serum osmolarity and total exchangeable sodium, total exchangeable potassium and total body water. J. clin. Invest., 37, 1236-1256.
- WHITTAM, R. (1964) Transport and diffusion in red blood cells. Monographs of the Physiological Society, no. 13. London.

11. CONWAY, E.J. (1957) Nature and significance of concentration relations of potassium and sodium ions in skeletal muscle. <u>Physiol. Rev.</u>, <u>37</u>, 84-132. CHAPTER IV

. •

•

MUSCLE WATER AND ELECTROLYTES IN NORMAL INFANTS AND CHILDREN

.

.

INTRODUCTION

Body water contents of infants and young children have been measured using indicator dilution techniques¹⁻⁶. Exchangeable electrolyte contents have also been measured using these techniques⁷⁻⁹. However, as already stated, indicator-dilution studies have limitations, and there may be a possible radiation hazard in the administration of radio-isotopes to children.

Body water and electrolytes have also been measured by muscle biopsy analysis, but early results¹⁰⁻¹⁵ tended to ignore the variation in water and electrolytes with age, as shown by Metkoff, et. al.¹⁶, Dickerson and Widdowson¹⁷ by post-mortem muscle analysis, and by the isotope-dilution studies mentioned above.

This chapter therefore gives the findings of muscle biopsy studies carried out on a series of normal children. The results presented have been reported by Graham and Scobie¹⁸.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Thirty-three normal children have been studied, ranging in age from 2 weeks to 9 years. They had all been admitted to hospital for elective surgical procedures and none had clinical evidence of fluid and electrolyte balance or any disease process likely to cause this. The details of the procedure were explained

TABLE IX

COMPARISON OF BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS FROM SUBJECTS MORE THAN 2 YEARS OLD,

WITH VALUES FOR NORMAL ADULTS TAKEN FROM RECTUS ABDOMLNIS

GROUP		BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d:	M WATER ry wt.)	TOTAL BIOP (meq	SY-SPECIMEN • per Kg. d	ELECTROLYTES ry wt.)	INTRACE. (m	LLULAR ELEC eq. per lit:	TROLYTES re)
	TOTAL	ECTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULICIOS	POTASS IUM	CHLOR IDE	MULGOS	MUI SSATOY	CHLOR IDE
CHILDREW AGED 2-9 TEARS (a-9) S.D. S.D.	3325 336	747 128	2579 320	51 154	424 36	88 11	20 7	165 165	4•3 0•2
ADULTS MEAN (n=18) S.D.	3119 143	639 142	2484 160	137 20	408 23	75 14	19	164	4•3 0•2

to all the parents and their consent was freely given. It was considered unethical to carry out a vastus lateralis biopsy on these children and therefore a specimen was obtained from a muscle exposed by the surgical incision (rectus abdominis or internal oblique in all cases).

The results obtained have been compared to the results of biopsy-specimens from adult patients (age 24 - 69 years) taken from rectus abdominis muscle under general anaesthesia.

Biopsy-specimens were taken, analysed and partitioned as described in Chapter II.

RESULTS

Attempts to analyse the results of the biopsy-specimens into age-groups showed that over the first two years the values are changing rapidly. From 2 years onwards, however, there appears to be very little change, and the mean values for all such subjects have an acceptable standard deviation. Table IX compares the mean results of this group with the results of the biopsy-specimens taken from the rectus abdominis of normal adults. The total water, sodium and chloride contents are significantly greater in the children at the 5% level; none of the other differences are statistically significant. INDIVIDUAL BIOPSY-SPECIMEN WATER AND ELECTROLYTES FOR SUBJECTS UP TO 2 YEARS OF AGE

TROLYTES Tre)	CHLOR IDE	44444444444444444444444444444444444444
LLULAR ELEC eq. per lit	POTASSIUM	11111111111111111111111111111111111111
INTRACE (m	WILLIOS	00170000000000000000000000000000000000
ELECTROLYTES ry wt.)	CHLORIDE	1128 1128 1128 1288 1286 1286 1286 1286
eb . Recimen	POTASS IUM	614 473 466 466 767 468 767 471 468 764 759 471 471 764 759 759 759 759 759 759 759 759 759 759
TOTAL BIOP (meq	MULCIOS	2310 2310 2310 2310 2328 2328 2328 2328 2328 2328 2328 232
N WATER ry wt.)	INTRACELLULAR	2573 2017 2017 2017 2017 2573 2992 2911 2553 2495 2495 2495 2495 2449 2553 2449 2553 2449 2553 2449 2553 2449 2553 2449 2553 2458
BIOPSY-SPECIMEN (ml. per Kg. d.	EXTRACELLULAR	1769 1040 1077 1077 1012 839 856 1185 840 881 1185 1055 1055 1004
	TOTAL	5143 5143 5143 5146 5695 5695 5732 5669 53319 5756 53319 53569 53579 53569 53579 53569 53579 53569 53579 53569 53579 53569 53579 53569 53579 53569 53579 53569 53579 53569 53579 53569 53579 53569 53579 55579 55579 55579 555
Åge	(Months)	0.00 0.01 0.07

「「「「「「「」」」」」

TABLE X



Figure 6: Biopsy-specimen total water as a function of age in 24 children under 2 years of age, compared to ± 1 S.D. normal adult mean.



Figure 7: Biopsy-specimen extracellular water as a function of age in 24 children under 2 years of age, compared to $\frac{+}{2}$ 1 S.D. normal adult mean.



Figure 8: Total biopsy-specimen sodium content as a function of age in 24 children under 2 years of age, compared to $\stackrel{+}{-}$ 1 S.D. normal adult mean.



Figure 9: Total biopsy-specimen content as a function of age in 24 children under 2 years of age, compared to \pm 1 S.D. normal adult mean.

đ



Figure 10: Biopsy-specimen intracellular water as a function of age in 24 children under 2 years of age, compared to $\stackrel{+}{-}$ 1 S.D. normal adult mean.



Figure 11: Total biopsy-specimen potassium content as a function of age in 24 children under 2 years of age, compared to $\stackrel{+}{=}$ 1 S.D. normal adult mean.
Individual biopsy-specimen results for all subjects below 2 years of age are shown in Table X. Serum-electrolyte values are not given, but were normal except for slight elevation of the urea concentration in 7 cases. There was no clinical evidence of abnormality in these subjects and they have therefore been included as normal; possible causes for this finding will be discussed later. The individual results are further analysed in Figures 6 to 11, where they are compared to the range of $\frac{+}{2}$ one S.D. of the normal adult mean for rectus abdominis.

Figures 6 and 7 show respectively the total and extracellular water content of the biopsy-specimens. There is a tendency to an increase in both compared to the adult values, being most marked in the younger subjects and less obvious as age increases.

Figures 8 and 9 show the total sodium and chloride contents, which are again initially high, but tend to fall into the adult range around 18 months to 2 years.

Figure 10 shows the biopsy-specimen intracellular water, and Figure 11 the total potassium contents. There is an increase above the adult range in both in the youngest infants, but after about 6 months both approximate closely to the normal adult range.

There is a highly significant correlation between the extracellular water and the sodium contents (Figure 12) and between the intracellular water and potassium contents (Figure 13)



Figure 12: Correl

Correlation between biopsy-specimen extracellular water and total sodium content in 33 children.



Figure 13: Correlation between biopsy-specimen intracellular water and total potassium content in 33 children.

throughout the entire age-range studied. These correlations have also been found in normal adults, and therefore appear to hold good at all ages. Because of these relationships the intracellular electrolyte concentrations lie within relatively narrow limits at all ages, and the mean values for all the subjects in this series are close to that of normal adults, being:- sodium, $20 \stackrel{+}{-} 7$ meq. per litre; potassium, $167 \stackrel{+}{-} 13$ meq. per litre; and chloride, $4.4 \stackrel{+}{-} 0.2$ meq. per litre.

DISCUSSION

In this study biopsy-specimens were only taken from children having elective surgical procedures, using muscles exposed by the surgical incision. This, however, raises some problems. It is difficult to find very young children who are having surgery and in whom it seems fairly certain that the body water and electrolytes have not been altered. Furthermore, these children may have had normal eating and drinking habits upset by admission to hospital. The high blood urea values in some of these cases were probably due to a degree of dehydration; McCance and Widdowson¹⁹ have shown that the blood urea rises quickly in slightly dehydrated normal infants. Part of the variability of the results for water and electrolyte content in this and other series^{1, 3, 20} may therefore be due to alterations in the intake of food or fluids. One other possible cause of variation in these results may be that the biopsy-specimen results were taken from two different muscles, as it has been already shown (Chapter III) that different muscle groups have slightly different water and electrolyte contents. However, it has not been possible to compare results from the two muscles individually in this series, and they have therefore been grouped together; any error introduced by this is likely to be small.

The results, expressed per unit of body weight, show a similar trend to those of previous investigators. Extracellular water, and the extracellular ions sodium and chloride, are high in the newborn then fall slowly to reach adult values around 2 years of age. It has been shown^{1, 9} that there is a further slow fall in the extracellular constituents after this age, and that adult values are not reached until adolescence. In this series, the group of children from 2 to 9 years had higher mean water and electrolyte values than the adult group, although only the differences in total water, and sodium and chloride contents are significant; this may be a reflection of a further slow decline towards adult values in these older children.

The results of this investigation suggest that intracellular water and potassium contents are high in the newborn, but fall quickly to adult values by about 6 months. Clapp, et. al.⁵ have shown a similar fall in intracellular water in their subjects; and

46.

Hazlewood, et. al.²¹ showed a fall in potassium content with age in mouse skeletal muscle. However, Friis-Hansen¹ believed that intracellular water remained relatively steady throughout growth, and Forbes⁷ and Corsa, et. al.⁹ similarly found that the potassium content remained steady with growth; and other authors believe that cell potassium content increases with age^{16, 17, 20}. Their results are all very variable, however, and they are expressed per wet weight of muscle tissue, which tends to obscure changes in electrolyte content and may explain this discrepancy.

An excellent correlation has been found between intracellular water and potassium contents in this series. This means that the intracellular potassium concentration lies within narrow limits at all the ages studied, the value being similar to that of adults. Similar findings have been reported in rats²² and humans⁹, ¹⁶, ¹⁷. Despite changes in water and electrolytes during growth, the intracellular concentrations of electrolytes remain steady; this is vital for maintenance of normal electrical activity and therefore function in the cell. This directly contradicts the findings of Nichols, et. al.²⁰ that the intracellular potassium concentration was low at birth and increased with age. No apparent reason for this discrepancy in their results can be found.

Because of the variation in water and electrolyte contents in children of the same age, it is difficult to evaluate "normality" at any age. However, muscle biopsy-specimens are easy to take and analyse, either at open operation or by percutaneous needle biopsy, and the results obtained will help to provide a more accurate picture of the fluid and electrolyte status of individual children. No results from ill children will be presented in this thesis, although data are being collected in a variety of pathological conditions at the present time.

SUMMARY

Extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents per dry weight of muscle tissue are high in infancy but fall towards adult values by 18 months to 2 years. There may be a further slow fall after this, adult values not being reached until adolescence.

Intracellular water and potassium contents are initially high, but approximate to adult values by 6 months of age.

There are good correlations between extracellular water and sodium contents, and intracellular water and potassium contents, so that intracellular electrolyte concentrations are similar for children of all ages, and are similar to adult values.

Due to variations in electrolyte content in children of the same age, it is difficult to evaluate "normality", but useful information can be obtained by this method about fluid and electrolyte balance in individual children.

48.

REFERENCES

- 1. FRIIS-HANSEN, B.J. (1957) Changes in body water compartments during growth. Acta paediat., 46, suppl. 110.
- 2. SMULL, N.W. (1958) Total body water and bromide space determinants in premature infants. <u>Am. J. Dis. Child.</u>, <u>26</u>, 494.
- 3. HANNA, F. (1960) Total body water and its distribution. <u>Am. J. Dis. Child.</u>, <u>100</u>, 723.
- 4. CHEEK, D.B. (1961) Extracellular volume; its structure and measurement and the influence of age and disease. <u>J. Pediat.</u>, <u>58</u>, 103-125.
- 5. CLAPP, W.M., BUTTERFIELD, J., O'BRIEN, D. (1962) Body water compartments in the premature infant, with special reference to the effects of the respiratory distress syndrome and of maternal diabetes and toxaemia. <u>Pediatrics</u>, 29; 883-889.
- 6. MacLAURIN, J.C. (1966) Acute glomerulonephritis; a study of certain aspects. M.D. Thesis. University of Glasgow.
- 7. FORBES, G.B. (1952) Chemical growth in man. <u>Pediatrics</u>, <u>2</u>, 58-68.
- 8. CHEEK, D.B. (1954) Observations on total body chloride in children. <u>Pediatrics</u>, <u>14</u>, 5-10.
- 9. CORSA, L., Jr., GRIBETZ, D., COOK, C.D., TALBOT, N.B. (1956) Total body exchangeable water, sodium and potassium in "hospital normal" infants and children. <u>Pediatrics</u>, <u>17</u>, 184-190.
- FOX, C.L., SLOBODY, L.B. (1951) Tissue changes in the nephrotic syndrome: demonstration of potassium depletion. <u>Pediatrics</u>, 7, 186-192.
- 11. HARRISON, H.E., FINBERG, L., FLEISHMAN, E. (1952) Disturbances of ionic equilibrium of intracellular and extracellular electrolytes in patients with tuberculous meningitis. J. clin. Invest., <u>31</u>, 300-308.

- 12. WATERLOW, J.C., MENDES, C.B. (1957) Composition of muscle in malnourished human infants. <u>Nature, London</u>, <u>180</u>, 1361-1362.
- 13. FRENK, S., METCOFF, J., GOMEZ, F., RAMOS-GALVAN, R., CRAVIOTO, J., ANTONOWICZ, I. (1957) Intracellular composition and homeostatic mechanisms in severe chronic infantile malnutrition. Pediatrics, 20, 105-120.
- METCOFF, J., FRENK, S., ANTONOWICZ, I., GORDILLO, G., LOPEZ,
 E. (1960) Relations of intracellular ions to metabolite sequences in muscle in Kwashiorkor. <u>Pediatrics</u>, <u>26</u>, 960-972.
- DUBOS, J., COLARD, J., VIS, H.L. (1966) Muscle electrolyte composition determined by neutron activation. <u>J. Nuclear</u> <u>Med.</u>, 7, 827-834.
- 16. METCOFF, J., MARTNER, J., ANTONOWICZ, I., RICHARDSON, W. (1956) The chemical anatomy of human skeletal muscle during growth. <u>Bol. Med. Hosp. Infant. Mex.</u>, <u>13</u>, 233-242.
- DICKERSON, J.W.T., WIDDOWSON, E.M. (1960) Chemical changes in skeletal muscle during development. <u>Biochem. J.</u>, <u>74</u>, 247-257.
- 18. GRAHAM, J.A., SCOBIE, W.G. (1970) Muscle biopsy measurement of body water and intracellular electrolytes in children. Arch. Dis. Child., in press.
- 19. McCANCE, R.A., WIDDOWSON, E.M. (1947) Blood-urea in the first nine days of life. Lancet, <u>i</u>, 787-788.
- 20. NICHOLS, B.L., HAZLEWOOD, C.F., BARNES, D.J. (1968) Percutaneous needle biopsy of quadriceps muscle: potassium analysis in normal children. J. Pediat., <u>72</u>, 840-852.
- 21. HAZLEWOOD, C.F., GINSKI, J.M. (1969) Skeletal muscle electrolytes as a function of age in normal and dystrophic mice of strain 121. Johns Hopkins Med. J., 124, 132-138.
- 22. VERNADAKIS, A., WOODBURY, D.M. (1964) Electrolyte and nitrogen changes in skeletal muscle of developing rats. <u>Am. J. Physiol.</u>, <u>206</u>, 1365-1368.

CHAPTER V

WATER AND ELECTROLYTE IMBALANCE IN PYLORIC STENOSIS

INTRODUCTION

The loss of gastric juice by vomiting or by accumulation in the dilated stomach in pyloric stenosis leads to a hypochloraemic alkalosis. Sodium and potassium are lost in the vomitus, and also in the urine as a result of the renal response to alkalosis.

Gamble and Ross¹ first stressed the importance of sodium loss in causing dehydration in pyloric stenosis. Kassirer and Schwartz²⁻⁴ showed that chloride replacement was necessary to correct the alkalosis in pyloric stenosis. Burnett, et. al.⁵ and Lans, et. al.⁶ showed the necessity to replace potassium loss during treatment, but measurement of the potassium deficit by metabolic balance studies revealed variable losses⁷⁻⁹.

There has been no direct measurement of the fluid and electrolyte losses in pyloric stenosis, and this chapter presents the changes found in skeletal muscle water and electrolytes before any replacement therapy. This work has been published by Graham¹⁰.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Eighteen patients with proven pyloric stenosis were divided into three groups on the basis of clinical findings and serum-electrolyte values, as follows:-

(1) Chronic Group: Regular vomiting for several months, but

TABLE XI

AGE, AETIOLOGY AND SERUM ELECTROLYTE VALUES IN THE THREE GROUPS OF PATIENTS WITH PYLORIC STENOSIS

			SERUM	ELECTROLY	TES (meq.	/1. or mg./10	00 ml.)
NO.	AGE	AETIOLOGY	SODIUM	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE	BICARBONATE	UREA
CHRONIC							
1	68	D.U.	137	4.0	96	27	32
2	64	D.U.	137	3•3	99	28	24
3	68	D.U.	140	4•9	100	29	52
4	50	CARCINOMA	138	5.0	94	29	89
5	60	D.U.	140	3•9	100	30	64
6	63	D.U.	141	4.6	98	30.5	61
SUBACUTE							
7	78	CARCINOMA	140	4•5	100	25	30
8	70	D.U.	141	5.0	98	25	40
9	74	CARCINOMA	138	3.2	75	32	84
10	44	D.U.	141	3.8	97	32.5	46
11	55	D.U.	139	3.1	89	32•5	52
12	70	D.U.	145	3.0	83	39	70
ACUTE							
13	57	D.U.	132	3.3	75	35•5	104
14	41	D.V.	130	3.6	71	35•5	61
15	71	D.U.	134	3.6	83	40	96
16	51	D.U.	130	3.1	78	42	80
17	70	D.U.	133	4.1	78	44	112
18	48	CARCINOMA	132	3.0	75	44	282
		1	t	1	1 1		

 $D_{\bullet}U_{\bullet} = chronic duodenal ulcer$

TABLE XII

MEAN SERUM-ELECTROLYTE VALUES IN THE THREE GROUPS

OF PATIENTS WITH PYLORIC STENOSIS

mg. per 100 ml.	UREA	54 24	54 20	12 3 80
TRATIONS	BICARBONATE	29 1	31	40 4
YTE CONCENT per litre	CHLOR IDE	98 2	90	77 4
DM ELECTROL meq.	POTASSIUM	4•3 0•7	3•8 0•8	3•5 0•4
SER	NULCOS	139 2	141 2	132 2
		MEAN S.D.	MEAN S.D.	MEAN S.D.
	GROUP	CHRONIC	SUBACUTE	ACUTE

often only once daily. Serum-electrolyte concentrations were little altered.

(2) Subacute Group: More marked symptoms, but no signs of dehydration, and not clinically particularly ill. Hypochloraemic alkalosis was present, and the serum-potassium concentration was usually low.

(3) Acute Group: Severe vomiting, with dehydration, muscle weakness, mental confusion or even semicoma. Serum-electrolytes were grossly altered, alkalosis was severe, and all required immediate resuscitative treatment. Only 2 patients had chronic symptoms before the acute episode; in the others vomiting had been present for 2 - 8 weeks at most.

The results have been compared to the group of vastus lateralis biopsy-specimens taken from 42 normal subjects.

Biopsy-specimens were taken from vastus lateralis in each case, and analysed and partitioned as described in Chapter II.

RESULTS

Table XI shows the age, actiology of the stenosis, and the serum-electrolyte concentrations in the individual patients, sub-divided into the three groups. Table XII shows the mean serum-electrolyte values in the three groups. The normal ranges

TABLE XIV

MEAN BIOPSY-SHECIMEN RESULTS IN NORMAL SUBJECTS COMPARED WITH

MEAN RESULTS OF THE THREE GROUPS OF PATIENTS WITH PYLORIC STENOSIS

SCTROLYTES [tre]	CHLORIDE		4•0 •0		4.1 0.1		3 . 8 0.4		3.2 0.1
GLLULAR ELF meq. per li	POTASS IUM		172 8		171 17		168 14		163 11
INTRACI (r	MULICOS		15 7		4		15 8		10 2
V ELECTROLYTES lry wt.)	CHLOR IDE		82 14		105 12		78 13		43 6
SY-SPECIMEN	POTASSIUM		429 32		399 22		425 29		431 24
TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	NUIDOS		136 27		158 10		145 33		85 9
IN WATER ry wt.)	INTRACEL LULAR		2483 180		2342 176		2520 109		2647 106
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	EXTRACELLULAR		703 135		940 110		75 4 121		457 89
	TOTAL		3187 168		3291 237		3278 161		3101 101
	GROUP	NORMAL SUBJECTS:	MEAN S.D.	CHRONIC P.S:	MEAN S.D.	SUBACUTE P.S:	MEAN S.D.	ACUTE P.S:	MEAN S.D.

STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN NORMAL SUBJECTS

AND THREE GROUPS WITH PYLORIC STENOSIS, AND BETWEEN GROUPS THENSELVES

		BIOPSY-SPECIMEN	I WATER	TOTAL BIOPS	X-SPECIME	I ELECTROLYTES	INTRACE	ILULAR ELI	CTROLYTES
GROUPS UNDER TEST	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULCOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE	MULICOS	POTASS IUM	CHLOR IDE
NORMAL V. CERONIC	N.S.	P<0,001	N.S.	N°S.	₽ < 0•05	P < 0.001	N.S.	щ°С,	₫,S,
NORMAL V. SUBACUTE	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	И.С.	M.S.	P < 0,001
NORMAL V. ACUTE	N.S.	P <0.001	P <0.05	P<0.001	N.S.	P<0.001	N.S.	₽ <0•02	P <0.001
CHRONIC V. SUBACUTE	N.S.	P<0.02	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	P<0. 01	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.
CHRONIC V. ACUTE	N.S.	P<0.001	P<0.01	P <0.001	₽<0 . 05	P<0.001	N.S.	N.S.	P < 0,001
SUBACUTE V. ACUTE	P< 0.05	P<0.001	N.S.	P<0.01	N.S.	P<0.001	N.S.	N.S.	P<0. 01

TABLE XV

are taken as:- sodium, 135 - 148 meq. per litre; potassium, 4.1 - 5.5 meq. per litre; chloride, 96 - 106 meq. per litre; bicarbonate, 24 - 31 meq. per litre. Hypochloraemic alkalosis was not seen in any of the chronic patients, but became more obvious as the symptoms of pyloric stenosis became more acute. Twelve patients had low serum potassium concentrations, again more common as the alkalosis became more severe. Only the patients with acute pyloric stenosis had significant hyponatraemia.

Table XIII gives the individual biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes for the three groups of patients, and Table XIV compares the mean results for each group to the mean values for the normal subjects. The statistical significance of the differences between each group is shown in Table XV. The findings may be summarised thus:-

(1) Chronic Group: The mean extracellular water and chloride contents were significantly greater than normal. The potassium content was lower than normal.

(2) Subacute Group: Individual biopsy-specimen results and the mean values were essentially normal. The intracellular chloride concentration was reduced (this being of course a reflection of the lower extracellular chloride concentration).

The chronic and subacute groups differed from each other only in the extracellular water and chloride contents, but both

53.

TABLE XVI

FLUID BALANCE, ELECTROLYTE INTAKE AND CHANGES IN SERUM ELECTROLYTE CONCENTRATIONS AFTER RESUSCITATION IN TWO PATIENTS WITH ACUTE PYLORIC STENOSIS (FLUID OUTPUT COMPRISES URINE AND GASTRIC LOSSES AND 500 ml./DAY INSENSIBLE LOSS)

\sim	FLUID BALANCE (ml.) ELECT	ROLYTE INTA	KE (meq.)	SERUM E	LECTROLYTH	ß (meq.∕.	L. or mg./100	(•1m (
INTAKE OUTPUT	SODIU	M CHLORIDE	POTASSIUM	MUIDOS	POTASS IUM	CHLORIDE	BICARBONATE	UREA
-								
				134	3.6	83	40	96
6050 4460	675	755	80	135	5•2	98	23	11
				132	3.0	75	44	282
10290 7750	825	1025	200	133	4•2	94	29	92
				<u></u>				

TABLE XVII

.

BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS BEFORE AND AFTER RESUSCITATION

IN TWO PATIENTS WITH ACUTE PYLORIC STENOSIS

CUTROLYTES tre)	CHLOR IDE		3.0	4•1		3•2	3.9
LLULAR ELF	POTASSIUM		153	170		157	181
INTRACE (m	MULUOS		5	IO		14	6
N ELECTROLYTES dry wt.)	CHLORIDE		45	17		37	95
SY-SPECIME	POTASSIUM		413	417		392	390
TOTAL BION (med	MULGOS		74	114		88	137
EN WATER dry wt.)	INTRACELLULAR		2689	2427		2517	2128
BIOPSY-SPECIM (ml. per Kg.	EXTRACELLULAR		442	686		392	914
	TOTAL		3132	3113		2909	3043
	PATIENT	<u>No. 15</u>	Biopsy (1)	Biopsy (2)	<u>No. 18</u>	Biopsy (1)	Biopsy (2)

had greatly different water and electrolyte contents from the acute group.

(3) Acute Group: Despite the clinical evidence of dehydration, the total water content was in the normal range in each case. However, as the mean extracellular water was significantly reduced and the intracellular water significantly raised, there appears to be a shift of water into the cell. The mean sodium and chloride contents are very low, but the potassium content was normal. As a result of the increased intracellular water, the intracellular potassium and chloride concentrations were significantly reduced.

In order to investigate further the unexpected finding of normal total water contents in these patients, repeat biopsies were carried out after resuscitation in two cases (numbers 15 and 18). The weight changes, details of the fluid balance and electrolyte intake, and serum-electrolyte values at the time of each biopsy are shown in Table XVI, and the results of the two biopsy-specimens are shown in Table XVII. The fluid balance and weight changes of the two patients agreed closely, and thus the actual fluid deficits were only of the order of 1.5 and 2.7 litres respectively. Electrolyte losses were not measured, but the total biopsy-specimen sodium and chloride contents were virtually normal after treatment, while the potassium content was unchanged.

54.

The total water contents were very little altered, as would be expected from the small net gain of water, but the extracellular and intracellular fractions were restored to normal after resuscitation. Owing to the reduction in intracellular water, the intracellular potassium concentrations were also normal.

DISCUSSION

The findings of this series show that the metabolic upsets of pyloric stenosis are of two types. In patients with chronic vomiting, the tendency towards increase in extracellular water and electrolytes at the expense of the intracellular constituents resembles the changes found in "starvation"¹¹.

The biopsy-specimen results were essentially normal in the subacute group of patients. Some of these patients had long-standing chronic symptoms, and may well have had changes as described above, but then owing to increased vomiting the excess extracellular fluid and electrolytes were lost, giving the semblance of "normality". On the other hand, some of the patients had relatively recent onset of symptoms, which although severe enough to bring the patient to seek treatment, seems to have produced little metabolic upset.

In acute pyloric stenosis the mean biopsy-specimen sodium and chloride contents were reduced by 42% and 51% respectively, but the potassium content was normal. Owing to the loss of sodium and chloride ions, the extracellular osmotic pressure falls; but the intracellular osmotic pressure is likely to be normal. Therefore an osmotic gradient will develop across the cell membrane, and the observed shift of water into the cell is necessary to restore osmotic equilibrium. An exactly similar picture to this has been described by Schloerb and Grantham¹² in the study of experimental pyloric stenosis in dogs.

The evidence of the biopsy-specimens together with the simple balance study suggests that the intracellular water shift is most important in the reduction of the extracellular space, and that the actual fluid loss is relatively small. Ghose¹³ described a patient with acute pyloric stenosis and noted that the weight gain during resuscitation was only 0.5 Kg. Apparently these patients lose electrolytes in the vomitus well in excess of water. Despite the fact that gastric fluid is nearly always hypotonic to plasma^{6, 9} considerable water absorption can take place from the stomach¹⁴ and, as the patients drink between bouts of vomiting, it is quite possible that enough water may be absorbed from the stomach to keep the body water relatively normal. However, the electrolytes of the gastric juice are only very slowly reabsorbed and will be mostly lost in the vomitus.

The mean biopsy-specimen potassium contents were significantly lower than normal only in the patients with chronic pyloric stenosis, and this tends to confirm the findings of Howe and Le Quesne⁹ that potassium losses are not severe in pyloric stenosis. Two patients, however, had moderately low potassium contents (numbers 4 and 12, Table XIII), the actual body deficits being of the order of 450 and 350 meq. respectively. Sodium and chloride contents were normal in these cases, and they correspond to a similar case described by Black and Jepson⁷ where the potassium loss was 800 meq. although sodium and chloride deficits were very small - the picture of chronic pyloric stenosis found in this series.

Four of the acutely ill patients had biopsy-specimen potassium contents greater than the normal mean. These patients had short histories of vomiting, and were all very alkalotic; it has been shown that alkalosis causes a shift of potassium into the $cell^{15, 16}$; and this intracellular shift will tend to maintain body stores. However, owing to the increased intracellular water, the cell potassium concentration tends to be low in acute pyloric stenosis, and this may explain the muscle weakness commonly seen in these patients. The patients with chronic pyloric stenosis have a longer history of vomiting, and tend to be less alkalotic, and the impression gained from this study is that the more chronic the symptoms the greater the potassium deficit.

Finally it is known that large infusions of saline increase renal potassium excretion¹⁷. Despite parenteral potassium therapy,

the potassium content of the repeat biopsy-specimens in the two acute patients was virtually unaltered, suggesting that renal potassium excretion was high during the resuscitation period. It can be concluded therefore, that in most cases of pyloric stenosis it will only be necessary to replace potassium loss occurring during treatment, but potassium should be given in greater amounts where the chronicity of the history suggests the likelihood of a significant deficit.

SUMMARY

The water and electrolyte content of skeletal muscle biopsy-specimens taken from 18 patients with pyloric stenosis have been compared to those of normal subjects. The patients were divided into three groups on the basis of clinical findings and serumelectrolyte abnormalities.

In the chronic and subacute groups the changes were usually slight. Extracellular water and electrolytes tended to be increased, and intracellular water and potassium to be reduced; these findings are typical of "starvation".

In the acutely ill patients the extracellular water was low, but the intracellular water was high. Sodium and chloride contents were grossly diminished, but the potassium content was normal. The shift of water into the cell appears to be due to the osmotic gradient across the cell membrane caused by loss of extracellular sodium and chloride. Repeat biopsies in two of these patients after resuscitation showed restoration of normality, and balance studies confirmed that the actual fluid deficit was much less than the clinical evidence suggested.

Only patients with a long history of chronic symptoms are likely to have significant potassium deficits. In acute pyloric stenosis the potassium loss is small, but potassium supplements should be given to replace urinary losses during resuscitation.

REFERENCES

- 1. GAMBLE, J.L., ROSS, S.G. (1925) The factors in the dehydration following pyloric obstruction. J. clin. Invest., 1, 403-423.
- 2. KASSIRER, J.P., BERKMAN, P.M., LAWRENZ, D.R., SCHWARTZ, W.B. (1965) The critical role of chloride in the correction of hypokalemic alkalosis in man. <u>Am. J. Med.</u>, <u>38</u>, 172-189.
- 3. KASSIRER, J.P., SCHWARTZ, W.B. (1966) The response of normal man to selective depletion of hydrochloric acid. <u>Am. J.</u> <u>Med.</u>, <u>40</u>, 10-18.
- 4. KASSIRER, J.P., SCHWARTZ, W.B. (1966) Correction of metabolic alkalosis in man without repair of potassium deficiency. <u>Am. J. Med.</u>, 40, 19-26.
- 5. BURNETT, C.H., BURROWS, B.A., COMMONS, R.R., TOWERY, B.T. (1950) Studies of alkalosis. II Electrolyte abnormalities in alkalosis resulting from pyloric obstruction. J. clin. <u>Invest.</u>, <u>29</u>, 175-186.
- 6. LANS, H.S., STEIN, I.F., Jr., MEYER, K.A. (1952) Electrolyte abnormalities in pyloric obstruction resulting from peptic ulcer or gastric carcinoma. <u>Ann. Surg.</u>, <u>135</u>, 441-453.
- 7. BLACK, D.A.K., JEPSON, R.P. (1954) Electrolyte depletion in pyloric stenosis. <u>Ql. J. Med.</u>, <u>23</u>, 367-382.
- 8. DAVIES, H.E.F., JEPSON, R.P., BLACK, D.A.K. (1956) Some metabolic sequels of gastric surgery in patients with and without pyloric stenosis. <u>Clin. Sci., 15</u>, 61-79.
- 9. HOWE, C.T., Le QUESNE, L.P. (1964) Pyloric stenosis; the metabolic effects. <u>Br. J. Surg.</u>, <u>51</u>, 923-932.
- 10. GRAHAM, J.A. (1970) Muscle water and electrolytes in pyloric stenosis. Lancet, <u>i</u>, 386-389.
- 11. MOORE, F.D. (1959) The metabolic care of the surgical patient. W.B. Saunders Co. Philadelphia and London.
- 12. SCHLOERB, P.R., GRANTHAM, J.J. (1964) Intracellular pH and muscle electrolytes in metabolic alkalosis resulting from loss of gastric juice. <u>Surgery</u>, <u>56</u>, 144-150.

- GHOSE, R.R. (1967) The need for chloride replacement in the correction of metabolic alkalosis due to vomiting. <u>Br. J. Clin. Pract.</u>, <u>21</u>, 570-574.
- 14. COPE, O., BLATT, H., BALL, M.R. (1943) Gastric secretion. III The absorption of heavy water from pouches of the body and antrum of the stomach of the dog. <u>J. clin. Invest.</u>, <u>22</u>, 111-115.
- BURNELL, J.M., VILLAMIL, M.F., UYENO, B.T., SCRIBNER, B.H. (1956) The effect in humans of extracellular pH change on the relationship between serum potassium concentration and intracellular potassium. J. clin. Invest., 35, 935-939.
- 16. ADLER, S., ROY, A., RELMAN, A.S. (1965) Intracellular acidbase regulation. I The response of muscle cells to changes in CO₂ tension or extracellular bicarbonate concentration. J. clin. Invest., 44, 8-20.
- 17. ELKINTON, J.R., WINKLER, A.W. (1944) Transfers of intracellular potassium in experimental dehydration. <u>J.</u> <u>clin. Invest., 23, 93-101.</u>

CHAPTER VI

MUSCLE WATER AND ELECTROLYTES AFTER URETEROCOLIC ANASTOMOSIS

INTRODUCTION

Ferris and $0del^1$ were first to describe the syndrome of hyperchloraemic acidosis following ureterocolic anastomosis, and the aetiology of this condition is now well understood²⁻⁵. Severe potassium deficiency was described in patients with hyperchloraemic acidosis soon after⁶, ⁷, and Wilkinson⁸ believed that most of the symptoms of hyperchloraemic acidosis were due to potassium loss.

Despite this early evidence for potassium depletion, there are only two published accounts on total body potassium changes after ureterocolic anastomosis⁹, ¹⁰ which give slightly different findings. This study describes the changes found in skeletal muscle water and electrolytes in patients with hyperchloraemic acidosis of varying severity. The work presented here is to be published¹¹.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Eight biopsy-specimens have been analysed from 6 patients with hyperchloraemic acidosis. The results have been divided into two groups, (i) 3 patients with severe acute symptoms, and (ii) 5 patients with well controlled symptoms (2 patients having repeat biopsies after recovery from their acute episodes).

The results are compared to those of the vastus lateralis biopsy-specimens taken from 42 normal subjects. TABLE XVIII

SERUM ELECTROLYTE VALUES AND BLOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF THEE PATIENTS WITH SEVERE HYPERCHLORAEMIC ACIDOSIS

(meg	SERUM	ELECTROLY	TTES per 100 ml.)	_	щ.	BIOPSY-SPECIMEN	WATER y wt.)	TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	Y-SPECIMER	I ELECTROLYTES	INTRACE (m	LLULAR ELS	SCTROLYTES
E I	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE	BICARBONATE	UREA	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULICIOS	POTASS I UM	CHLORIDE	MULLOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE
49	2•8	911	6	97	2896	934	1962	184	264	115	23	134	4.8
48	2.9	122	10	131	2895	857	2038	190	361	115	32	<i>11</i> 1	5.1
4	3.4	102	16	260	2856	672	2184	96	377	78	4	172	4.3

ŗ

•

BERUM ELECTROLITE VALUES AND BIOPSY-SPECIMER RESULTS OF FIVE PATIENTS WITH WELL CONTROLLED HIPERCHLORARMIC ACIDOSIS

		BERUN 9. per 111	M ELECTROI	LYTES per 100 ml.			BIOPSY-SPECIMEN (ml. per Kg. d:	CN WATER Fy Vt.)	TOTAL BIOPS	Y-SPECIMEN Per Kg. d	T ELECTROLYTES	INTRACE	LLUTAR ELB meq. per l	TROLITES
PATIENT	BODIUM	POTASBIUM	CHLORIDE	BICARBONATE	UREA	TOTAL 1	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELL ULAR	MULTOS	POTASSIUM	CELOR IDE	SODIUM	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE
J. Moû.	144	3.2	118	15.5	63	3485	1042	2443	149	384	135	5	156	4•9
0.F.	136	4. 0	114	15	02	3450	829	262]	204	395	107	34	150	4.7
C.D.	148	4.0	105	23.5	214	3034	882	2151	187	401	102	26	185	4.4
J. NoP.	143	3.3	111	2	98	3667	974	2693	159	427	121	7	157	4.6
J.B.	143	3.8	911	15	92	3884	1037	2846	184	451	137	13	157	4.9
	_								_					

TABLE XIX

TABLE XX

MEAN BIOPSY-SPECIMEN VALUES FOR NORMAL SUBJECTS COMPARED TO THE MEAN

VALUES OF PATIENTS WITH SEVERE OR WELL-CONTROLLED HYPERCHLORAEMIC ACIDOSIS

		BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	N WATER ry wt.)	TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	Y-SPECIMEN per Kg. d	ELECTROLYTES	INTRACI (1	ULULAR ELE 194 • per li	CTROLYTES tre)
GROUP	TOTAL	EXTRACELLUIAR	INTRACELLULAR	MUICOS	POTASSIUM	CHLOR IDE	MULTOS	MUISSATOT	CHLORIDE
NORMALS									
MEAN	3187	703	2483	136	429	82	15	172	4•3
S.D.	168	135	180	27	32	14	7	Ø	0•2
SEVERE H.A.									
MEAN	2882	821	2061	157	334	103	19	161	4.7
S.D.	23	135	511	51	હા	21	14	24	0•4
CONTROLLED H.A.									
MEAN	3504	953	2551	177	412	120	17	161	4•7
S.D.	314	95	266	22	27	16	12	14	0•2

H.A. = Hyperchloraemic Acidosis

TABLE XXI

STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN NORMAL SUBJECTS

AND GROUPS OF PATIENTS WITH HYPERCHLORAEMIC ACIDOSIS

	Ä	IOPSY-SPECIMEN	WATER	TOTAL BIOPS	IY-SPECIMEN	ELECTROLYTES	INTRACE	ULULAR ELI	CUROLYTES
	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULICOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE	MULICOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE
NORMAL V. SEVERE	P<0.005	N.S.	P<0.001	N.S.	P<0.001	P < 0. 02	N.S.	N.S.	P<0.001
NORMAL V. CONTROLLED	P <0.001	P<0.001	N.S.	P < 0.005	N.S.	P<0.001	N.S.	P < 0.01	P < 0.001

N.S. - not significant.

Biopsy-specimens were taken from the vastus lateralis in all cases, and analysed and partitioned as described in Chapter II.

RESULTS

The normal serum-electrolyte ranges are: sodium, 135 - 148 meq. per litre; potassium, 4.1 - 5.5 meq. per litre; chloride, 96 - 106 meq. per litre; bicarbonate, 24 - 31 meq. per litre.

Table XVIII shows the serum-electrolyte concentrations and the biopsy-specimen results of 3 patients with severe hyperchloraemic acidosis. Table XIX shows the same value for 5 patients with well controlled symptoms. The mean biopsy-specimen water and electrolyte contents in normal subjects are compared to the mean results of the two groups of patients with hyperchloraemic acidosis in Table XX, and the statistical significance of the differences from normal is shown in Table XXI. The essential findings may be summarised thus:-

1) Severe hyperchloraemic acidosis: The mean total and intracellular water contents are significantly lower than normal. Despite this dehydration, the extracellular water was in the normal range in each case. The total potassium content was significantly reduced. The total chloride content and the intracellular chloride concentration were both increased.

2) Well controlled hyperchloraemic acidosis: The mean total and extracellular water contents, and the total sodium and chloride

contents were all significantly higher than normal. The mean total potassium content is normal, but the intracellular potassium concentration is reduced. The intracellular chloride concentration is higher than normal.

As the clinical condition and therapeutic regime of each patient varied widely, brief clinical details are now given.

Patient G.F. Female, aged 43 years. Right nephrectomy in 1944 and left ureterocolic anastomosis in 1952 for urinary tuberculosis. She was well except for occasional urinary infections until sudden deterioration in 1967, and she was admitted to hospital moribund and with severe hyperchloraemic acidosis. Peritoneal dialysis was started, and muscle biopsy was taken 12 hours later (Table XVIII, number 1). This showed gross potassium deficiency and intracellular dehydration. She was given 700 meq. potassium in the next 24 hours and improved rapidly.

Three months later, when she was well and taking oral bicarbonate and potassium supplements, the results of a second biopsy (Table XIX, number 2) were all in the normal range except that the intracellular potassium concentration was still low.

She now has a colonic conduit and is in good health with only mild hyperchloraemic acidosis, controlled by oral bicarbonate supplements.

64.

Patient J.McP. Male, aged 47 years. Right nephrectomy in 1940 and left ureterocolic anastomosis in 1949 for urinary tuberculosis. He had mild hyperchloraemic acidosis and a slowly rising blood urea for several years, but remained in good health. After a respiratory infection he became acutely ill with severe hyperchloraemic acidosis. Muscle biopsy again revealed potassium deficiency and intracellular dehydration (Table XVIII, number 2). After intravenous therapy with 400 meq. potassium in 36 hours, he had rapid clinical improvement, and was started on oral bicarbonate and potassium supplements.

A second biopsy 6 days later (Table XIX, number 4) showed an increased water content, and the potassium content was now quite normal. Balance study confirmed water retention of approximately 6 litres between the two biopsies.

At present he is well, but the blood urea remains around 90 mg. per 100 ml.

Patient M.W. Female, aged 66 years. Bilateral ureterocolic anastomosis in 1968 for intractable cystitis. She was well for 5 days post-operatively, then became dehydrated, oliguric and acidotic, although not hyperchloraemic. Muscle biopsy showed dehydration and low sodium, potassium and chloride contents (Table XVIII, number 3). The reduced sodium and chloride contents in this case were thought to be due to the development of acute renal failure combined with
some vomiting in the post-operative period.

She required several haemodialyses before renal function improved, and is at present fairly well with hyperchloraemic acidosis controlled by diet and oral bicarbonate supplements.

Patient J.McG. Male, aged 45 years. Total cystectomy and bilateral ureterocolic anastomosis for bladder carcinoma in 1963. He had recurrent urinary infections and chronic hyperchloraemic acidosis, fairly well controlled with oral bicarbonate supplements at the time of biopsy in 1967 (Table XIX, number 1). The extracellular water and chloride contents are high, and the potassium content and intracellular concentration are in the low normal range.

He continued in hyperchloraemic acidosis, with a rising blood urea and died in 1969 from uraemia and septicaemia.

Patient C.D. Male, aged 53 years. Bilateral ureterocolic anastomosis for interstitial cystitis in 1964. He had repeated urinary infections and several episodes of acute hyperchloraemic acidosis, with increasing renal impairment, and was admitted to hospital in 1967 to have a colonic conduit fashioned. After therapy with bicarbonate and potassium supplements, a muscle biopsy was taken (Table XIX, number 3), and showed the tendency to expansion of the extracellular contents seen in all these patients.

Despite further surgery he remained in renal failure and died 4 months later.

Patient J.B. Male, aged 58 years. Total cystectomy and bilateral ureterocolic anastomosis for bladder carcinoma in 1968. Since then he had frequent urinary infections with exacerbation of his hyperchloraemic acidosis, and at the time of biopsy one year later, had been treated with parenteral fluids, including 120 meq. potassium because of worsening acidosis. All the water values and the chloride content are high (Table XIX, number 5).

He is well at present, with well controlled hyperchloraemic acidosis.

DISCUSSION

Renal impairment is thought to be necessary for the development of hyperchloraemic acidosis after ureterocolic anastomosis², ¹², ¹³. All the patients in this series had persistently elevated blood urea concentrations, and the biopsy-specimen results showed an expansion of the extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents; this is the main finding in chronic renal failure, whether measured by muscle biopsy (see Chapter VII), or by isotope-dilution^{14, 15}. The 3 acutely ill patients in this series all had marked intracellular dehydration. However, the extracellular water content was higher than the normal mean value in two of these patients. This explains the clinical impression that both these

patients were not dehydrated, as clinical evidence of hydration is a function of the extracellular water content of the body.

Severe potassium loss after ureterocolic anastomosis was first described by Foster, et. al.⁶ and Diefenbach, et. al.⁷, and Jacobs and Stirling¹² found hypokalaemia in 35% of the patients they studied. Wilkinson⁸ and Pyrah³ both stressed the likelihood of intracellular potassium depletion in patients with hyperchloraemic acidosis. Ansell and Creevy⁹ measured total exchangeable potassium and found a mean reduction of 33% over normal controls; these patients were said to be normally active at the time of study. Williams, et. al.¹⁰ repeated this work, but found a mean reduction of only 10% from the expected normal values. Some cases were deficient by up to 30%, but they noted that the total body potassium was greater than expected in 4 patients.

The results found in this study are also variable. In the acutely ill patients the muscle potassium content was obviously reduced, and the severity of the deficiency was related to the clinical symptoms. There is a close correlation between intracellular water and total potassium content, both in health (Chapter III) and in chronic renal failure (Chapter VI), so that the intracellular potassium concentration lies within narrow limits. The intracellular dehydration found in the acutely ill patients is probably therefore a response to the potassium loss, and the intracellular potassium

concentration has remained within normal limits in 2 of the patients; the potassium loss in the first patient was so gross, however, that the intracellular potassium concentration has fallen, and this may explain the severity of this patient's illness. It was estimated that the total potassium deficit in these patients was of the order of 1100, 600 and 400 meq. respectively.

The patients with well controlled hyperchloraemic acidosis show a greater variation in potassium content. The first 2 patients in Table XIX were both maintained on oral therapy, only the second getting potassium supplements, and the potassium contents were in the low normal range. The next 2 patients had both had intravenous potassium therapy and had normal potassium contents. However, the last patient, who had poorly controlled hyperchloraemic acidosis for several months, and who had received very little potassium, had a high normal potassium content.

There is no doubt therefore that the findings of this series support the conclusions of Williams, et. al.¹⁰ that in acutely ill patients with hyperchloraemic acidosis large amounts of potassium are required to correct the body deficit, in addition to other therapeutic measures. The position regarding long-term oral therapy is, however, less clear. Most of these patients probably have some reduction of body potassium stores, and therefore continuous replacement of the increased urinary losses known to occur would be theoretically worthwhile, despite the again largely theoretical risk of hyperkalaemia due to renal impairment. There is no evidence in the literature to suggest that continuous potassium therapy prevents the onset of severe hyperchloraemic acidosis, but there is also no evidence that it has caused any harm.

SUMMARY

The fluid and electrolyte imbalance in hyperchloraemic acidosis following ureterocolic anastomosis has been measured using the muscle biopsy technique. Three acutely ill patients and 5 with well controlled symptoms have been studied (including repeat biopsy on 2 ill patients after recovery).

All the acutely ill patients had marked intracellular dehydration, but in all the cases there was a tendency to an expansion of the extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents, the usual finding in chronic renal failure.

Muscle potassium contents were reduced in the ill patients, but varied in the well controlled patients from low to high normal values.

Large amounts of potassium are required in the treatment of patients severely ill with hyperchloraemic acidosis, but the value of long-term potassium therapy in well controlled cases is doubtful.

REFERENCES

- FERRIS, D.O., ODEL, H.M. (1950) Electrolyte pattern of the blood after bilateral ureterosigmoidostomy. J. Am. <u>Med. Ass., 142</u>, 634-640.
- 2. LAPIDES, J. (1951) Mechanism of electrolyte imbalance following ureterosigmoid transplantation. <u>Surg. Gynec.</u> <u>Obstet.</u>, <u>93</u>, 691-704.
- 3. PYRAH, L.N. (1954) Uretero-colic anastomosis. <u>Ann. Roy.</u> <u>Coll. Surg. Eng.</u>, <u>14</u>, 169-197.
- 4. STAMEY, T.A. (1956) The pathogenesis and implications of the electrolyte balance in ureterosigmoidostomy. <u>Surg.</u> <u>Gynec. Obstet.</u>, <u>103</u>, 736-758.
- 5. IRVINE, W.T., ALLAN, C., WEBSTER, D.R. (1956) Prevention of the late complications of ureterocolostomy by methods of faecal occlusion. <u>Br. J. Surg.</u>, <u>43</u>, 650-658.
- 6. FOSTER, F.P., DREW, D.W., WISS, E.J. (1950) Hyperchloraemic acidosis and potassium deficiency following total cystectomy and bilateral ureterosigmoidoscopy. <u>Lahey Clin. Bull.</u>, <u>6</u>, 231-238.
- 7. DIEFENBACH, W.C.L., FISK, S.C., GILSON, S.B. (1951) Hypopotassaemia following bilateral ureterosigmoidostomy. <u>New Engl. J. Med.</u>, 224, 326-328.
- 8. WILKINSON, A.W. (1952) Biochemical changes after ureterocolic anastomosis. <u>Br. J. Urol.</u>, <u>24</u>, 46-51.
- 9. ANSELL, J.S., CREEVY, C.D. (1961) Estimation of total body potassium in patients with ureterosigmoidostomies. <u>Surg.</u> <u>Gynec. Obstet.</u>, <u>112</u>, 322-326.
- 10. WILLIAMS, R.E., DAVENPORT, T.J., BURKINSHAW, L., HUGHES, D. (1967) Changes in whole body potassium associated with uretero-intestinal anastomosis. <u>Br. J. Urol.</u>, <u>39</u>, 676-680.
- 11. GRAHAM, J.A. (1970) Muscle water and electrolytes after ureterocolic anastomosis. <u>Br. J. Urol.</u>, In Press.

- 12. JACOBS, A., STIRLING, W.B. (1952) The late results of ureterocolic anastomosis. <u>Br. J. Urol.</u>, <u>24</u>, 259-290.
- PERRY, F.A., DEDDISH, M.R., RANDALL, H.T., ROBERTS, K.E. (1955) Evaluation of plasma electrolytes and renal function in patients with sigmoid urinary pouches. <u>Surg.</u> <u>Forum</u>, <u>6</u>, 599-603.
- 14. COMTY, C., ROTTKA, H., SHALDON, S. (1964) Blood pressure control in patients with end-stage renal failure, treated by intermittent haemodialysis. <u>Proc. Europ. Dial. Transp.</u> <u>Assoc., 1</u>, 209-213.
- 15. BLUMBERG, A., NELP, W.B., HEGSTROM, R.M., SCRIBNER, B.H. (1967) Extracellular volume in patients with chronic renal disease treated for hypertension by sodium restriction. <u>Lancet</u>, <u>ii</u>, 69-73.

CHAPTER VII

.

THE METABOLIC IMBALANCE OF CHRONIC RENAL FAILURE

INTRODUCTION

The water and electrolyte status of patients with varying degrees of chronic renal failure is studied in this chapter, excluding only patients on regular dialysis treatment. Previous studies have suggested that most patients with chronic renal failure show an increase in extracellular water and sodium, measured both by isotope-dilution¹⁻³ and by muscle biopsy analysis⁴⁻⁷; the effect of renal impairment on intracellular water and potassium is more difficult to evaluate. Moore, et. al.¹ found low total exchangeable potassium using isotope-dilution techniques, but this may in part be due to loss of lean body mass in these patients. Using muscle biopsy analysis, Villamil, et. al.⁵ and Campanacci, et. al.⁶ found low cell potassium contents, while Bergström and Hultman⁷ found the reverse. Bittar, et. al.⁴ obtained variable results.

This study attempts to elucidate these previous findings by relating changes in biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes to the degree of renal failure. Also the relationship between water and electrolyte contents and blood pressure is examined. The findings have been reported by Graham, et. al.^{8, 9}: TABLE XXII

SERUM ELECTROLYTE VALUES, CREATININE CLEARANCE AND DIASTOLIC

BLOOD-PRESSURE OF THE PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC RENAL FAILURE

DIASTOLIC BLOOD-PRESSURE	(•8u •mm)	88	115 130	10	120	8	70	80	140	011	75	95	85	110	6	80	80	011	011	100
CREATININE CLEARANCE	(•нтш лаd •нш)	20 17	13 15	11	1 5	14	0	7	r	7	ſſ	2	4	1	9	4	7	7	4	M
per 100 ml.)	CREAT IN INE	0 ° °	3.4 4.0	5.2	n a	6 . 1	6.6	8.1	8.1	8•3	0•6	0•6	0.6	1	6 •3	10.4	11.2	12.6	13.1	16•3
•3m)	UREA	56	90	144	88 715	141	93	245	170	128	94	209	184	184	226	229	204	147	240	230
NCENTRATIONS	BICARBONATE	18 13•5	ន ជ	15.5	18 20	16.5	18	20	23	15•5	17.5	0• 6	15.5	9 • 5	15	P	35	14	13•5	ω
ROLYTE CO	CHLORIDE	105 711	109 106	611	115	113	112	92	94	113	106	97	OIT	93	103	116	87	117	100	100
ERUM ELECT (meq. pe	POTASSIUM	4.7 4.6	5•2 •7	4•6		4•7	4.7	3•3	4•9	4 .8	4•2	4•3	4•1	ۍ و	4•5	4•4	4 •5	6 • 6	4 •8	6•4
0	MULICOS	144 144	140	148	146	071	144	135	137	139	141	134	146	124	138	143	143	142	131	131
	PATIENT	н 0	m 4	ŝ	9 5	- ∞	6	OI	H	12	13	14	L5	16	17	18	19	20	21	22

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Twenty-two patients with chronic renal failure were studied. All had elevated serum creatinine concentrations (2.5 up to 16.3 mg. per 100 ml.), and endogenous creatinine clearances ranging from 3 ml. to 20 ml. per minute. All patients were taking a modified Giordano-Giovannetti diet providing either 18 G. or 40 G. of protein; the switch to low-protein diet being made when the serum creatinine concentration was greater than 8 mg. per 100 ml.

Two patients were receiving anti-hypertensive drugs and 8 diuretics at the time of the study; comparison of the biopsyspecimen results found in the patients receiving diuretics with the group not receiving such therapy did not reveal any significant differences, and all the results have therefore been examined together. Blood pressures were taken regularly under steady-state conditions.

The results have been compared to those of the vastus lateralis biopsy-specimens taken from 42 normal subjects.

Biopsy-specimens were taken from the vastus lateralis in each case and were analysed and partitioned as described in Chapter II.

RESULTS

Table XXII shows the serum-electrolyte concentrations,

TABLE XXIII

AVERAGE VALUES FOR ALL VASTUS LATERALIS BIOPSY-SPECIMENS

		BIOPSY-SPECIMEN (ml. per Kg. dı	N WATER Ey wt.)	TOTAL BIOP	SY-SPECIMEN Per Kg. d.	ELECTROLYTES ry wt.)	INTRAC. (1	ELLULAR ELE meq. per li	CTROLYTES tre)
VALUE	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULICOS	MUL SSATOY	CHLOR IDE	MULTOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE
MEAN	3187	703	2483	136	429	82	15	172	4.3
(n-42) S.D.	168	135	180	27	32	14	7	8	0.2
95% CONFIDENCE LIMITS	2851-3523	433-973	2123-2843	82-190	365-493	54-110	1-29	156-188	3.9-4.7

TABLE XXIV

BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF INDIVIDUAL PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC RENAL FAILURE

SCTROLYTES [tre]	CHLORIDE	444044440044440440444 400408400800400800000
SLLULAR ELI neq. per li	POTASSIUM	179 182 197 197 197 197 197 197 197 197 197 197
INTRACI (1	SODIUM	9008845555555555555555555555555555555555
TROLYTES	CDE	
in elecy dry wt.	I CHLORI	
SY-SPECIME • per Kg.	POTASSIUM	438 788 788 788 747 787 787 787 787 787 78
TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	MULCION	163 163 166 114 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126
IN WATER Lry wt.)	INTRACELLULAR	2427 2085 2444 2638 2638 2444 2446 2350 2464 2421 2839 2839 2839 2838 2839 2838 2839 2838 2838
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	EXTRACELLULAR	979 1457 654 654 802 1418 961 141 708 1344 1344 1344 1344 1344 1344 1344 134
-	TOTAL	3407 3226 3338 3358 3368 3368 3368 3368 3381 33250 4408 33250 3250
	PATJENT	ユタグ400000013354535585023





Figure 14: Biopsy-specimen total water as a function of serum creatinine concentration in 22 patients with chronic renal failure, compared to \pm 1 S.D. normal acult mean.



Figure 15:

Biopsy-specimen extracellular water as a function of serum creatinine concentration in 22 patients with chronic renal failure, compared to $\frac{+}{-}$ 1 S.D. normal adult mean.



SERUM CREATININE CONCENTRATION (mg/100 ml)

Figure 16:

Total biopsy-specimen sodium content as a function of serum creatinine concentration in 22 patients with chronic renal failure, compared to $\frac{+}{-}$ 1 S.D. normal adult mean.



Figure 17: Total biopsy-specimen chloride content as a function of serum creatinine concentration in 22 patients with chronic renal failure, compared to $\frac{+}{-}$ 1 S.D. normal adult mean.

creatinine clearance and diastolic blood-pressure of the 22 patients with chronic renal failure. Normal serum-electrolyte ranges are:- sodium, 135 - 148 meq. per litre; potassium, 4.1 - 5.5 meq. per litre; chloride, 96 - 106 meq. per litre; bicarbonate, 24 - 31 meq. per litre.

Table XXIII shows again the mean values and the 95% confidence limits of the vastus lateralis biopsy-specimens from normal subjects. The biopsy-specimen findings in individual patients with chronic renal failure are listed in Table XXIV, and the values are further examined in Figures 14 - 19, in which they are compared to the range of $\frac{+}{2}$ 1 S.D. of the normal mean results.

Figures 14 and 15 show the total water and extracellular water contents respectively of the biopsy-specimens. There is a tendency towards an increase in both in chronic renal failure, becoming more common in the patients in the later stages of the disease. Total water is greater than the 95% confidence limits in 7 patients, and extracellular water is similarly increased in 14 patients. Total water is significantly reduced in only one patient. Figures 16 and 17 show the total sodium and chloride contents of the biopsy-specimens, and the tendency to an increase in both in chronic renal failure is clearly seen. The sodium content was significantly increased in 11 patients and the chloride content in 15. Despite this increase in sodium content, all patients had normal or low



Figure 18: Biopsy-specimen intracellular water as a function of serum creatinine concentration in 22 patients with chronic renal failure, compared to ⁺ 1 S.D. normal adult mean.



Figure 19: Total biopsy-specimen potassium content as a function of serum creatinine concentration in 22 patients with chronic renal failure, compared to \pm 1 S.D. normal adult mean.



Figure 20: Correlation between biopsy-specimen extracellular water and total sodium content in 22 patients with chronic renal failure.



Figure 21: Correlation between biopsy-specimen intracellular water and total potassium content in 22 patients with chronic renal failure.

serum sodium concentrations, suggesting that extracellular water was increased to a greater degree than sodium.

On the other hand the intracellular water content tended to be within the normal range, or to be reduced (Figure 18); significant reduction being seen in 5 patients, and no patient had an intracellular water content above the normal 95% confidence limits. Figure 19 shows a similar trend in total potassium content, the values lying within normal limits in all but three patients who had significantly reduced contents. These 3 patients all had reduced intracellular water and therefore normal intracellular potassium concentrations; none were on diuretics.

Figures 20 and 21 demonstrate significant correlations between extracellular water and sodium content, and between intracellular water and potassium content in the patients with chronic renal failure. These relationships have already been shown in normal subjects (see Chapter III), and the regression lines for the normal series are not significantly different from those of the patients with chronic renal failure. Despite these correlations the intracellular potassium concentration was above the upper limit of normal in 5 cases, and significantly reduced in 1 patient; the intracellular sodium concentration was high in 3 cases.

A significant correlation was found between diastolic blood-pressure and the biopsy-specimen extracellular water content



EXTRACELLULAR WATER (mi/kg dry wt)

Figure 22:

Correlation between biopsy-specimen extracellular water and diastolic blood-pressure in 22 patients with chronic renal failure.



EXTRACELLULAR WATER (ml/kg dry wt)

Figure 23: Correlation between biopsy-specimen extracellular water and diastolic blood pressure in 13 patients with severe chronic renal failure (serum creatinine concentration more than 8 mg. per 100 ml.). (Figure 22), and this relationship became even more significant in the 13 patients with serum creatinine concentrations greater than 8 mg. per 100 ml. (Figure 23). No correlation could be found between diastolic blood-pressure and biopsy-specimen sodium content.

The mean serum sodium concentrations in the patients with diastolic blood-pressures greater than 90 mm. Hg. was 137 ± 6 meq. per litre (± 1 S.D.) and those with diastolic blood-pressures less than 90 mm. Hg. was 143 ± 4 meq. per litre; this difference was statistically significant (t = 2.78, p<0.02).

DISCUSSION

As discussed earlier, the calculation of the extracellular water of the biopsy-specimens will be accurate only if it can be assumed that the cell membrane potential does not vary by more than [±] 10 mV from the arbitrary figure of -85 mV. The evidence suggesting that this is the case in normal subjects has already been given (Chapter II), together with some general evidence that changes in potential greater than 10 mV are unlikely in clinical practice. It is, however, possible that cell membrane potentials may be abnormal in uraemic subjects. Although it is well known that many biochemical systems can be altered by uraemic plasma <u>in vitro</u>, it is not known how many of these affect the patient's cells. With regard to membrane potential Bittar¹⁰ has shown that injection of

uraemic plasma into the squid axon does not change the membrane potential. Furthermore, in uraemia, there is no significant change in intracellular pH^{4} , 11, 12, 13, nor on sodium flux across the jejunal wall¹⁴. Both these facts suggest that active transport systems are functioning normally in uraemia and such mechanisms are important in the maintenance of normal membrane potential.

Our results suggest that as chronic renal failure becomes more severe, there is increasing retention of water, sodium and chloride, resulting in an expansion of the extracellular space. Extracellular water retention tends to be greater than sodium retention, and thus serum sodium levels are usually normal or low. Intracellular water and electrolyte contents remain fairly normal except that in some cases there may be a reduction in cell potassium content, which is compensated for by an equivalent reduction in intracellular water, maintaining the intracellular potassium concentration within normal limits in most cases. This mechanism has been found in normal subjects (see Chapter III). In fact, the intracellular potassium concentration was slightly above the normal range in 5 cases. The interpretation of this finding is difficult; it is certainly not what would be expected if the cell membrane was functioning poorly, and it may be that the extracellular water content has been over-estimated in these cases. The serum potassium concentration and the total potassium content were widely variable

in these 5 patients, and do not relate to the intracellular potassium content in any way differently from the other patients.

On the other hand the intracellular sodium concentration was raised in 3 patients. This may be due to inefficient working of the cell sodium pump, or to an increase in cell membrane permeability, but in each case the biopsy-specimen potassium content and the intracellular potassium concentration were quite normal, and it can be assumed from this that intracellular homeostasis has not been grossly upset.

Despite doubt over the basic mechanisms, it is generally held that hypertension, at least in the more severe degrees of chronic renal failure, is intimately related to retention of water and salt^{15, 16}. The finding in this series of a good correlation between diastolic blood-pressure and extracellular water content of the biopsy-specimens gives support to this view. The fact that this relationship is more direct in the later stages of renal failure raises the possibility that factors other than simple water retention are concerned in the actiology of hypertension in mild to moderate renal failure¹⁷. Although the failure to demonstrate a relationship between diastolic blood-pressure and total biopsy-specimen sodium content at first seemed surprising, there is other evidence to suggest that hypertension in severe degrees of chronic renal failure may relate more to water retention than to

Merril, et. al.¹⁸ noted that hypertension sodium retention. developed in renoprival patients when they became over-hydrated, and that these patients often developed hyponatraemia during the Shaldon¹⁵ found that although inter-dialytic hypertensive episodes. weight gain (i.e. fluid retention) in patients on regular dialysis was closely related to hypertension, increased salt intake was not necessary for the rise in blood-pressure to occur. He also showed that hyponatraemia often occurred when excessive inter-dialytic fluid intake had produced a rise in blood-pressure. Vorburger, et. al.¹⁹, using multiple isotope-dilution techniques demonstrated that in patients with chronic uraemia, hydration correlated well with changes in blood-pressure. The evidence obtained from muscle biopsy-specimen analysis in this paper suggests that in the later stages of chronic renal failure extracellular water retention predominates over salt retention, with the production of a dilutional hyponatraemia, and also that hyponatraemia is more common in the hypertensive patients.

However, whether water or salt retention is the more important factor in the development of hypertension in chronic renal failure, or whether both are intimately related, there is certainly no doubt that efficient removal of the retained water and salt by regular dialysis¹⁵, or by renal transplantation²⁰, will control the hypertension in the majority of these patients.

SUMMARY

Water and electrolyte status in chronic renal failure has been measured by analysis of skeletal muscle biopsy-specimens, and the results found have been compared to those of a series of normal subjects.

Extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents tended to be raised in chronic renal failure, and the changes tended to be more marked as the severity of renal impairment increased.

Intracellular water and potassium contents were normal in all but 5 of the patients. Intracellular potassium concentrations were significantly raised in 5 patients and reduced in only one. Intracellular sodium concentrations were increased in 3 patients; the intracellular potassium concentration was normal in these cases. There were significant correlations between extracellular water and sodium contents, and between intracellular water and potassium contents, which were similar to the correlations previously shown in normal subjects. These results suggest that there is surprisingly little upset of cellular function in chronic renal failure.

There was a significant correlation between diastolic blood-pressure and extracellular water content, which was especially marked in more severe degrees of renal failure. These results support the belief that hypertension in chronic renal failure

REFERENCES

- 1. MOORE, F.D., OLESEN, K.H., MCMURREY, J.D., PARKER, V.H., BALL, M.R., BOYDEN, C.M. (1963) The body cell mass and its supporting environment. W.B. Saunders & Co. Philadelphia-London.
- 2. COMTY, C., ROTTKA, H., SHALDON, S. (1964) Blood pressure control in patients with end-stage renal failure, treated by intermittent haemodialysis. <u>Proc. Europ.</u> <u>Dial. Transp. Assoc., 1</u>, 209-213.
- 3. BLUMBERG, A., NELP, W.B., HEGSTROM, R.M., SCRIBNER, B.H. (1967) Extracellular volume in patients with chronic renal disease treated for hypertension by sodium restriction. <u>Lancet</u>, <u>ii</u>, 69-73.
- 4. BITTAR, E.E., WATT, M.F., PATERAS, V.R., PARRISH, A.E. (1962) The pH of muscle in Laennec's cirrhosis and uraemia. <u>Clin. Sci., 23</u>, 265-276.
- 5. VILLAMIL, M.F., YEYATI, N., RUBIANES, C., TAQUINI, A.C. (1963) Water and electrolyte of muscle in chronic renal failure. Acta physiol. latinoam., <u>13</u>, 184-192.
- CAMPANACCI, L., MASCHIO, G., POLI, D., MIONI, G., RIZZO, A., BAZZATO, G., RIZ, G. (1967) Il musculo nell'uremia cronica. Reperti morfologici e biochimici compiuti con l'ausilio dell'ago-biopsia muscolare. <u>G. Clin. Med.</u>, <u>48</u>, 1252-1260.
- 7. BERGSTROM, J., HULTMAN, E. (1969) Muscle composition in chronic renal failure. <u>Minerva Nefrologica</u>, <u>16</u>, 33-40.
- 8. GRAHAM, J.A., LAWSON, D.H., LINTON, A.L. (1969) Intra- and extra-cellular electrolytes in patients with chronic renal failure. A muscle biopsy study. <u>Proc. IV Int. Cong.</u> Nephrol., Stockholm, 29.
- 9. GRAHAM, J.A., LAWSON, D.H., LINTON, A.L. (1970) Muscle biopsy water and electrolyte contents in chronic renal failure. <u>Clin. Sci.</u>, In press.

- 10. BITTAR, E.E. (1967) <u>Maia muscle fibre as a model for the</u> study of uraemic toxicity. <u>Nature, Lond.</u>, <u>214</u>, 310-312.
- II. IRVINE, R.O.H., DOW, J. (1966) Intracellular pH and electrolyte content of voluntary muscle in renal acidosis. <u>Clin. Sci., 31</u>, 317-324.
- 12. MASCHIO, G., BAZZATO, G., BERTAGUA, E., SARDINI, D., D'ANGELO, A., MARZO, A. (1969) Muscle cell pH in renal acidosis. Proc. IV Int. Cong. Nephrol., Stockholm, 222.
- 13. STRYJECKA-ROWINSKA, D. (1969) Intracellular pH of skeletal muscles in dog in health and in metabolic acidosis. <u>Proc.</u> <u>IV Int. Cong. Nephrol.</u>, Stockholm, 223.
- 14. SRAEAR, J.D., ARDAILLOU, R. (1969) Urea and sodium fluxes across the jejunal wall in chronic renal failure. <u>Proc.</u> IV Int. Cong. Nephrol., Stockholm, 469.
- 15. SHALDON, S. (1966) Haemodialysis in chronic renal failure. <u>Post-grad. med. J.</u>, <u>42</u>, suppl. 1-27.
- 16. Leading article. (1969) Experimental renal hypertension. Lancet, i, 1196-1197.
- 17. Leading article. (1968) Hypertension in pyelonephritis. Lancet, <u>ii</u>, 615-616.
- 18. MERRILL, J.P., GIORDANO, C., HEETDERKS, D.R. (1961) The role of the kidney in human hypertension. I Failure of hypertension to develop in the renoprival subject. <u>Am. J. Med., 31</u>, 931-940.
- 19. VORBURGER, C., HODLER, J., REUBI, F. (1969) Body exchangeable sodium, fluid compartments and hypertension in chronic uraemia. Proc. IV Int. Cong. Nephrol., Stockholm, 307.
- 20. PAPADIMITRIOU, M., CHISHOLM, G.D., SHACKMAN, R. (1969) Hypertension in patients on regular haemodialysis and after renal allotransplantation. Lancet, i, 902-904.

CHAPTER VIII

BODY WATER AND ELECTROLYTE COMPOSITION IN ACUTE RENAL FAILURE

INTRODUCTION

Acute renal failure is a not uncommon illness in hospital practice. Numerous actiological factors have been documented¹⁻⁴, but it has been stated that at least 30% of cases cannot be attributed to a single causal agent^{1, 5}. It is well recognised that conservative fluid and electrolyte therapy, as first advocated by Strauss⁶ and Bull, et. al.⁷, allied with dialysis treatment at an early stage^{8, 9}, can keep patients with acute renal failure in virtually normal water and electrolyte balance throughout the oliguric phase. However, although certain clinical situations are known to predispose to acute renal failure and its onset may therefore be noted quickly, it often develops as a result of several apparently minor factors, and considerable upset of fluid and electrolyte balance may occur before the diagnosis is made.

There have been surprisingly few attempts to measure body water and electrolytes in untreated acute renal failure. Patients have been reported as showing two main types of imbalance; one where salt and water are present in excess giving overhydration, oedema and acute cardiac failure^{5, 6, 10-12}, and the other where body water and electrolytes are normal despite severe extracellular acidosis, uraemia and often hyperkalaemia^{5, 12}. Different types of acute renal lesion may per se produce different patterns of fluid and electrolyte imbalance, but probably the most important determining factor is the fluid and electrolyte intake of the patient prior to the onset of acute renal failure, and immediately thereafter.

This chapter presents the results of muscle biopsy analysis in a series of patients presenting to the renal physicians, once the diagnosis of acute renal failure had been made, but before specific therapeutic measures had been started.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

The criteria for the diagnosis of acute renal failure are the same as those laid down by Brown, et. al.¹³ namely, diminution of urine volume to 500 ml. or less in 24 hours, blood urea concentration over 130 mg. per 100 ml., and a urine/blood urea ratio of 10:1 or less.

Twelve patients with acute renal failure have been studied. Eleven were studied during the oliguric phase of their renal failure, and none had received dialytic treatment. One further patient: was studied during the diuretic recovery phase.

Biopsy-specimens were taken from the vastus lateralis muscle in each case, and the results have been compared to the mean values of the group of 42 normal subjects. Biopsy-specimens were
AGE, AETIOLOGICAL FACTORS AND CLINICAL CONDITION AT TIME OF BIOPSY, SERUM-ELECTROLYTE

TABLE XXV

VALUES AND URLNE UREA CONCENTRATION OF THE PATIENTS WITH ACUTE RENAL FAILURE

TTAGEAFFTOLOGICAL FACTORS AND CLINICAL CONDITIONSODITINFOR PARBOUNTEUREA67Choladoohotony: hypotenaion: biliary fistula1156.788823856Tweterro-colic anastomosis: vomiting: dehydrated1413.41021626057Restrectony: paralytic ileus: hypotenaion:1275.188638458CCL, ingestion: vomiting and diarrhoes: controlled1344.5882033357Renession: hypotenaion: vagroup and1345.89011.528557Heamstenesis: hypotenaion: vagroup and1345.89011.528558Acute glomerulonephritis: vomiting: poor fluid intake1324.0871527858Acute glomerulonephritis: vomiting: controlled1324.0871527858Acute glomerulone phritis: oedematous1325.2932018658Choledootory: septiceenis: optication: controlled1324.0871527859Whipple: operation: particion: particion: controlled1325.2932018653Whipple: operation: particion: controlled1324.0871527854Miniple: operation: particion: controlled1325.2932018653Whipple: operation: particion: controlled1324.0871522454Miniple: operation: particion: controlled					SERUM- (meq. p	ELECTROLY er litre)	TE CONCENTRA	rions (mg. per 100 ml.)	URINE UREA
67Choledochoowy: hypotension: biliary fistula1156.788825853Tweterrooulic anastomosis: vomiting: dehydrated1413.41021626054Hystersctowy: paralytic ileus: hypotension:1275.188634354fiuld intake1344.5882033357Auute glomeruloneyiritis: vomiting: poor fluid intake1335.89011.522657Haamteemais: hypotension: vomiting: poor fluid intake1345.89011.522657Haamteemais: hypotension: vogony and gastroenteroewy: septicaemia: hypotension: controlled1324.0871527853Milple'e operation: partice suction: dehydrated1324.0871527853Milple'e operation: partice suction: dehydrated1325.2932018653Milple'e operation: pancreation: controlled1325.2932018653Milple'e operation: pancreation: controlled1325.2932018654Bilaternal ureteric obstruction: cortiona cervix:1384.59126521851Protention: postruction: septicaemia:1385.19218453Milple'e operation: pancreation: septicaemia:1385.19219454Protention: operation: septicaemia:1365.19218455Protention: operation: septicaemia:138	<	GE	AETIOLOGICAL FACTORS AND CLINICAL CONDITION	MULICOS	POTASS IUM	CHLORIDE	BICARBONATE	UREA	(g. per litre)
66Ureterro-oolio anastomosis vomitingi dehydrated1413.41021626073Eveterroowy: paralytic ileus: hypotension:1275.188638474CCl_4 ingestion: vomiting and diarrhoes: controlled1344.5882033372Acute glomerulonephritis: vomiting not fluid intake1335.89011.528573Haematensis: hypotension: vagroomy and gentroenterroewy: gastrio suction: dehydrated1445.89519.528573Haematensis: hypotension: vagroomy and gentreenterroewy: gastrio suction: dehydrated1324.0871527876Endarterroewy: gastrio suction: dehydrated1325.2932011.527874Inid intake1325.4901527875Whiphe's operation: pepticeemia: hypotension: controlled1325.2932018671Prostatio hypertrophy: catheteristion: septiceemia:1364.59126.518471Prostatio hypertrophy: catheteristion: septiceemia:1365.1921522873Prostatio hypertrophy: catheteristion: septiceemia:1364.59126.518471Prostatio hypertrophy: catheteristion: septiceemia:1375.19218473Prostatio hypertrophy: catheteristion: septiceemia:1365.19218474Prostatio hypertrophy: catheteristion: septiceemia:1375.1 <th></th> <th>67</th> <th>Choledoohotomy: hypotension: biliary fistula</th> <td>115</td> <td>6.7</td> <td>88</td> <td>æ</td> <td>238</td> <td>7.2</td>		67	Choledoohotomy: hypotension: biliary fistula	115	6.7	88	æ	238	7.2
53Hysteractomy: paralytic ileus: hypotension:1275.188638434Gulydirated1344.5882033332Acute glomerulonephritis: vomiting: poor fluid intake1335.89011.528557Haematemesis: hypotension: vagotomy and gastroenterocomy: gastric suction: dehydirated1445.89011.528557Haematemesis: hypotension: vagotomy and gastroenterocomy: gastric suction: dehydirated1445.89011.528557Haematemesis: hypotension: vagotomy and gastroenterocomy: gastric suction: dehydirated1324.0871527858Choledoohotomy: septicaemia: hypotension: controlled1325.29319.527853Whiple's operation: papticaemia: oedematous1363.4901527853Whiple's operation: parcetoris controlled1325.29319.527853Whiple's operation: parcetoris controlled1364.59126.518453Whiple's operation: parcetoris carcinoma cervix:1384.59126.518471Proctatio hypertrophy: catheterisation: septicaemia:1335.192199471Proctatio hypertrophy: catheterisation: septicaemia:1335.192192471Proctatio hypertrophy: catheterisation: septicaemia:1335.1921918		66	Uretero-colic anastomosis: vomiting; dehydrated	141	3.4	102	16	260	3.2
X4CCl_4 ingestion: vomiting and diarrhoea: controlled1344.58820333Y2Acute glomerulonephritis: vomiting: poor fluid intake1335.89011.5285S7Haematemesis: hypotension: vagrouny and gastroenterostomy: gastric suction: dehydrated1445.89011.5285S6Endarterestomy: septiceemia: hypotension: controlled1324.08715278S6Choledochorowy: septiceemia: hypotension: controlled1325.29320186S6Choledochorowy: septiceemia: oedematous1385.29320186S6Choledochorowy: septiceemia: oedematous1383.49015228S1Mipple's operation: pancreatic fistula: oedematous1383.49015228S1Prostatio hypertrophy: catheterisation: cervix:1384.59126.5184S1Prostatio hypertrophy: catheterisation: septiceemia:1385.192184		53	Eysterectomy: para lytic ileus: hypotension: dehydrated	127	5•1	88	6	384	7•0
32Acute glomerulonephritis: vomiting: poor fluid intake1335.89011.528557Haematemests: hypotension: vagotomy and gastroenterostomy: gastric suction: dehydrated1445.89519.522462Endarterostomy: gastric suction: dehydrated1324.0871527863Choledoohorwy: septicaemis: hypotension: controlled1324.0871527864Choledoohorwy: septicaemis: oedematous1325.2932018653Whipple's operation: pancreatic fistula: oedematous1183.4901522864Bilateral ureteric obstruction: carcinoma cervix:1384.59126.518471Prostatic hypertrophy: catheterisation: septiceemia:1335.19215248		*	CCl ₄ ingestion; vomiting and diarrhoes; controlled fluid intake	134	4•5	88	20	333	2,1
57Haematemests: hypotension: vagetomy and genetroenterostomy: genetroenterostomy: septionemia: hypotension: dehydrated1445.89519.522462Endarteroctomy: septionemia: hypotension: controlled1324.0871527868Choledoohotomy: septiceemia: oedematous1325.2932018653Whipple's operation: pancreatic fistula: oedematous1183.4901522864Bilateral ureterio obstruction: carcinoma cervix:1384.59126.518471Prostatio hypertrophy: catheterisation: septiceemia:1335.1921524871Prostatio hypertrophy: catheterisation: septiceemia:1335.19215248		32	Acute glomerulonephritis: vomiting: poor fluid intake	133	5.8	8	11.5	285	2.6
62Endarterectomy: septicaemia: hypotension: controlled1324.08715278fluid intake68Choledochotomy: septicaemia: oedematous1325.2932018653Whipple's operation: pancreatic fistula: oedematous1183.4901522844Bilateral ureterio obstruction: carcinoma cervix:1384.59126.518471Prostatic hypertrophy: catheterisation: septicaemia:1335.19215248		57	Haematemesis: hypotension: Yagotomy and gastroenterostomy; gastric suction; dehydrated	144	5•8	95	19.5	224	5.2
68Choledochotomy: septicaemia: oedematous1325.2932018653Whipple's operation: pancreatic fistula: oedematous1183.4901522844Bilateral urterio obstruction: carcinoma cervix:1384.59126.518471Prostatic hypertrophy: catheterisation: septicaemia:1335.19215248		8	Endarterectomy: septicaemia: hypotension: controlled fluid intake	132	4•0	87	15	278	4.2
53Whipple's operation: pancreatic fistula: oedematous1183.4901522844Bilateral ursteric obstruction: carcinoma cervix:1384.59126.51840Decematous1384.59126.518471Prostatio hypertrophy: catheterisation: septiceemia:1335.19215248hypoteneión: cedematous1335.19215248	_	89	Choledochotomy: septicaemia: cedematous	132	5•2	93	8	186	4.8
44 Bilateral urstario obstruction: carcinoma cervix: 138 4.5 91 26.5 184 0 edematous 0 edematous 133 5.1 92 15 248 71 Prostatio hypertrophy: catheterisation: septicaemia: 133 5.1 92 15 248	_	53	Whipple's operation; pancreatic fistula: oedematous	118	3.4	8	15	228	4.8
71 Prostatio hypertrophy: catheterisation: septicaemia: 133 5.1 92 15 248 hypotension: cedematous		4	Bilateral ursteric obstruction: carcinoma cervix: cedenatous	138	4•5	91	26.5	184	ı
		12	Prostatic hypertrophy: catheterisation: septicaemia: hypotension: cedematous	133	5.1	92	15	248	1.8

•

South Section

TABLE XXVI

INDIVIDUAL BIOPSY-SPECIMEN VALUES FOR PATIENTS WITH ACUTE RENAL FAILURE

`.

GCTROLY T ES [tre)	CHLORIDE	3•7	4•3	3.7	3.7	3.8	3•9	3•3	3•9	3.7	3.8	3•8	
SLLULAR ELF meq. per li	POTASS IUM	163	172	162	192	170	173	173	159	153	152	172	
INTRACI (1	MULIOS	0T	4	ω	10	7	24	12	8	น	K	õ	
ELECTROLYTES y wt.)	CHLORIDE	61	78	65	98	75	48	82	136	147	133	153	
-SPECIMEN per Kg. dr	POTASSIUM	465	377	379	420	453	449	398	464	378	445	481	
TOTAL BIOPSY (meq.	MULICOS	94	94	IOI	109	ווו	611	140	170	207	274	280	
N WATER Ey wt.)	INTRACELLULAR	2826	2184	2325	2159	2647	2580	2293	2859	2440	2889	2765	
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	EXTRACELLULAR	577	672	645	0101	725	409	858	1337	1535	1337	1490	
	TOTAL	3403	2856	2971	3169	3372	2989	3151	4195	3975	4226	4255	-
	PATIENT	н	Q	б	4	5	9	7	8	6	10	11	

TABLE XXVII

MEAN BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF THE TWO GROUPS OF PATIENTS WITH

ACUTE RENAL FAILURE, COMPARED TO THE NORMAL MEAN VALUES

CCTROLYTES [tre]	CHLORIDE	4•3 0•2	3 . 8 0.3	3.8 0.1
SLLULAR ELF	POTASSIUM	172 8	172 10	159 9
INTRACE (1	SODIUM	15 7	, 11 6	19 13
LECTROLYTES	CHLORIDE	82 14	72 16	142 9
SPECIMEN F	POTASS IUM	429 32	420 36	442 45
TOTAL BIOPSY- (meq. 1	SODIUM	136 27	110 16	233 53
IN WATER iry wt.)	INTRACELLULAR	2483 180	2431 255	2740 206
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	EXTRACELLULAR	705 135	699 194	1439 118
	TOTAL	3187 168	3130 206	4163 128
	GROUP	MALS 42) MEAN S.D.	lents 1 - 7 mean s.d.	IENTS 8 - 11 MEAN S.D.
		NORI (n=	РАТ	PAT

TABLE XXVIII

STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE NORMAL

VALUES AND THE TWO GROUPS OF ACUTE RENAL FAILURE

		BIOPSY-SPECIME	IN WATER	TOTAL BIOPS	Y-SPECIMEN	ELECTROLYTES	INTRACI	ILIULAR ELI	CTROLYTES
GROUP	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULICOS	POTASS IUM	CHLOR IDE	MULUOS	POTASS IUM	CHLORIDE
	1	5	;		1		5	5	
NORMAL V8. L - 7	N.S.		N.N.	P < 0. UZ	У Ч	N.0.		2	
NORMAL VS. 8 - 11	P<0.001	P<0.001	P<0.01	P<0.001	N.S	P < 0,001	N.S.	P < 0.005	P <0.001

N.S. = not significant

.

A site with we have a second

taken, analysed and partitioned as previously described.

RESULTS

Clinical details and serum-electrolyte concentrations of the ll patients with acute renal failure are shown in Table XXV. Normal serum-electrolyte ranges are:- sodium, 135 - 148 meq. per litre; potassium, 4.1 - 5.5 meq. per litre; chloride, 96 - 106 meq. per litre; and bicarbonate, 24 - 31 meq. per litre. Hyponatraemia and hypochloraemia are common, being seen in 8 and 10 patients respectively. Hyperkalaemia is present in 3 cases, and hypokalaemia in 2 cases. All had low serum bicarbonate concentrations.

Individual biopsy-specimen results of these patients are shown in Table XXVI, and it is obvious that they fall into two groups, patients 1 - 7 having virtually normal water values, and normal or low sodium and chloride contents, and patients 8 - 11 showing overhydration and sodium and chloride excess. The mean biopsy-specimen values of these two sub-groups are compared to the normal mean values in Table XXVII, and the statistical significance of the differences is shown in Table XXVIII. The results may be summarised thus:-

(1) Patients 1 - 7: total, extracellular and intracellular

TABLE XXIX

BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS IN A PATIENT IN THE DIURETIC PHASE OF ACUTE RENAL FAILURE

·		
CTROLYTES tre)	CHLORIDE	3•5
LLULAR ELE leq. per li	POTASSIUM	179
INTRACE (n	SODIUM	5
I ELECTROLYTES ry wt.)	CHLORIDE	61
Y-SPECIMEN per Kg. d	POTASSIUM	463
TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	NULTOS	77
IN WATER Lry wt.)	INTRACELLULAR	2569
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. č	EXTRACELLULAR	592
	TOTAL	3162
	PATIENT	a, L

.'

water contents do not differ from normal; the total biopsy-specimen sodium content is significantly lower than normal, and thus the hyponatraemia seen in most of these patients is the result of a sodium deficit. The intracellular chloride concentration is significantly reduced, but all the other values are normal.

(2) Patients 8 - 11: Total and extracellular water and sodium and chloride contents are significantly increased; the hyponatraemia in these cases is therefore dilutional, extracellular water being increased to a greater degree than the sodium content. Intracellular water is also significantly increased, but the mean biopsy-specimen potassium content does not differ significantly from normal; as a result of this the mean intracellular potassium concentration is significantly reduced. The intracellular sodium concentration is above the normal range in two individual patients, but the mean value for the group does not differ from normal.

One patient was studied during the diuretic recovery phase of acute renal failure. Urine volumes were normal for 4 days before muscle biopsy was performed, and the patient was taking an 18 G. Giovanetti diet, fluid <u>ad libitum</u> and potassium supplements. Serum-electrolyte concentrations were:- sodium, 134 meq. per litre; potassium, 3.9 meq. per litre; chloride, 83 meq. per litre; bicarbonate, 34 meq. per litre; and urea 240 mg. per 100 ml. The biopsy-specimen results are shown in Table XXIX. Total sodium and chloride contents are both low; all other values are within the normal ranges. Urine sodium concentration at this time was high, being 60 - 70 meq. per litre. Additional sodium intake was not given, and 3 days later the serum sodium concentration was 124 meq. per litre. Urine sodium concentration was however, only 4 meq. per litre, and the serum sodium concentration rose quickly to normal thereafter.

DISCUSSION

The evidence given in the previous chapter on the effect of uraemia on the cell and cell membrane was derived mainly from acute experimental uraemic conditions. It seems likely therefore that patients with acute renal failure will have cell membrane potentials little altered from normal, and that the methods used in this thesis to estimate the extracellular space of the biopsy-specimens will be satisfactory in these patients. Furthermore, Merrill¹ has stated on the basis of his extensive studies, that entry of chloride into the cell does not appear to be a complication in acute renal failure.

The first sub-group of patients with acute renal failure shows a marked tendency towards a reduction in sodium content, and to a lesser extent chloride content, all other values being very

close to normal. There are two possible explanations for this. Firstly, a defect of tubular reabsorption is often the first stage of the pathological lesion of acute renal failure, and such patients may lose large quantities of electrolyte in the urine^{3, 15-17}. Secondly, all these patients had conditions likely to lead to extrarenal loss of water and electrolyte, such as vomiting, gastric suction, paralytic ileus and diarrhoea; the clinical and biopsy-specimen evidence suggests that replacement of these extrarenal losses had been inadequate in many of these patients.

The second sub-group of patients with acute renal failure shows evidence of marked generalised overhydration, associated with an excess of sodium and chloride. The intracellular potassium concentration is significantly reduced, due to the marked increase of intracellular water with only slightly increased potassium content. In retrospect, this situation arose either from an initial failure to recognise the development of acute renal failure, or from the mistaken belief that the oliguria in these patients was the result of dehydration; excessive administration of water and electrolyte was the result.

Therefore, although the treatment of the oliguric phase of acute renal failure has been well described¹, 3, 4, 18, and has been largely responsible for the marked fall in mortality, these biopsy-specimen results show that the body water and electrolyte

content of patients presenting for the treatment of acute renal failure can be very variable. It is difficult, especially where extra-renal losses have occurred, to assess fluid and electrolyte imbalance on the basis of clinical judgement, and serum-electrolyte values may be difficult to interpret. For instance hyponatraemia is an extremely common finding in acute renal failure, and was noted in this series in patients with low and with high biopsy-specimen sodium contents. These patients all had sources of extra-renal fluid and electrolyte loss, but the first group had been given inadequate, and the second excessive replacement of these losses, whether by accident or by design. The view widely quoted that hyponatraemia in acute renal failure is a dilutional phenomenon^{1, 3,} 5, 10, 18, 19, may be true for most patients with a "medical" or "obstetrical" cause for their renal failure, but should obviously be treated with suspicion in post-surgical cases, who nearly all have extrarenal fluid and electrolyte loss. It would seem wise therefore to measure body water and electrolyte contents in such patients, either by isotope-dilution or by muscle biopsy, prior to the start of treatment.

Many authors have reported that electrolyte loss in the urine may be marked in the diuretic recovery phase of acute renal failure³, 10, 12, 15, 19</sup>. It has been suggested that the excess electrolyte excreted in the urine is that which has accumulated

in excess of normal during the oliguric phase^{3, 16, 17}. There is good evidence to suggest that the patient studied in this series had been treated accurately during the oliguric phase of his illness and was not overloaded with fluid or salt. However, after only 4 days of diuresis he showed biopsy-specimen evidence of sodium and chloride depletion, and had therefore lost more than purely excess electrolyte. The final outcome in this patient was complete recovery, but obviously such an electrolyte depletion could have been dangerous. It seems likely therefore that severe electrolyte losses can occur during the diuretic phase, and adequate replacement therapy should be given during this period.

SUMMARY

Biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes have been measured in 11 patients with untreated acute renal failure, and in one patient during the diuretic recovery phase of his illness.

Patients with acute oliguric renal failure fall into two main groups. The first group: shows evidence of a reduction in extracellular sodium and chloride, with normal intracellular water and electrolytes. These findings are thought to be due to a combination of excess urinary salt loss during the development of oliguric renal failure, and inadequate replacement of extrarenal electrolyte losses.

The second group shows overhydration of both extracellular and intracellular phases, associated with an excess of sodium and chloride. Due to intracellular water excess the intracellular potassium concentration is reduced.

The patient studied during the diuretic recovery phase of acute renal failure showed a marked loss of sodium and chloride, and shows the necessity to replace urinary electrolyte losses at this stage of the illness.

It is often extremely difficult to assess fluid and electrolyte balance in patients presenting for the treatment of acute renal failure, and muscle biopsy analysis or isotope-dilution studies may be required before accurate replacement therapy is possible.

REFERENCES

- 1. MERRILL, J.P. (1965) The treatment of renal failure. Grune and Stratton, New York and London.
- LUKE, R.G., KENNEDY, A.C. (1967) Prevention and early management of acute renal failure. <u>Post-grad. med. J.</u>, 43, 280-289.
- 3. KERR, D.N.S., DOUGLAS, A.P. (1968) A short textbook of kidney disease. Pitman Medical Publishing Company Limited, London.
- 4. AUSTEN, G., Jr. (1968) Management of post-operative renal failure. <u>Am. J. Surg.</u>, <u>116</u>, 346-361.
- 5. SWANN, R.C., MERRILL, J.P. (1953) The clinical course of acute renal failure. Medicine, Baltimore, <u>32</u>, 215-292.
- 6. STRAUSS, M.B. (1948) Acute renal insufficiency due to lower-nephron nephrosis. New Engl. J. Med., 239, 693-700.
- 7. BULL, G.M., JOEKES, A.M., LOWE, K.G. (1949) Conservative treatment of anuric uraemia. Lancet, <u>ii</u>, 229-234.
- 8. MULINARI, A.S., HEGSTROM, R.M. (1964) Pumpless low temperature haemodialysis in the management of acute renal failure. In, Acute Renal Failure (ed. Shaldon, S., Cook, G.C.) Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.
- 9. SILVA, H., POMEROY, J., RAE, A.I., ROSEN, S.M., SHALDON, S. (1964) Daily haemodialysis in surgical and traumatic acute renal failure. In, Acute Renal Failure (ed. Shaldon, S., Cook G.C.) Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.
- SIROTA, J.H., KROOP, I. (1951) Water and electrolyte disturbances in acute renal insufficiency. <u>Fed. Proc.</u>, <u>10</u>, 126-127.
- 11. ISERI, L.T., BATCHELOR, T.M., BOYLE, A.J., MYERS, G.B. (1952) Studies of fluid, electrolyte, and nitrogen balance in acute renal insufficiency. Arch. intern. Med., 89, 188-215.

- 12. BLUEMLE, L.W., Jr., POTTER, H.P., ELKINTON, J.R. (1956) Changes in body composition in acute renal failure. J. clin. Invest., <u>35</u>, 1094-1108.
- 13. BROWN, J.J., GLEADLE, R.I., LAWSON, D.H., LEVER, A.F., LINTON, A.L., MACADAM, R.F., PRENTICE, E., ROBERTSON, J.I.S., TREE, M. (1970) Renin and acute renal failure: studies in man. <u>Br. med. J., i</u>, 253-258.
- 14. MOORE, F.D., OLESEN, K.H., McMURREY, J.D., PARKER, H.V., BALL, M.R., BOYDEN, C.M. (1963) The body cell mass and its supporting environment. W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia - London.
- 15. BULL, G.M., JOEKES, A.M., LOWE, K.G. (1950) Renal function studies in acute tubular necrosis. Clin. Sci., 9, 379-404.
- 16. ROSCOE, M.H. (1964) Urine in acute and chronic renal failure. Br. med. J., i, 1084-1087.
- 17. PLATTS, M.R. (1966) Electrolyte excretion in uraemia. Clin. Sci., <u>30</u>, 453-471.
- BLAGG, C.R. (1967) The management of acute reversible intrinsic renal failure. <u>Post-grad. med. J.</u>, <u>43</u>, 290-306.
- 19. MERRILL, J.P. (1960) Kidney disease : acute renal failure. Ann. Rev. Med., 11, 127-150.

CHAPTER IX

MUSCLE BIOPSY ANALYSIS IN CONGESTIVE CARDIAC FAILURE

-

INTRODUCTION

The problem of body water and electrolyte imbalance in congestive cardiac failure has received considerable attention for many years; however, the number of published reports only bear witness to the conflicting results found in many instances.

There is no doubt that patients with severe congestive cardiac failure, who are oedematous, have an expansion of total and extracellular water, and sodium and chloride contents, measured by muscle biopsy analysis¹⁻⁹, or by isotope-dilution studies¹⁰⁻¹⁵. In non-oedematous patients however, it has been reported both that the body sodium content is still greater than normal¹⁰, 11, 13, 14 and that it is within normal limits¹², 19, 20.

Body exchangeable potassium contents have been found to be lowered in congestive cardiac failure^{11, 12, 16, 19-22}. However, wasting is common in patients with severe heart disease, though the presence of oedema may mask the weight loss. Under these circumstances a reduction in potassium content, as measured by isotope-dilution, may be an indication of loss of lean body mass, with little alteration in intracellular potassium content. The results of muscle biopsy analysis, which might have been expected to clear confusion on this matter, have been variable; biopsyspecimen potassium content has been reported as normal^{5, 6, 9, 23} or low^{1-3, 7, 8}, and intracellular potassium concentration has also

AGE, TREATMENT AND SERUM ELECTROLYTE CONCENTRATIONS OF ALL PATIENTS WITH CONGESTIVE HEART FAILURE

TABLE XXX

-													
TIONS (mg. per 100 ml.)	UREA		84	150 64	97	28 94		17	ዩቪ	64	32	36	45
TE CONCENTRA	BICARBONATE		24	10 27•5	21.5	34•5 35		31•5 20	53	25	31•5 28	28.5	8
ELECTROLY sr litre)	CHLORIDE		93	86 102	66	91 78		66 20	105	106	101	66	66
SERUM (meq. pe	POTASSIUM		Ч. Ч.	7•2 7•3	4 •5	4•5 4•2		4•7 4 • 7	4 4 ∙ ∩	3.7	4•3 • 8	6 •	3•5
	MULCOS .		цуг	141	136	134 129		140	24 141	141	140	141	141
	TREATMENT		DIURETIC + DIG. + K	DIURETIC + DIG. + K	DIURETIC + DIG.	DIURETIC + DIG. + K DIURETIC + DIG.		DIURETIC + DIG. + K	DIURETIC + DIG. + K	DIURETIC + DIG.	DIURETIC + K DIURETIC + K	DIURETIC + K	DIURETIC + K
₽ V	(YEARS)		62	7.2	62	42		53	-4	42	69	, <u>(</u>) ;	46
	PATIENT	SEVERE C.C.F.	н с	<u> </u>	4	w۵	CONTROLLED C.C.F.	r -a	0 0	10	11	13	44

DIG. = digoxin or related compounds K = potassium supplements

been found to be normal or low.

Finally some authors believe that cells gain sodium and/or chloride^{5, 9, 24}, at least in severe congestive cardiac failure; but this has not been noted in other published reports^{11, 12, 15}.

This present study has been carried out to examine possible causes for these variable findings reported above.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Fourteen patients with congestive cardiac failure have been studied, 6 with severe uncontrolled oedematous cardiac failure, and 8 who had been oedematous but had responded well to treatment and were non-oedematous at the time of biopsy. All patients were receiving treatment as shown in Table XXX.

All biopsy-specimens were taken from vastus lateralis muscle, and the results have been compared to the mean values of the group of 42 normal subjects previously described.

Biopsy-specimens were taken, analysed and partitioned as described in Chapter II.

RESULTS

Table XXX shows the age, treatment and serum-electrolyte values of the two groups of patient. Normal serum electrolyte

TABLE XXXI

INDIVIDUAL BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF ALL PATIENTS WITH CONGESTIVE CARDIAC FAILURE

CTROLYTES tre)	CHLORIDE	3.9	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	4 W W 4 B W		4•1 3•8	4.4	4•4	4•2	-++ +	4.1
LLULAR ELE eq. per li	POTASSIUM	149	166 149 57	171		174 161	169	LLT	164 187	192	171
INTRACE (m	MULUOS	41	с С С С	318		11	23	18	212	1 ~	N
N ELECTROLYTES lry wt.)	CHLOR IDE	129	135 138 268	165 138		68 73	130	123		124	107
Y-SPECIMEN per Kg. d	POTASSIUM	375	427 369 263	413 415 475		417 385	341	430	406	422	373
TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	MULTOS	271	200 196 366	254 291		110	209	192	153 205	160	144
IN WATER .ry wt.)	INTRACELLULAR	2487	2528 2455 2243	2272 2772 2738		2374 2442	1985	2412	2449	5170	2087
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	EXTRACELLULAR	1238	1349 1252 2517	1715 1647		592 697	1158	1054	892	1162	966
	TOTAL	TLLS	3887 3707 7767	41 01 3987 4404		2966 3139	3143	3449	3340	3332	3082
	PAT JENT	SEVERE C.C.F. I	01 M -	4 ጦ ወ	CONTROLLED C.C.F.	6	6	10		74	14

i

TABLE XXXII

MEAN BIOPSY-SPECIMEN VALUES FOR TWO GROUPS OF PATIENTS WITH

CONGESTIVE CARDIAC FAILURE COMPARED TO THE MEAN NORMAL VALUES

·

		BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	N WATER ry wt.)	TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	Y-SPECIMEN	ELECTROLYTES	INTRACE (m	LLULAR ELF	CTROLYTES tre)
GROUP	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	NULUOS	POTASSIUM	CHLOR IDE	MUIDOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE
NORMAL MEAN S.D.	3187 168	703 135	2483 180	136 27	429 32	82 14	15 7	172 8	4•3 0•2
SEVERE C.C.F. MEAN S.D.	4086 412	1627 477	2454 182	261 60	404 43	161 49	19 13	162 12	3•8 0•3
CONTROLLED C.C.F. MEAN S.D.	3216 160	957 214	2261 180	163 36	398 29	106 24	13 8	175 11	4•2 0•2
				-					

TABLE XXXIII

STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF ANY DIFFERENCE BETWEEN GROUPS SHOWN IN TABLE XXXII

		IOPSY-SPECIMEN	VATER	TOTAL BIOPSY	-SPEC IMEN	ELECTROLYTES	INTRACE	CILULAR ELE	CTROLYTES
GROUP	TATOT	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MULICOS	POTASS IUM	CHLORIDE	NULCOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE
NORMAL VS. SEVERE C.C.F.	P <0.001	P<0,001	N.S.	P<0.001	N.S.	P<0.001	N.S.	P <0.01	P<0.001
NORMAL VR. CONTROLLED C.C.F.	N.S.	P<0.001	P <0.005	P<0.02	P<0,02	P<0.001	N.S.	N.9.	N.8.
SEVERE C.C.F. VS. CONTROLLED C.C.F.	P<0.001	P <0,005	N.S.	P <0.005	N.S.	P < 0. 02	N.S.	N.S.	P<0. 05

ranges are:- Sodium, 135 - 148 meq. per litre, potassium, 4.1 - 5.5 meq. per litre; chloride, 96 - 106 meq. per litre, bicarbonate, 24 - 31 meq. per litre. Hyponatraemia and hypochloraemia are common in the severely ill patients, but are seen in only one case in the non-oedematous group. Hypokalaemia was present in 6 patients, and was not related to the severity of the disease.

Individual biopsy-specimen results are shown in Table XXXI. Table XXXII gives the mean biopsy-specimen values for the two groups compared to the mean normal values, and Table XXXIII shows the statistical significance of the differences between the groups. The findings may be summarised thus:

(1) Severely ill oedematous group: Each patient has significantly increased total and extracellular water, and total sodium and chloride contents. Three patients had normal intracellular water contents, but low biopsy-specimen potassium contents; they therefore had low intracellular potassium concentrations. The mean intracellular water content of this group was quite normal, but the mean potassium content was lower than normal (not statistically significant). However, as a result of this, the mean intracellular potassium concentration was significantly reduced. Only one individual patient had an intracellular sodium concentration higher than the normal range.

(2) Controlled non-oedematous group: Two patients in this group



TOTAL WATER (ml /kg dry wt)

Figure 24: Correlation between biopsy-specimen total water and the sum of the total sodium and potassium contents in 14 patients with congestive cardiac failure.



EXTRACELLULAR WATER (m1/kg dry wt)

Figure 25:

Correlation between biopsy-specimen extracellular water and total sodium content in 14 patients with congestive cardiac failure.



INTRACELLULAR WATER (ml /kg dry wt)

Figure 26: Correlation between biopsy-specimen intracellular water and total potassium content in 14 patients with congestive cardiac failure. (numbers 7 and 11) have completely normal biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes. However, the mean values for extracellular water, and sodium and chloride contents are significantly greater than normal. The mean biopsy-specimen intracellular water and potassium contents are both significantly lower than normal; as both are reduced, the intracellular potassium concentration is quite normal. Intracellular sodium concentration is normal in all patients.

Mean total and extracellular water, and sodium and chloride contents are significantly lower in this group than those of the severely ill oedematous group of patients.

There is an excellent correlation between biopsy-specimen total water and the sum of the total sodium and potassium contents (Figure 24). There are also good correlations between extracellular water and sodium content (Figure 25) and intracellular water and potassium content (Figure 26).

The biopsy-specimen potassium contents do not correlate well with the severity of the clinical condition, nor with the dose or duration of diuretic therapy.

DISCUSSION

Flear, et. al.⁹ have reported an increased intracellular

chloride content in patients with severe oedematous congestive cardiac failure using an in vitro inulin equilibration method to measure the extracellular water content of their biopsy-specimens. They did however, show a large variation in their results, and this was therefore not found in every case. They also found normal intracellular chloride concentrations in patients with mild or moderate heart failure. Mokotoff, et. al.⁵ found no evidence to suggest an increased intracellular chloride concentration in the patients they studied, although these patients were probably not as ill as the ones studied by Flear and his associates. Tf the finding of Flear. et. al.⁹ is correct. then the mean extracellular water of the severely ill patients in this study, calculated on the basis of a passive distribution of chloride across the cell membrane, will have been over estimated by 11.7% (taking the mean intracellular chloride concentration as 11.6 meq. per litre. from Flear, et. al.⁹). This will of course alter the values for intracellular electrolyte concentrations in this group, and the possible errors in these results in this study will be discussed below.

There is however, no doubt that patients with severe congestive cardiac failure show increased total and extracellular water, and sodium and chloride contents; there is total agreement in the literature on these findings. The results of the non-oedematous group of patients are more difficult to assess.

The mean biopsy-specimen results of this group suggest that extracellular water, sodium and chloride are still greater than normal, and that there is a degree of intracellular dehydration. However, these findings are not invariable, and some individual patients had quite normal or only slightly altered biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes. Therefore an obvious explanation for the findings of some authors that extracellular constituents are increased in non-oedematous cardiac failure^{10, 11, 13, 14}, which is denied by others^{12, 19, 20}, is that the groups of patients studied were dissimilar. These patients might be further sub-divided into a "totally compensated group" with normal body constituents, and a "partly compensated group" showing still greater than normal extracellular contents. Such a diagnosis however, would be difficult to make on clinical grounds, and is somewhat artificial.

Only 2 patients in this series had biopsy-specimen potassium contents significantly outwith the normal range. Four others had potassium contents lying at the lower limit of the normal range. There would appear therefore to be an actual loss of potassium from the cell in only some patients with congestive cardiac failure, being perhaps more common in severely ill oedematous patients. There is no correlation in this series between potassium depletion and diuretic therapy, although most of the patients studied were taking potassium supplements. It would again therefore seem wrong to state categorically that all patients with congestive cardiac cardiac failure have either normal or low body potassium contents, although the mean values of both groups in this series are lower than normal, suggesting that a tendency to potassium loss does The results of the intracellular electrolyte concentrations exist. in this study are of interest. In the non-oedematous group of patients, where the biopsy-specimen potassium content is lower than normal, the intracellular water is also reduced, with the result that the intracellular potassium concentration is within normal limits in each case; there appears therefore to be normal control of the intracellular potassium concentration, as described in Intracellular sodium concentrations Chapter III of this thesis. are likewise guite normal in this series, thus confirming the findings of Flear, et. al.⁹ in moderate or mild congestive cardiac failure.

In the severely ill oedematous group of patients, where the biopsy-specimen potassium content is low, the intracellular potassium concentration is also low. The first patient of this group is the only one to show any evidence of increased intracellular sodium content, associated with a reduction in potassium content; intracellular sodium concentrations are within normal limits in all other cases. Thus the combined concentration of sodium and potassium in intracellular water tends to be lower than normal, and this is a logical finding in view of the fall in extracellular osmotic pressure, inferred from the serum-electrolyte concentrations, seen in most of these patients. If the mean intracellular electrolyte concentrations are re-calculated, using the intracellular chloride concentrations found by Flear, et. al.⁹, then the mean intracellular potassium concentration falls to 150 meq. per litre, and the mean intracellular sodium concentration rises to 26 meq. per litre. This is a 27% rise in the mean sodium concentration, but if this percentage increase is added to the intracellular sodium concentrations of the individual patients, only one other patient (number 6) shows an increase in sodium concentration outwith the normal range.

The very close correlation between extracellular water (essentially calculated from the biopsy-specimen chloride content) and the sodium content in all the patients, makes it extremely unlikely that there is a significant entry of sodium into the cell in most patients with congestive cardiac failure. The only possible objection to this finding would be that if sodium and chloride enter the cell in equal amounts in severe cardiac failure, then this correlation would still hold good. Many authors utilising isotope-dilution techniques have also reported that the increase in sodium content in congestive cardiac failure is purely extracellular¹¹, ¹², ¹⁵, ²⁰, but their findings would also not detect an equivalent increase in intracellular sodium and chloride. However, the evidence presented here suggests that entry of sodium

into the cell probably does occur occasionally in severe oedematous congestive cardiac failure, but is an exceptional finding rather than the rule.

Finally, several authors have postulated that osmotic inactivation of intracellular cation occurs in congestive cardiac failure, in order to explain their findings of increased body cation content without a corresponding increase in body water⁹, 13, 14. However, the extremely close correlation in this series between total water and the sum of sodium and potassium contents (together comprising about 95% of the osmotically active cation of the body²⁵) suggests that there is no significant osmotic inactivation of cation in this study; this agrees with the findings of Birkenfeld, et. al.¹¹, Olesen,¹², 15, 17, 18</sup>, and White, et. al.²⁰. The consensus of opinion therefore is against osmotic inactivation, and the distribution of water and electrolytes in patients with congestive cardiac failure appears to follow the normal osmotic gradients.

SUMMARY

Biopsy-specimen water and electrolyte contents have been studied in 14 patients with congestive cardiac failure, 6 being severely ill and oedematous, and 8 well-controlled and non-oedematous at the time of biopsy.

In the severely ill patients total water, extracellular

water, and sodium and chloride contents were all grossly increased. These parameters were still greater than normal in the group of non-oedematous patients, although some patients in this group had quite normal water and electrolyte contents.

There is a general tendency to a reduction in biopsyspecimen potassium content in these patients, although only 2 individual patients had potassium contents lying outwith the normal range. In the severely ill patients, loss of biopsy-specimen potassium content was associated with a reduced intracellular potassium concentration, but in the non-oedematous patients, the intracellular potassium concentrations were normal in each case. There was no relationship between potassium loss and diuretic therapy.

Gain of sodium within the cell is an unusual finding in this series, although the method used to partition the biopsy-specimen sodium content may give an under estimate of intracellular sodium in severely ill patients.

In general, water and electrolytes are partitioned between cell and extracellular space in response to normal osmotic gradients.

REFERENCES

- HARRISON, T.R., PILCHER, C., EWING, G. (1930) Studies in congestive heart failure. IV The potassium content of skeletal and cardiac muscle. J. clin. Invest., 8, 325-335.
- 2. CALHOUN, J.A., CULLEN, G.E., CLARKE, G., HARRISON, T.R. (1931) Studies on congestive heart failure. VIII The effect of the administration of dibasic potassium phosphate on the potassium content of certain tissues. J. clin. Invest., 2, 693-703.
- 3. PILCHER, C., CALHOUN, J.A., CULLEN, G.E., HARRISON, T.R. (1931) Studies in congestive heart failure. V The potassium content of skeletal muscle obtained by biopsy. J. clin. Invest., 2, 191-196.
- 4. STOCK, R.J., MUDGE, G.H., NURNBERG, M.J. (1951) Congestive heart failure. Variations in electrolyte metabolism with salt restriction and mercurial diuretics. <u>Circulation</u>, <u>4</u>, 54-69.
- 5. MOKOTOFF, R., ROSS, G., LEITER, R. (1952) The electrolyte content of skeletal muscle in congestive heart failure; a comparison of results with inulin and chloride as reference standards for extracellular water. <u>J. clin. Invest.</u>, <u>31</u>, 291-299.
- 6. TALSO, P.J., SPAFFORD, N., BLAW, M. (1953) The metabolism of water and electrolytes in congestive heart failure. II The distribution of water and electrolytes in skeletal muscle in edematous patients with congestive heart failure before and after treatment. J. Lab. clin. Med., 41, 405-415.
- 7. CORT, J.H., MATTHEWS, H.L. (1954) Potassium deficiency in congestive heart failure. <u>Lancet</u>, <u>i</u>, 1202-1206.
- 8. ISERI, L.T., BOYLE, A.J., CHANDLER, D.E., MYERS, G.B. (1955) Electrolyte studies in heart failure. I Cellular factors in the pathogenesis of the edema of congestive heart failure. <u>Circulation</u>, <u>11</u>, 615-619.

- 9. FLEAR, C.T.G., CRAMPTON, R.F., MATTHEWS, D.M. (1961) Observations on the electrolyte and water composition of skeletal muscle in patients in congestive cardiac failure, using an <u>in vitro</u> method for determination of inulin space. <u>Clin. Sci.</u>, <u>21</u>, 381-392.
- 10. FARBER, S.J., SO BERMAN, R.J. (1956) Total body water and total exchangeable sodium in edematous: states due to cardiac, renal or hepatic disease. <u>J. clin. Invest.</u>, <u>35</u>, 779-791.
- 11. BIRKENFELD, L.W., LEIEMAN, J., O'MEARA, M.P., EDELMAN, I.S. (1953) Total exchangeable sodium, total exchangeable potassium and total body water in edematous patients with cirrhosis of the liver and congestive heart failure. J. clin. Invest., 37, 687-698.
- 12. OLESEN, K.H. (1964) Body composition in heart disease. Acta med. Scand., <u>175</u>, 301-324.
- 13. COX, J.R., DAVIES-JONES, G.A.B., LEONARD, P.J. (1964) Sodium content and urinary aldosterone excretion in patients with congestive heart failure before and after treatment and comparison with normal subjects undergoing salt restriction. <u>Clin. Sci., 26</u>, 177-184.
- 14. CARROLL, H.J., GOTTERER, R., ALTSHULER, B. (1965) Exchangeable sodium, body potassium, and body water in previously edematous cardiac patients. Evidence for osmotic inactivation of cation. <u>Circulation</u>, <u>32</u>, 185-192.
- 15. OLESEN, K.H. (1966) Total exchangeable sodium in previously oedematous cardiac patients. <u>Circulation</u>, <u>34</u>, 322-330.
- 16. FLEAR, C.T.G., QUINTON, A., CARPENTER, R.G., DOMENET, J.G., SIVYER, A. (1966) Exchangeable body potassium and sodium in patients in congestive heart failure. <u>Clin. Chim.</u> <u>Acta</u>, <u>13</u>, 1-12.
- 17. OLESEN, K.H. (1967) Inter-relations between total exchangeable sodium, potassium, body water, and serum sodium and potassium concentrations in hyponatremic and normonatremic heart disease. <u>Circulation</u>, <u>35</u>, 895-903.
- 18. OLESEN, K.H. (1968) Body composition in heart disease. Acta med. Scand., <u>183</u>, 361-367.

- 19. LOCKEY, E., LONGMORE, D.B., ROSS, D.N., STURRIDGE, M.F. (1966) Potassium and open-heart surgery. Lancet, <u>i</u>, 671-675.
- 20. WHITE, R.J., CHAMBERLAIN, D.A., HAMER, J., MCALISTER, J., HAWKINS, L.A. (1969) Potassium depletion in severe heart disease. Br. med. J., <u>ii</u>, 606-610.
- 21. STAFFURTH, J.S. (1964) The total exchangeable potassium in patients with hypokalaemia. Post-grad. med. J., 40, 4-10.
- 22. AIKAWA, J.K., FITZ, R.H. (1956) Exchangeable potassium content of the body in congestive failure. <u>Circulation</u>, <u>14</u>, 1093-1098.
- 23. GROH, J., BARTOS, V., KVASNICKA, J., ERBEN, J. (1968) Potassium of erythrocytes and skeletal muscles in patients with uncomplicated congestive heart failure and with cor pulmonale. <u>Sborn. Ved. Prac. Lek. Fak. Karlov. Univ.</u>, <u>11</u>, 129-135.
- 24. FLEAR, C.T.G., CRAMPTON, R.F. (1960) Evidence for the entry of chloride into cells in congestive cardiac failure. <u>Clin. Sci., 19</u>, 495-509.
- 25. MOORE, F.D., OLESEN, K.H., McMURREY, J.D., PARKER, H.V., BALL, M.R., BOYDEN, C.M. (1963) The body cell mass and its supporting environment. W.B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia - London.

CHAPTER X

THE SYNDROME OF INAPPROPRIATE SECRETION OF ANTIDIURETIC HORMONE
INTRODUCTION

In 1938 Winkler and Crankshaw¹ published a paper entitled "Chloride depletion in conditions other than Addison's disease". They noted high urinary chloride excretion, associated with a low serum sodium concentration in two patients with pulmonary tuberculosis, and one patient with a bronchogenic carcinoma. Sims, et. al.² later described a syndrome of persistent hyponatraemia in patients with advanced pulmonary tuberculosis, associated with urinary hyperosmolarity and high urinary sodium concentrations. These were probably the first reports of the syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone, so named by Schwartz, et. al.3. who showed that the symptoms of the condition could be mimicked in normal subjects by infusions of vasopressin. Epstein and Levitin⁴ gave plasma from a patient with inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone to a patient with diabetes insipidus, and produced a rise in urinary osmolarity and a decrease in urinary free The cause of this syndrome was finally established water clearance. beyond doubt when Bower. et. al.⁵ found antidiuretic activity both in the plasma of a patient with a bronchogenic carcinoma, and also in extracts of the tumour tissue. The posterior pituitary gland of this patient had been completely destroyed by a metastatic deposit.

This syndrome has now been described in a large number

of patients, and the pathological conditions known to be associated with inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion have been well classified in recent review articles⁶, ⁷.

The diagnostic features of the syndrome have been enumerated by Goldberg 6 thus:-

(1) Hyponatraemia and hypotonicity, with a urine hypertonic to plasma.

(2) Significant urinary sodium excretion despite hyponatraemia.

(3) Normal renal and adrenal function.

(4) Absence of clinical dehydration or oedema.

(5) Improvement of both hyponatraemia and urinary sodium loss by water deprivation.

This chapter reports the findings of muscle biopsy analysis of body water and electrolytes in a group of patients with inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Five patients have been studied, 2 prior to any treatment, 2 before and after water deprivation, and 1 after water deprivation only. The primary pathological conditions were:- bronchogenic carcinoma, hypothyroidism, antidiuretic hormone secreting pituitary tumour, pulmonary tuberculosis (one case each), and the diagnosis

TABLE XXXIV

SERUM-ELECTROLYTE VALUES OF THE PATIENTS WITH

INAPPROPRIATE SECRETION OF ANTI-DIURETIC HORMONE

		SERUM (meq.)	-ELECTROL	YTE CONCENTRAT	TIONS (mg. per 100 ml.)
PATIENT	SODIUM	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE	BICARBONATE	UREA
UNTREATED					
1	110	4.3	82	21.5	31
2	109	4.6	81	18.5	21
3	121	3.9	84	25•5	18
4	132	4.2	96	22.5	20
WATER DEPRIVED					
1	141	3•9	102	25.5	48
2	134	4•7	100	18.5	41
5	138	4.6	94	31	34
·					

1

TABLE XXXV

INDIVIDUAL BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF THE PATIENTS WITH

INAPPROPRIATE SECRETION OF ANTI-DIURETIC HORMONE

CTROLYTES tre)	CHLORIDE		к к к к 4 4 г 7 4 г	4°0		4°3	3 . 9
LLULAR ELE eq. per li	POTASSIUM		163 159 148	168		175 176	168
INTRACE (m	MUIDOS		17 16	0	````	9 6I	21
ELECTROLYTES LY wt.)	CHLORIDE		122 112 106	123		130 108	104
Y-SPECIMEN per Kg. d	POTASSIUM		378 392 447	404		375 380	402
TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	NUICOS		169 191	157		179 172	189
IN WATER Lry wt.)	INTRACELLULAR		2327 2430 3009	2367		2123 2127	2371
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	EXTRACELLULAR		1396 1280 1137	1185		1184 987	1003
	TOTAL		3723 3710 4146	3553		3307	3374
	PATI ENT	UNTREATED	<u>н</u> 0 м	4	WATER DEPRIVED	-1 0	5

TABLE XXXVI

•

MEAN BIOPSY-SPECIMEN VALUES OF THE TWO GROUPS OF PATIENTS WITH INAPPROPRIATE

SECRETION OF ANTIDIURETIC HORMONE, COMPARED TO THE NORMAL MEAN VALUES

		BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	IN WATER Lry wt.)	TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	Y-SPECIMEN per Kg. d	ELECTROLYTES LY wt.)	INTRACI (I	SLLULAR ELF meq. per li	CTROLYTES tre)
GROUP	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	NULCOS	MUISSATOT	CHLOR IDE	SODIUM	POTASS IUM	CHLORIDE
NORMAIS MEAN S.D.	3187 168	703 135	2483 180	136 27	429 32	82 14	15 7	172 8	4•3 0•2
UNTREATED MEAN S.D.	3783 254	1250 114	2533 320	174 15	405 30	116 8	10 7	159 9	3.6 0.3
WATER DEPRIVED MEAN S.D.	3265 134	1058 109	2207 140	180 9	386 14	114 14	15 8	173 4	4•1 0.2

TABLE XXXVII

-

STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE BETWEEN GROUPS SHOWN IN TABLE XXXVI

~

	B]	OPSY-SPECIMEN	VATER	TOTAL BIOPS	Y-SPEC DEN	ELECTROL TTES	INTRACE	ILUIAR KLE	CTROLITES
GROUP	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	DURACELLULAR	NULCOS	POTASS IUM	CELOR IDE	SCDIUM	POTASS IUM	CHLOR IDE
NORMAL VS. UNTREATED	P<0.001	P < 0,001	N.S.	P<0.01	B •S•	P<0.001	H.S.	P <0.005	P < 0.001
NORMAL VS. H ₂ O DEPRIVED	N.S.	P<0.001	P <0.01	P<0.01	P <0.05	P <0.001	H.S.	H.S.	P<0.001
UNTREATED VS. E20 DEPRIVED	P<0. 05	и•S.	N.S.	E.S.	E.S.	°S F	и.S.	N.S.	E.S.

is as yet obscure in one patient. All presented with severe hyponatraemia, and on investigation all satisfied the criteria for the diagnosis of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion as laid down above.

Biopsy-specimens were taken from the vastus lateralis muscle in each case, and the results have been compared to the mean values of the series of 42 normal subjects. Biopsy-specimens were taken, analysed and partitioned as described previously.

RESULTS

Serum-electrolyte values of the two groups of patients, that is untreated patients and patients after water deprivation, are shown in Table XXXIV. Normal serum-electrolyte ranges are:sodium, 135 - 148 meq. per litre; potassium, 4.1 - 5.5 meq. per litre; chloride, 96 - 106 meq. per litre; and bicarbonate, 24 - 31 meq. per litre.

Individual biopsy-specimen results are shown in Table XXXV. The mean values of the two groups are compared to the mean normal values in Table XXXVI, and the statistical significance of any differences are shown in Table XXXVII. The results may be summarised thus:-

(1) Untreated group:- total water, extracellular water, and

total sodium and chloride contents are significantly increased. Intracellular water is greater than normal, and total potassium content is less than normal; meither reach statistical significance, but as a result of these changes the mean intracellular potassium concentration is significantly reduced. The intracellular sodium concentration is normal in all cases.

(2) Water deprived group:- comparison of patients number 1 and 2 in the two groups show the changes occurring in individual patients. Total, extracellular and intracellular water contents all fall, though the values for extracellular water still lie outwith the normal range. Total electrolyte contents are virtually unchanged, but as a result of the loss of intracellular water, the intracellular potassium concentrations have become quite normal. Water balance studies and the weight loss of these patients suggested a loss of 2,400 and 3,200 mls. of water respectively during the period of water deprivation; this is in close agreement with the water loss calculated on the basis of the biopsy-specimen results.

In the group as a whole, the mean extracellular water, and sodium and chloride contents are still significantly greater than normal; intracellular water and total potassium content are both significantly reduced. Intracellular electrolyte concentrations are quite normal.

112.

The changes in mean water content of the two groups before and after water deprivation are quite obvious, but because of the small groups studied the reduction in total water content is the only value to reach statistical significance.

DISCUSSION

The most consistent findings of other workers studying the metabolic imbalance of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone have been an increased total body water and extracellular water^{3, 7-9}, and the results of this study are in agreement with these findings.

Measurement of body sodium content in such patients has given variable results. Grantham, et. al.⁸ found a high sodium content in one patient studied by muscle biopsy analysis, but Kaye¹⁰ found biopsy-specimen contents ranging from higher to lower than normal in a group of patients with inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone. Total exchangeable sodium contents have been reported as normal³, ⁸ or high⁸. The results of this study suggest that there is a tendency towards an increased body sodium content, although the biopsy-specimen sodium content was above the normal range in only one patient. It would seem a logical response of the body to try to increase sodium content in an attempt to restore isotonicity of the extracellular fluid, but

113.

this finding might be somewhat unexpected, as it is well known that urinary sodium excretion is high in these patients, and they have been shown to go into negative sodium balance as hyponatraemia develops⁷. However, "steady state" conditions then prevail at a new low serum sodium concentration, and under these circumstances neutral or slightly positive sodium balances are found⁶, 7, 10, even though urinary loss of sodium is still high. The sodium loss during water loading may also be replaced by mobilisation of bone sodium, thus keeping the "exchangeable" fraction of the body sodium at higher than normal levels. Therefore, the moderate increases in biopsy-specimen sodium and chloride contents may be explained in this way.

There is evidence in this study of a tendency towards potassium loss in patients with inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone, which persists after fluid deprivation has restored the serum sodium concentration to normal. Balance studies have shown neutral⁷ or slightly negative¹¹ potassium balance, but loss of body potassium has been shown in these patients, both by isotope-dilution studies³ and by muscle biopsy analysis⁸, ¹⁰. The reduction in biopsy-specimen potassium content found in this study was never gross, but was consistent, only one patient having a potassium content greater than the normal mean value. It is not known whether the loss of potassium is a direct result of the syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion, or whether it is a manifestation of cachexia brought about by the primary pathological condition, but the findings of this study show that it is an important factor in the development of the clinical symptoms of the syndrome.

Bartter and Schwartz⁷ have postulated that the symptoms occurring in patients with inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone are the result of generalised hypotonicity of the body fluids, and thus of water intoxication, and the results presented here are in agreement with this concept. Intracellular hypotonicity is not so much the result of an increased intracellular water (only one patient having an intracellular water content greater than normal), but is essentially due to loss of intracellular Under normal circumstances of water metabolism, such potassium. a loss of potassium would be compensated by an equivalent loss of intracellular water, so that the intracellular potassium concentration would remain within normal limits (see Chapter III). However, because of hypotonicity of the extracellular water, and in order to maintain osmotic equilibrium across the cell membrane, water cannot leave the cell, and thus the intracellular potassium concentration falls, giving the symptoms of water intoxication. After water deprivation, water is lost from both extracellular and intracellular compartments, and the osmotic pressure on both

sides of the cell membrane returns towards normal, although now extracellular water and sodium are still present in excess and intracellular water and potassium are both lower than normal. However, as the contents of water and the principal cations are now balanced both in the extracellular phase and the cell, the serum sodium concentration and the intracellular potassium concentration both return to normal, and the patients become symptom-free.

SUMMARY

Biopsy-specimen water and electrolyte contents have been measured in 5 patients with inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone, 4 prior to treatment, and 3 after water deprivation (including repeat biopsies on 2 patients).

In the untreated patients total water, extracellular water and total sodium and chloride contents were greater than normal. Intracellular water was usually normal, but total potassium content tended to be low; as a result of this the intracellular potassium concentration was significantly reduced. There was no evidence of cellular uptake of sodium.

After treatment, total water content returned to normal, but extracellular water was still higher than normal and intracellular water became significantly lower than normal. Total electrolyte contents were unchanged, but the serum sodium and intracellular potassium concentrations were restored to normal by the loss of water.

The symptoms of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone are due to water intoxication; the hypotonicity of the extracellular fluid prevents movement of water out of the cell to balance potassium loss, and thus the intracellular potassium concentration falls. As a result of water deprivation, the intracellular water content is reduced, and the intracellular potassium concentration is restored to normal without any change in the potassium content within the cell.

REFERENCES

- WINKLER, A.W., CRANKSHAW, O.F. (1938) Chloride depletion in conditions other than Addison's disease. <u>J. clin.</u> <u>Invest.</u>, <u>17</u>, 1-6.
- 2. SIMS, E.A.H., WELT, L.G., ORLOFF, J., NEEDHAM, J.W. (1950) Asymptomatic hyponatremia in pulmonary tuberculosis. <u>J. clin. Invest.</u>, 29, 1545-1557.
- 3. SCHWARTZ, W.B., BENNETT, W., CURELOP, S., BARTTER, F.C. (1957) A syndome of renal sodium loss and hyponatremia probably resulting from inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone. <u>Am. J. Med.</u>, 23, 529-542.
- 4. EPSTEIN, F.H., LEVITIN, H. (1959) 'Cerebral Salt-wasting'. An example of sustained inappropriate release of antidiuretic hormone. <u>J. clin. Invest</u>., <u>38</u>, 1001.
- 5. BOWER, B.F., MASON, D.M., FORSHAM, P.H. (1964) Bronchogenic carcinoma with inappropriate antidiuretic activity in plasma and tumour. <u>New Engl. J. Med.</u>, <u>271</u>, 934-938.
- 6. GOLDBERG, M. (1963) Hyponatremia and the inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone. <u>Am. J. Med., 35</u>, 293-298.
- 7. BARTTER, F.C., SCHWARTZ, W.B. (1967) The syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone. Am. J. Med., 42, 790-806.
- 8. GRANTHAM, J.J., BROWN, R.W., SCHLOERB, P.R. (1965) Asymptomatic hyponatremia and bronchogenic carcinoma: the deleterious effect of diuretics. <u>Am. J. Med. Sci.</u>, <u>249</u>, 273-279.
- 9. BARRACLOUGH, M.A., JONES, J.J., LEE, J. (1966) Production of vasopressin by anaplastic oat-cell carcinoma of the bronchus. <u>Clin. Sci., 31</u>, 135-144.
- 10. KAYE, M. (1966) An investigation into the cause of hyponatremia in the syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone. <u>Am. J. Med.</u>, <u>41</u>, 910-926.

11. STORMONT, J.M., WATERHOUSE, C. (1961) The genesis of hyponatraemia associated with marked overhydration and water intoxication. <u>Circulation</u>, 24, 191-203.

CHAPTER X1

WATER AND ELECTROLYTE METABOLISM IN

DISORDERS OF ADRENAL CORTICAL FUNCTION

The patients described in this chapter all had adrenal cortical dysfunction. Three groups will be discussed, hyperaldosteronism, both primary and secondary to ischaemic renal disease, Cushing's syndrome, and adrenocorticotrophin-secreting bronchogenic carcinoma.

METHODS

Biopsy-specimens were taken from the vastus lateralis muscle in each case and the results are compared to the mean values of the group of 42 normal subjects. The biopsy-specimens were taken, analysed and partitioned as described in Chapter II.

PART 1 - HYPERALDOSTERONISM

INTRODUCTION

Primary hyperaldosteronism is an important cause of hypertension, in that surgical removal of the adrenal lesion will cure the hypertension. Conn and Louis¹ first described a hypertensive patient with hypernatraemia, hypokalaemia, and alkalosis, associated with extreme resistance to potassium repletion, and who was found to have an adenoma of one adrenal gland. Many cases have now been described in the literature, and the findings of large series have recently been published^{2, 3}. With the development of techniques of assay of aldosterone and renin, it became apparent that excessive aldosterone production could also be found in hypertensive patients who did not have adrenal tumours. This "secondary hyperaldosteronism"³ was reported in patients with ischaemic renal disease, accelerated and malignant hypertension, and often in patients with congestive cardiac failure or hepatic cirrhosis⁴. It was noted that such patients also had high plasma renin levels⁵, in contrast to patients with primary hyperaldosteronism in whom the plasma renin is usually lowered^{3, 6}, and the high renin concentrations were thought to be the cause of the raised aldosterone levels found.

Aldosterone is known to increase renal tubular reabsorption of sodium at the expense of potassium⁷, and it is of interest therefore to establish the effects of hyperaldosteronism on body water and electrolyte contents.

PATIENTS

Five patients have been studied, 3 with primary hyperaldosteronism, known to be due to adrenal adenomata, and 2 with secondary hyperaldosteronism due to unilateral renal artery stenosis. Plasma aldosterone levels were high in all the patients, ranging from 24 - 116 mpg. per 100 ml., normal values being less than 18 mpg. per 100 ml. (method of Fraser and James⁸). Plasma

TABLE XXXVIII

AGE, AETIOLOGY AND SERUM-ELECTROLYTE VALUES OF PATIENTS WITH HYPERALDOSTERONISM

(•12 001	A
RATIONS (mg. per]	c UREJ
LYTE CONCENT	BICARBONATE
M-ELECTROI i tre)	CHLORIDE
SERUN eq. per li	POTASS IUM
) 一 一	I WUIGOS
	AETIOLOGY OF HYPERALDOSTERONISM
	AGE AET
	PAT LENT

TABLE XXXIX

INDIVIDUAL BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF PATIENTS WITH HYPERALDOSTERONISM

CTROLYTES tre)	CHLORIDE	4•5	4•3	4•5	4•0	4•5	
LLULAR ELF eq. per li	POTASSIUM	159	172	144	164	174	
INTRACE (m	NUIDOS	30	30	33	27	26	
ELECTROLYTES ry wt.)	CHLORIDE	102	68	102	711	113	
Y-SPECIMEN per Kg. d	POTASSIUM	380	420	336	382	375	
TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	MULCIOS	191	187	203	216	195	
IN WATER Lry wt.)	INTRACELLULAR	2371	2409	2329	2309	2143	
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	EXTRACELLULAR	850	753	842	6011	963	
	TOTAL	3221	3162	3172	3419	3107	
	PATIENT	ы	N	Ň	4	5	

TABLE XL

MEAN BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF THE GROUP OF PATIENTS WITH

HYPERALDOSTERONISM COMPARED TO NORMAL MEAN VALUES

		BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	N WATER ry wt.)	TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	Y-SPECIMEN per Kg. d	ELECTROLYTES ry wt.)	INTRACE (m	LLULAR ELE eq. per li	CTROLYTES tre)
	POTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLULAR	MUICOS	POTASS IUM	CHLORIDE	MUIDOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE
MEAN S.D.	3187 168	70 3 135	2483 180	136 27	429 32	82 14	т5 Т7	172 8	4°3 0°2
ONISM MEAN S.D.	3216 120	903 137	2312 102	198 11	378 30	105 11	29 3	163 12	4.4 0.2
	N°S.	< 0°05	< 0°05	T00°0≯	<0.05	۲0°00	100°0>	<0•05	۲0°05

N.S. = not significant

•

renin levels, measured by the method of Brown, et. al.⁹, were consistently low in the 3 patients with primary hyperaldosteronism, and consistently high in both patients with secondary hyperaldosteronism (normal range 4 - 20 units per litre³).

RESULTS

Age, actiology and serum-electrolyte concentrations of the patients are shown in Table XXXVIII. Normal serum-electrolyte ranges are:- sodium, 135 - 148 meq. per litre; potassium, 4.1 - 5.5 meq. per litre; chloride, 96 - 106 meq. per litre; and bicarbonate, 24 - 31 meq. per litre. Only one patient had a high serum sodium concentration, but 4 of the 5 patients were hypokalaemic at the time of biopsy.

Individual biopsy-specimen results of the patients are shown in Table XXXIX, and the mean values of the group are compared to the mean normal values in Table XL. The findings may be summarised thus:- total water is normal, but there is a consistent slight expansion of extracellular water and reduction in intracellular water, the mean values being significantly greater and less than normal respectively. Total sodium and chloride contents are significantly raised, and total potassium content is significantly reduced. The mean intracellular potassium concentration is lower than normal, and the mean intracellular sodium and chloride TABLE XLI

BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF A PATIENT WITH PRIMARY HYPERALDOSTERONISM

BEFORE AND AFTER TREATMENT WITH SPIRONOLACTONE

COTROLYTES [tre]	CHLORIDE	4•5 4•3
ILLULAR ELI ieq. per li	MULSSATOA	159 173
INTRACE (m	NULCOS	30 15
ELECTROLYTES ry wt.)	CHLORIDE	102 65
Y-SFECIMEN per Kg. d	POTASSIUM	380 417
TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	NULCION	191 109
IN WATER [ry wt.)	INTRACELLULAR	2371 2416
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	EXTRACELLULAR	850 526
	TOTAL	3221 2942
	BIOPSY	IN ITIAL AFTER TREATMENT (1 month later)

concentrations are significantly increased (the intracellular sodium concentration lying above the normal range in 3 individual patients, and at the upper limit of normal in the other 2 patients).

One patient with primary hyperaldosteronism was studied before and after treatment with the aldosterone antagonist, Serum-electrolyte values at the time of initial spironolactone. biopsy are shown in Table XXXVIII (patient number 1), and after treatment with spironolactone for one month the serum-electrolyte concentrations were:sodium, 138 meq. per litre; potassium, 4.7 meq. per litre; chloride, 104 meq. per litre; bicarbonate, 26 meq. per litre; and urea, 30 mg. per 100 ml. Table XLI shows the biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes before and after treatment, and it can be seen that extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents have fallen, there has been a slight increase in intracellular water and potassium content, and the intracellular electrolyte concentrations have become completely normal after treatment.

DISCUSSION

Aldosterone is known to produce renal retention of sodium and to increase urinary potassium loss, and therefore these patients with hyperaldosteronism show an increase in biopsy-specimen

123.

sodium and chloride contents and a reduction in potassium content. Similar muscle-biopsy changes have been reported in patients with primary hyperaldosteronism¹, ¹⁰, and high exchangeable sodium and low exchangeable potassium contents have been reported in 3 patients with this condition¹¹.

The mean intracellular potassium concentration of this group of patients is significantly lower than normal, but the individual values are variable. In a carefully controlled series of <u>in vitro</u> experiments, Adler¹² showed a significant fall in potassium content and intracellular concentration of skeletal muscle exposed to aldosterone, but he also noted variability in the response of individual muscles to aldosterone.

The intracellular sodium concentration was consistently raised in this group of patients; this has also been shown in <u>in vitro</u> studies^{12, 13}. Richards, et. al.¹⁴, however, reported that the sodium content of tissue culture cells fell after exposure to aldosterone; these were laryngeal carcinoma cells, and this fact, or the conditions of the tissue culture may explain this discrepant finding. It is interesting to note at this point that the experimental work leading to the widely held view that intracellular sodium was increased in potassium-deficiency states was carried out in animals who had been given mineralocorticoids to speed the development of potassium depletion¹⁵⁻¹⁷. Aldosterone must produce movement of sodium into and potassium out of renal tubular cells to give its known effect on the urine, and it is an attractive hypothesis that it has a similar action on muscle cells.

This is the only group of patients studied in this thesis in which there has been any consistent evidence to suggest replacement of intracellular potassium with sodium, and it seems likely that this may be due to a direct effect of aldosterone on the cell membrane; the high intracellular sodium concentrations noted in occasional individual patients in earlier chapters of this thesis may have been a result of secondary hyperaldosteronism due to their primary illness, but no consistent effect was seen, and aldosterone secretion was not measured in these patients.

SUMMARY

Biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes have been measured in 3 patients with primary hyperaldosteronism and 2 patients with hyperaldosteronism due to ischaemic renal disease.

Extracellular water and total sodium and chloride contents were increased, and intracellular water and total potassium content were reduced in these patients.

Intracellular potassium concentration tended to be low, and there was a consistent increase in intracellular sodium concentration, which has not been found in any other group of patients studied so far, and seems likely to be due to a direct effect of aldosterone on the cell membrane.

PART II - CUSHING'S SYNDROME

INTRODUCTION

In 1932, Cushing published the first accounts of patients with the clinical syndrome due to excessive production of cortisol by the adrenal cortex, which now bears his name^{18, 19}. Since that time much has become known about the adrenal cortical malfunction in Cushing's syndrome, and about the diagnostic criteria of the condition²⁰, but there is surprisingly little information available regarding body water and electrolyte changes in Cushing's syndrome.

For this reason biopsy-specimen results of 2 patients with Cushing's syndrome are presented here, although any conclusions based on the findings in 2 patients only will obviously require to be treated with caution.

PATIENTS

Two patients with untreated Cushing's syndrome have been studied. Both showed the characteristic stigmata of the syndrome,

TABLE XLII

INDIVIDUAL BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF TWO PATIENTS WITH UNTREATED CUSHING'S SYNDROME

ICTROLYTES [tre]	CHLORIDE	4•2	4•3	
LLULAR ELF	POTASSIUM	169	178	
INTERACE (D	MULTOS	15	15	
ELECTROLYTES LY wt.)	CHLORIDE	122	132	
Y-SPECIMEN Per Kg. d	MUISSATOT	142	374	
TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	MULIOS	190	207	
IN WATER LEY wt.)	INTRACELLULAR	1988	2079	
BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	EXTRACELLULAR	1137	1210	
	TOTAL	3125	3289	
	PATIENT	г	N	

and investigation revealed high plasma cortisol values and increased urinary excretion of cortisol metabolites. The second of these patients had mild ankle oedema.

RESULTS

The serum electrolyte values of the 2 patients at the time of biopsy were (patient number 1 first);- sodium, 141, 145 meq. per litre; potassium, 3.6, 3.7 meq. per litre; chloride, 100, 102 meq. per litre; bicarbonate, 30.5, 28 meq. per litre; and urea, 36, 44 mg. per 100 ml.

Biopsy-specimen results of the patients are shown in Table XLII. Extracellular water lies above the normal range, and intracellular water below the normal range in both cases. Total sodium and chloride contents are high, and total potassium content is low. Because both intracellular water and total potassium contents are reciprocally reduced the intracellular potassium concentrations are quite normal. Intracellular sodium and chloride concentrations are also normal.

DISCUSSION

The published evidence available on water and electrolyte imbalance in Cushing's syndrome suggests that patients with this syndrome tend to be overhydrated^{21, 22}, to have total exchangeable sodium contents within the normal range^{20, 23} and to have total exchangeable potassium contents lower than normal^{20, 22}, or within the normal range²³. The loss of lean body mass and gain in body fat commonly found in patients with Cushing's syndrome²⁰⁻²³ makes interpretation of the results of isotope-dilution studies difficult, but all the above authors have noted that the ratio of exchangeable sodium to potassium is higher than normal in patients with Cushing's syndrome, suggesting gain of body sodium and/or loss of body potassium. The results of this study show that skeletal muscle has a higher sodium content and a lower potassium content per unit of muscle tissue, and this suggests an actual gain of sodium and loss of potassium from the body irrespective of changes in the content of lean tissue and fat in the body.

Biopsy-specimen extracellular water is increased in both patients, but intracellular water is reduced, and thus total water content is within normal limits. This agrees with the findings of Ernest²², who showed that water loss during treatment of patient with Cushing's syndrome was only 700 ml. on average, and this water was thought to come from the extracellular phase.

Finally, although these patients show somewhat similar changes in biopsy-specimen water and electrolyte contents to those found in patients with hyperaldosteronism, in neither patient is there any evidence of increased sodium entry into the cell, and the loss of potassium content from the cell is balanced by an equivalent loss of intracellular water so that the intracellular potassium concentration also remains quite normal. Adler¹² showed that cortisol did not affect intracellular potassium concentration in in vitro experiments.

SUMMARY

Biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes have been measured in two patients with untreated Cushing's syndrome.

Extracellular water and total sodium and chloride contents are greater than normal, and intracellular water and total potassium content are less than normal in both patients.

The loss of potassium is balanced by loss of intracellular water so that the intracellular potassium concentration remains normal; there is no evidence of an increase of cell sodium in these patients.

PART III - ADRENOCORTICOTROPHIN-SECRETING BRONCHOGENIC CARCINOMA

INTRODUCTION

Adrenal cortical overactivity resulting from excess production of adrenocorticotrophin from non-pituitary sources has

been recognised for some time. It is most common in association with oat-cell or anaplastic bronchogenic carcinoma, but has also been noted with other tumours, particularly of pancreas, thyroid and thymus^{24, 25}. Meador, et. al.²⁴ were first to identify adrenocorticotrophin-like material from extracts of tumour tissue in such patients, which confirmed the actiology of the adrenal overactivity. Although the most common endocrine abnormality found is an overproduction of cortisol, a pattern of electrolyte loss is often seen suggestive of excess mineralocorticoid activity which is extremely rare in non-malignant Cushing's syndrome²⁵. These patients usually develop severe hypokalaemic alkalosis which seems to be the main differentiating factor between patients with ectopic adrenocorticotrophin secretion and non-malignant Cushing's syndrome^{25, 26}. Also, patients with ectopic adrenocorticotrophin secretion usually die very quickly as a result of their primary tumour, and thus rarely develop the stigmata of Cushing's syndrome.

PATIENT AND RESULTS

The patient, a male aged 67 years, presented to his own practitioner complaining of rapid onset of ankle oedema and breathlessness. Treatment with a diuretic proved unsuccessful and he developed muscle weakness and mild mental confusion. He was then admitted to hospital for further investigation.

130.

TABLE XLIII

BIOPSY-SPECIMEN RESULTS OF A PATIENT WITH AN ADRENOCORTICOTROPHIN SECRETING BRONCHOGENIC

CARCINOMA BEFORE AND AFTER TREATMENT WITH METYRAPONE AND POTASSIUM SUPPLEMENTS

		BIOPSY-SPECIME (ml. per Kg. d	IN WATER Lry wt.)	TOTAL BIOPS (meq.	Y-SPECIMEN per Kg. d.	ELECTROLYTES	INTRACE (m	lLLULAR ELF 194. per li	CTROLYTES tre)
BIOPSY	TOTAL	EXTRACELLULAR	INTRACELLUIAR	NULOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE	MULIOS	POTASSIUM	CHLORIDE
INITIAL	3516	1199	2317	248	379	115	Ľ.	163	3•7
AFTER TREATMENT (2 weeks later)	3634	869	2765	179	498	100	22	179	4•2

「花にないます」

Chest x-ray revealed a lesion strongly suggestive of a bronchogenic carcinoma, and serum electrolytes showed a severe hypokalaemic alkalosis, full figures being:- sodium, 147 meq. per litre; potassium, 1.4 meq. per litre; chloride, 89 meq. per litre; bicarbonate, 48 meq. per litre; and urea, 39 mg. per 100 A presumptive diagnosis of an adrenocorticotrophin-secreting ml. bronchogenic carcinoma was made, and a muscle biopsy was carried out, the results of which are shown in Table XLIII (initial biopsy). Extracellular water, and total sodium and chloride contents were all increased. Total potassium content and intracellular potassium concentration were both at the lower limit of normal. The intracellular sodium concentration was raised. Further investigation at this time revealed high plasma cortisol levels and increased urinary excretion of cortisol metabolites.

Metyrapone, an 11 β -hydroxylase inhibitor, has been shown to produce clinical improvement in some cases of adrenocorticotrophinsecreting tumours^{27, 28}, and the patient was therefore started on this drug with the addition of parenteral potassium supplements in large amounts (100 - 160 meq. per day). Serum potassium and bicarbonate concentrations slowly returned to normal on this treatment, and the ankle oedema became less, although mental confusion remained and the patient's general condition continued to deteriorate. After 10 days, the serum-electrolyte concentrations were:- sodium, 136 meq. per litre; potassium, 5.2 meq. per litre; chloride, 102 meq. per litre; bicarbonate, 22 meq. per litre; and urea, 48 mg. per 100 ml., and the results of a repeat muscle biopsy at this time are shown in Table XLIII (after treatment biopsy). Extracellular and intracellular water now both lay at the upper limit of the normal range, total sodium and chloride contents had fallen, and there was a marked increased in the total potassium content. Intracellular electrolytes were now quite normal.

Despite this partial biochemical improvement, the patient died 3 days after this second biopsy, before any palliative treatment of the primary lung neoplasm could be carried out. Post-mortem confirmed the diagnosis of bronchogenic carcinoma with multiple soft-tissue metastases, and also confirmed the presence of bilateral adrenal hyperplasia.

DISCUSSION

Although the development of a severe hypokalaemic alkalosis is well recognised as a complication of the syndrome due to adrenocorticotrophin-secreting tumours, there is no published data on body water and electrolyte changes in this condition.

The initial biopsy-specimen results in this patient are interesting in that despite the extremely low serum potassium

concentration the total potassium content was still within the lower limit of the normal range. This "sparing" of the cell potassium store despite severe hypokalaemia is probably a result of the extracellular alkalosis, which has been shown to increase the uptake of potassium by the cell, or at least to inhibit movement of potassium out of the cell in severe hypokalaemia (see Chapter V on pyloric stenosis). The other interesting finding is the presence of a raised intracellular sodium concentration. This was not found in either of the patients with Cushing's syndrome, but was a common finding in the group with hyperaldosteronism. Plasma aldosterone levels were not measured in this patient, but the high intracellular sodium concentration raises the possibility that hyperaldosteronism was contributing to the biochemical upset of this patient.

After treatment with metyrapone there was a fall in extracellular water, and sodium and chloride contents. There was a dramatic increase in the biopsy-specimen potassium content, the patient having apparently retained about 1200 meq. of potassium in 10 days. This would suggest that metyrapone has blocked the production of mineralocorticoid hormones to such an extent that renal retention of potassium has been almost complete, and the body potassium content has risen to an excessively high level.

The clinical course of this patient is similar to previous
reports in that despite apparent biochemical improvement with metyrapone the patient still died very quickly²⁷. Patients who have had a long survival after adrenalectomy²⁹ or metyrapone therapy^{27, 28} have been reported, but in the main the diagnosis of excess adrenocorticotrophic activity in patients with malignant tumours has been followed by rapid clinical deterioration and death. It is not clear, however, whether the development of ectopic adrenocorticotrophic activity is a terminal event in these cases or whether the biochemical upset so produced accelerates the death of these patients.

SUMMARY

Biopsy-specimen water and electrolyte contents have been measured in a patient with an adrenocorticotrophin-secreting bronchogenic carcinoma, before and after treatment with metyrapone and potassium supplements.

The initial biopsy revealed expansion of extracellular water, and sodium and chloride contents. Total potassium content and intracellular potassium concentrations were low, but to a lesser extent than would have been expected from the severity of the extracellular hypokalaemia. Intracellular sodium concentration was raised.

After treatment extracellular water, and sodium and

chloride contents were lowered. There was a marked increase in total potassium content, the value now lying above the normal range. Intracellular electrolyte concentrations were normal.

These results suggest (i) that hyperaldosteronism may contribute to the biochemical upset in this condition, and (ii) that metyrapone blocked mineralocorticoid activity in this case to such an extent that excessive retention of the administered potassium resulted.

Despite the apparent biochemical improvement after treatment the patient died within one month of developing symptoms.

REFERENCES

- CONN, J.W., LOUIS, L.H. (1956) Primary aldosteronism, a new clinical entity. <u>Ann. intern. Med.</u>, <u>44</u>, 1-15.
- CONN, J.W., KNOPS, R.F., NESBIT, R.M. (1964) Clinical characteristics of primary aldosteronism from an analysis of 145 cases. <u>Am. J. Surg., 107</u>, 159-172.
- 3. BROWN, J.J., CHINN, R.H., DAVIES, D.L., DÜSTERDIECK, G., FRASER, R., LEVER, A.F., ROBERTSON, J.I.S., TREE, M., WISEMAN, A. (1968) Plasma electrolytes, renin, and aldosterone in the diagnosis of primary hyperaldosteronism. <u>Lancet</u>, <u>ii</u>, 55-59.
- 4. LEADING ARTICLE (1969) Management of primary and secondary hyperaldosteronism. Br. med. J., <u>ii</u>, 427-428.
- 5. BARRACLOUGH, M.A., BACCHUS, B., BROWN, J.J., DAVIES, D.L., LEVER, A.F., ROBERTSON, J.I.S. (1965) Plasma-renin and aldosterone secretion in hypertensive patients with renal or renal artery lesions. <u>Lancet</u>, <u>ii</u>, 1310-1313.
- 6. CONN, J.W., COHEN, E.L., ROVNER, D.R. (1964) Suppression of plasma renin activity in primary aldosteronism. J. Am. Med. Ass., 190, 312-325.
- 7. FERREBEE, J.W., PARKER, D., CARNES, W.H., GERITY, M.K., ATCHLEY, D.W., LOEB, R.F. (1941) Certain effects of desoxycorticosterone. <u>Am. J. Physiol.</u>, <u>135</u>, 230-237.
- 8. FRASER, R., JAMES, V.H.T. (1968) Double isotope assay of aldosterone, corticosterone and cortisol in human peripheral plasma. J. Endocrin., 40, 59-72.
- 9. BROWN, J.J., DAVIES, D.L., LEVER, A.F., ROBERTSON, J.I.S., TREE, M. (1964) The estimation of renin in human plasma. <u>Biochem. J.</u>, <u>93</u>, 594-600.
- 10. MILNE, M.D., MUEHRCKE, R.C., AIRD, I. (1957) Primary hyperaldosteronism. <u>Ql. J. Med.</u>, <u>26</u>, 317-333.
- 11. CONN, J.W., COHEN, E.L., ROVNER, D.R., NESBIT, R.M. (1965) Normokalemic primary aldosteronism. J. Am. Med. Ass., 193, 200-206.

- 12. ADLER, S. (1970) An extrarenal action of aldosterone on mammalian skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol., 218, 616-621.
- FRENCH, I.W., MANERY, J.F. (1964) The effect of aldosterone on electrolytes in muscle, kidney cortex and serum. <u>Can.</u> <u>J. Biochem.</u>, <u>42</u>, 1459-1476.
- 14. RICHARDS, P., SMITH, K., METCALFE-GIBSON, A., WRONG, O. (1966) Action of d-aldosterone on the electrolyte composition of human cells grown <u>in vitro</u>. Lancet, <u>ii</u>, 1099-1102.
- 15. DARROW, D.C. (1946) Changes in muscle composition in alkalosis. J. clin. Invest., 25, 324-330.
- 16. COOKE, R.E., SEGAR, W.E., CHEEK, D.B., COVILLE, F.E., DARROW, D.C. (1952) The extrarenal correction of alkalosis associated with potassium deficiency. <u>J. clin. Invest.</u>, <u>31</u>, 798-805.
- 17. CHEEK, D.B., WEST, C.D. (1956) Alterations in body composition with sodium loading and potassium restriction in the rat: the total body sodium, nitrogen, magnesium and calcium. J. clin. Invest., 35, 763-774.
- CUSHING, H. (1932) The basophil adenomas of the pituitary body and their clinical manifestations (pituitary basophilism). <u>Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp., 50</u>, 137-195.
- 19. CUSHING, H. (1932) Further notes on pituitary basophilism. J. Am. Med. Ass., 29, 281-284.
- 20. ROSS, E.J., MARSHALL-JONES, P., FRIEDMAN, M. (1966) Cushing's syndrome: diagnostic criteria. <u>Ql. J. Med.</u>, <u>35</u>, 149-192.
- 21. KYLE, L.H., CANARY, J.J., WERDEIN, E.J., CLIVE, D. (1963) Body composition before and after surgical correction of Cushing's syndrome. <u>Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., 110</u>, 1009-1017.
- 22. ERNEST, I. (1967) Changes in body composition: after therapeutically induced remission in 12 cases of Cushing's syndrome. <u>Acta Endocr. (Kobenhavn)</u>, <u>54</u>, 411-427.
- 23. BROOKS, R.V., McSWINEY, R.R., MATTINGLY, D., PRUNTY, F.T.G. (1959) Metabolic changes resulting from ⁹⁰Yt irradiation of the pituitary in a patient with Cushing's syndrome. J. Endocrin., 19, 366-376.

- 24. MEADOR, C.K., LIDDLE, G.W., ISLAND, D.P., NICHOLSON, W.E., LUCAS, C.P., NUCKTON, J.G., LUETSCHER, J.A. (1962) Cause of Cushing's syndrome in patients with tumors arising from 'nonendocrine' tissue. J. Clin. Endocr., 22, 693-703.
- 25. FRIEDMAN, M., MARSHALL-JONES, P., ROSS, E.J. (1966) Cushing's syndrome: adrenocortical hyper-activity secondary to neoplasm arising outside the pituitary-adrenal system. <u>Q1. J. Med.</u>, <u>35</u>, 193-214.
- 26. ROSS, E.J. (1966) Endocrine syndromes of non-endocrine origin. <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. Med.</u>, <u>59</u>, <u>335-338</u>.
- 27. O'RIORDAN, J.L.H., BLANSHARD, G.P., MOXHAM, A., NABARRO, J.D.N. (1966) Corticotrophin-secreting carcinomas. <u>Ql. J. Med.</u>, <u>35</u>, 137-147.
- 28. COLL, R., HORNER, I., KRAIEM, Z., GAFNI, J. (1968) Successful metyrapone therapy of the ectopic ACTH syndrome. <u>Arch.</u> <u>intern. Med.</u>, <u>121</u>, 549-553.
- 29. ENGEL, F.L., KAHANA, L. (1963) Cushing's syndrome with malignant corticotrophin-producing tumor. <u>Am. J. Med.</u>, <u>34</u>, 726-734.

CHAPTER XII

.

THE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN EXTRACELLULAR AND INTRACELLULAR

WATER AND ELECTROLYTES IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

INTRODUCTION

The aim of this chapter is to pool all the available information on biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes in health and disease, in order to examine the relationship between extracellular and intracellular content and concentration of electrolytes, and to see if the intracellular water and electrolyte of skeletal muscle may be predicted under changing conditions of extracellular water and electrolyte contents.

It is a widely held view that body cells behave as osmometers, and that water is passively distributed between cell and extracellular space to maintain osmotic equilibrium across the cell membrane. The original work on which this view was based was carried out under in vitro experimental conditions (see review article by Conway¹). However, Leaf, et. al.² found evidence of the osmotic homogeneity of the body in in vivo animal experiments, and Wynn³ showed that extracellular osmolarity in a wide variety of clinical conditions in man was a function of the total body water and electrolyte content. Edelman, et. al.⁴ then published their classical paper showing the relationship between the serum sodium concentration and the total cation concentrations of the body. Nearly all abnormalities of the serum sodium concentration were explainable on this basis, and this was good evidence in favour of the concept of osmotic homogeneity of the body tissues.

139.

TABLE XLIV

CLINICAL CONDITIONS OF 117 ILL

PATIENTS STUDIED IN CHAPTER XII

DIAGNOSIS	NUMBER OF PATIENTS
Pyloric stenosis	18
Chronic renal failure	22
Acute renal failure	12
Acute-on-chronic renal failure	8
Congestive cardiac failure	14
Adrenal cortical dysfunction	8
Uretero-colic anastomosis	6
Chronic diarrhoea	6
Diabetic comas	6
Inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion	5
Others	12
Total	117

東京市の一人

This relationship will be re-examined in this chapter, and further evidence of the osmotic control of intracellular water and electrolytes will be presented.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Biopsy-specimen water and electrolyte results from 42 normal subjects (described in Chapter III) and from 117 ill patients have been studied. Repeat biopsy-specimen results on ill patients after treatment have been included in this study, thus there are 125 biopsy-specimens from this group, making a total of 167 results in all. Many of the biopsy-specimen results have been discussed in individual chapters of this thesis, and the major clinical conditions of the ill patients are given in Table XLIV.

All biopsy-specimens were taken from the vastus lateralis muscle, and were analysed and partitioned as described in Chapter II.

RESULTS

Correlations have been studied between various serumelectrolyte concentrations and biopsy-specimen results, and the results are presented under 4 main headings.

1. Serum-electrolyte concentrations and biopsy-specimen electrolyte contents or intracellular concentrations

It has been shown before that serum-electrolyte concentrations correlate only poorly with the appropriate total body electrolyte contents⁵, and these findings are confirmed in this study, the regression equations being:-

(a) serum sodium concentration (x) to total biopsy-specimen
 sodium content (y):-

$$y = 0.775x + 55.76$$
 $r = 0.115$, P>0.05

(b) serum potassium concentration (x) to total biopsy-specimen potassium content (y):-

$$y = 1.456x + 351.76$$
 $r = 0.138$, $P < 0.001$

(c) serum chloride concentration (x) to total biopsy-specimen chloride content (y):-

$$y = 0.992x + 2.73$$
 $r = 0.311$, $P < 0.001$

Similarly the serum-electrolyte concentrations correlate poorly with the appropriate intracellular electrolyte concentration (except of course for chloride, where the method of partition used assumes a constant relationship between serum chloride and intracellular chloride concentrations of 24 to 1). Regression equations for sodium and potassium are:-

concentration (y):-

y = 0.412x - 40.80 r = 0.326, P < 0.001

(e) serum potassium concentration (x) to intracellular potassium concentration (y):-

y = 5.423x + 146.15 r = 0.349, P < 0.001

Although some of these regressions are statistically highly significant, it is obvious that the 95% confidence limits of the regression are such that any attempt to calculate the biopsy-specimen electrolyte content or intracellular concentration from these equations would be extremely inaccurate.

2. Biopsy-specimen water and cation contents

It has been shown by isotope-dilution studies that the sum of the total exchangeable sodium and potassium contents (comprising about 95% of the osmotically active cation of the body) correlates well with the total body water⁶, ⁷. This correlation shows an osmotic control of the total body water by the amount of cation within the body. Moore, et. al.⁷ have also shown in normal subjects that the exchangeable sodium content (being mainly extracellular) correlates well with extracellular water, and that the exchangeable potassium content (being mainly intracellular) correlates well with the intracellular water. These correlations have been confirmed in normal subjects in this thesis (see Figures



TOTAL WATER (ml/Kg dry wt)

Figure 27: Correlation between biopsy-specimen total water and the sum of the total sodium and potassium contents in the whole series.



EXTRACELLULAR WATER (ml/Kg dry wt)

Figure 28: Correlation between biopsy-specimen extracellular water and total sodium content in the whole series.





Figure 29:

Correlation between biopsy-specimen intracellular water and total potassium content in the whole series.

1, 2 and 3, Chapter III).

These relationships have now been re-examined using the total material available, and the results are shown in Figures 27, 28 and 29. If the relationships between water and total electrolyte content found in normal subjects are true indications of general mechanisms of fluid and electrolyte control, then the correlations for this larger series, over a wider range of clinical conditions should be better than those for the normal This is true for the relationships between total series alone. water and the sum of the sodium and potassium contents, and for extracellular water and sodium content. However, the relationship between intracellular water and potassium content is not so close in this total series as in the normal group alone. This suggests that the concept discussed in Chapter III of reciprocal movement of water and potassium into or out of the cell, thus keeping intracellular potassium concentrations within narrow limits, only holds good under normal conditions, when it may be assumed that extracellular tonicity remains normal. The relationship of the intracellular potassium concentration to body water and electrolytes is therefore not as simple as first thought, and further relationships will be shown later, which hold good under all conditions.

143.



Figure 30: Correlation between total cation concentration and serum sodium concentration in the whole series.

3. Serum-electrolyte concentrations and the total cation concentration

The sum of the exchangeable sodium and potassium contents of the body, measured by isotope-dilution, comprises about 95% of the osmotically active cation of the body⁷. Therefore when this sum is divided by the total water content a figure is obtained which approximates closely to the total cation concentration of the body. Edelman, et. al.⁴ were first to show that the serum sodium concentration was a function of the total cation concentration of the body over a wide range of clinical conditions. This is the best evidence to date of the passive distribution of body water across the cell membrane, and of the osmotic homogeneity between cells and extracellular fluid. Moore, et. al.⁷ repeated this work, without taking into account serum water content, and found that the serum sodium concentration (y) correlated to the total cation concentration (x) in the following relationship:-

$$y = 0.333x + 84.0$$
 $r = 0.52$, $P < 0.01$

The same relationship in this series is shown in Figure 30, and the regression equation and correlation coefficient found are very similar to those found by Moore, et. al.⁷.

This finding is really a description of the relationship between the total extracellular cation concentration (to which sodium contributes the largest fraction) and the body cation



TOTAL SODIUM + POTASSIUM + TOTAL WATER (meg/L)

Figure 31: Correlation between total cation concentration and the sum of the serum sodium and potassium concentrations in the whole series.



TOTAL SODIUM + POTASSIUM + TOTAL WATER (meg/L)

Figure 32: Correlation between total cation concentration and intracellular potassium concentration in the whole series.

concentration, and as would therefore be expected, the correlation is slightly improved when the serum sodium plus potassium concentrations are related to the total cation concentration (Figure 31).

4. Intracellular electrolyte concentrations and the total cation concentration

If the cells and the extracellular space are in osmotic equilibrium, as suggested by the correlations just described, then the intracellular potassium concentration (the principal intracellular cation) should also correlate well with the total cation concentration. This has been indeed shown in normal subjects using isotope-dilution methods⁷, and also in normal subjects by biopsy-specimen analysis (see Figure 5, Chapter III).

Figure 32 shows this same relationship for the 167 biopsy-specimen results studied in this series; there is a highly significant and close correlation, and the regression equation obtained is very similar to that found in normal subjects alone.

Again, such a correlation is really a description of the relationship between the total intracellular cation concentration and the total body cation concentration, and when the sum of the intracellular sodium and potassium concentrations are related to the total cation concentration, the correlation found is extremely



Figure 33: Correlation between total cation concentration and the sum of the intracellular sodium and potassium concentrations in 42 normal subjects.





Figure 34: Correlation between total cation concentration and the sum of the intracellular sodium and potassium concentrations in the whole series. close, both in normal subjects alone (Figure 33) and in the total series (Figure 34). The sum of the intracellular sodium and potassium concentrations is the major fraction of the total intracellular cation concentration, only magnesium contributing any further appreciable amount (about 17 - 20 meq. per litre under normal conditions⁸).

This therefore is good evidence in favour of osmotic control of cell water and electrolyte concentrations over a wide variety of pathological conditions, and also of the belief that there are no sustained osmotic gradients across the cell membrane²⁻⁴.

DISCUSSION

The strong relationships found in this series between total water and the sum of the total sodium and potassium contents, between serum sodium concentration (and serum sodium plus potassium concentrations) and the total cation concentration, and between intracellular potassium concentration (and intracellular sodium plus potassium concentrations) and the total cation concentration, all favour the concept of osmotic homogeneity of the cells with the extracellular water. The relationships between the intracellular cation concentrations and the total cation concentration have never been reported before under abnormal conditions, although, Moore, et. al.⁷ showed a similar correlation to that found in this series between intracellular potassium concentration and total cation concentration in normal subjects. This therefore shows that the intracellular electrolyte concentrations in a wide range of clinical conditions are dependent on osmotic equilibrium between cells and extracellular fluid, in an exactly similar manner to the control of the serum electrolyte concentrations. Intracellular cation concentrations may therefore be predicted with considerable accuracy on the basis of total water, sodium and potassium contents, whether measured by muscle biopsy analysis or by isotope-dilution studies.

The regression equations found between various biopsy-specimen results as reported in this chapter are very similar to regression equations reported for the same parameters measured by isotope-dilution by Moore, et. al.⁷. This therefore, tends to confirm the beliefs stated in Chapter II of this thesis that the water and electrolyte values obtained by muscle biopsy analysis are an accurate reflection of total body water and electrolyte status.

Intracellular electrolyte concentrations are estimated in this study after partition of the total water content into extracellular and intracellular phases, which is carried out on the assumption that the biopsy-specimen chloride content is passively distributed between cells and extracellular fluid on the basis of a relatively constant cell membrane potential. The fact that the

147.

intracellular electrolyte concentrations calculated in this way bear such a close correlation to the total cation concentration, a function of the total water, sodium and potassium contents of the biopsy-specimen, suggests that this method of partition of the water and electrolytes gives a good indication of the actual intracellular water and electrolyte concentrations of the patients at the time of biopsy, both under normal and abnormal conditions.

Finally, the close correlation between intracellular sodium plus potassium concentrations and the total cation concentration make it extremely unlikely that significant osmotic inactivation of cell cation occurs in the clinical conditions studied in this series. Elkinton, et. al. ⁹ studied the hypothesis of body fluid iso-osmolarity, and concluded that a significant and variable fraction of cell cation was osmotically inactive. Osmotic inactivation of cell cation has been postulated by other workers to explain discrepancies found between body water and cation content, especially in congestive cardiac failure, although this has not been found in other studies (see Chapter IX). The results of this present investigation are in agreement with the conclusions of Edelman, et. al.⁴ that body water is passively distributed in proportion to osmotic activity, and that all or almost all of the body potassium is osmotically active.

148.

SUMMARY

One hundred and sixty-seven biopsy-specimen results from 42 normal subjects and 117 ill patients have been analysed to assess the relationships between body water and electrolyte contents and concentrations.

Serum-electrolyte concentrations correlate only poorly with the appropriate total biopsy-specimen content or intracellular concentration.

Good correlations are found between the following sets of measurements:-

- (i) total water to total sodium plus potassium contents.
- (ii) extracellular water to total sodium content.
- (iii) intracellular water to total potassium content.
- (iv) serum sodium concentration to total cation concentration
 (the sum of the total sodium plus potassium contents
 divided by the total water).
- (v) serum sodium plus potassium concentrations to total cation concentration.
- (vi) intracellular potassium concentration to total cation concentration.
- (vii) intracellular sodium plus potassium concentrations to total cation concentration.

The conclusions reached from these results are:-

- body water is passively distributed between cells and
 extracellular space according to osmotic activity, and that
 no sustained osmotic gradient exists across the cell membrane.
- (ii) there is no significant osmotic inactivation of intracellular cation in the conditions studied in this series.
- (iii) the technique of analysis and partition of the biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes appears to be accurate in a wide range of pathological conditions.

REFERENCES

- 1. CONWAY, E.J. (1957) Nature and significance of concentration relations of potassium and sodium ions in skeletal muscle. <u>Physiol. Rev.</u>, <u>37</u>, 84-132.
- 2. LEAF, A., CHATILLON, J.A., WRONG, O., TUTTLE, E.P.Jr. (1954) The mechanisms of the osmotic adjustment of body cells as determined in vivo by the volume of distribution of a large water load. J. clin. Invest., 33, 1261-1268.
- WYNN, V. (1957) The osmotic behaviour of the body cells in man. Lancet, <u>ii</u>, 1212-1218.
- 4. EDELMAN, I.S., LEIBMAN, J., O'MEARA, M.P., BIRKENFELD, L.W. (1958) Inter-relations between serum sodium concentration, serum osmolarity and total exchangeable sodium, total exchangeable potassium and total body water. J. clin. Invest., 37, 1236-1256.
- 5. MOORE, F.D., EDELMAN, I.S., OLNEY, J.M., JAMES, A.H., BROOKS, L., WILSON, G.M. (1954) Body sodium and potassium. III Inter-related trends in alimentary, renal and cardiovascular disease; lack of correlation between body stores and plasma concentration. <u>Metabolism</u>, <u>3</u>, <u>334-350</u>.
- 6. BOLING, E.A. (1963) Changes in body composition during illness and convalescence. <u>Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.</u>, <u>110</u>, 978-983.
- 7. MOORE, F.D., OLESEN, K.H., McMURREY, J.D., PARKER, V.H., BALL, M.R., BOYDEN, C.M. (1963) The body cell mass and its supporting environment. W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia - London.
- 8. HENZEL, J.H., DeWEESE, M.S., RIDENHOUR, G. (1967) Significance of magnesium and zinc metabolism in the surgical patient. I Magnesium. <u>Arch. Surg.</u>, <u>95</u>, 974-990.
- 9. ELKINTON, J.R., WINKLER, A.W., DANOWSKI, T.S. (1944) Inactive cell base and the measurement of changes in cell water. <u>Yale J. Biol. Med.</u>, <u>17</u>, 383-396.

MUSCLE BIOPSY ANALYSIS OF THE BODY WATER AND ELECTROLYTE

CONTENT IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF MEDICINE by JOHN ALISTAIR GRAHAM, June, 1970

The work presented in this thesis describes the measurement of body water and electrolyte contents by analysis of muscle biopsy-specimens.

Biopsy-specimens were taken from skeletal muscle (usually vastus lateralis) under either local or general anaesthesia. Each biopsy-specimen is divided into three portions, which are weighed, dried and then weighed The total water content is thus obtained, and the total again. biopsy-specimen sodium, potassium and chloride content are then measured in an acid extract of the tissue. The total water and electrolyte contents are partitioned into extra- and intracellular phases using the chloride content of the biopsy-specimen (corrected for the intracellular content) as an indicator of the extracellular water. The first two chapters of the thesis give the historical background, the details of the method, and the advantages and possible disadvantages of this The findings of the further chapters may be summarised thus:technique.

Chapter III Muscle water and electrolytes in normal adult subjects

The potassium content and intracellular potassium concentration of biopsy-specimens taken from vastus lateralis is slightly but significantly higher than that of biopsy-specimens taken from rectus abdominis.

General anaesthesia does not affect muscle water and electrolyte contents.

There is a slight reduction in intracellular water and potassium content with increasing age.

Evidence is presented of the osmotic homogeneity of the body under normal conditions.

Chapter IV Muscle water and electrolytes in normal infants and children

Extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents are high in the newborn, falling almost to adult levels around 2 years of age, with probably a further slight fall till adolescence.

Intracellular water and potassium content are similarly high in the newborn, but fall to adult levels by six months of age.

Intracellular electrolyte concentrations are similar to adult values at all ages.

Chapter V Water and electrolyte imbalance in pyloric stenosis

Patients with chronic and subacute pyloric stenosis tend to show an expansion of extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents, with a loss of intracellular water and potassium; the typical findings of starvation. In acute pyloric stenosis sodium and chloride contents are markedly reduced but the potassium content is normal. The osmotic gradient so produced across the cell membrane causes movement of extracellular water into the cell, thus accentuating the extracellular dehydration. Potassium loss is minimal in these patients, but potassium should be given during resuscitation to replace urinary losses.

Chapter VI Muscle water and electrolytes after ureterocolic anastomosis

All patients showed expansion of extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents, the usual finding in chronic renal failure.

Acutely ill patients had low biopsy-specimen potassium contents and had marked intracellular dehydration. Muscle potassium content was variable in well controlled patients.

Acutely ill patients require large amounts of potassium in addition to other resuscitative measures, but the value of long-term potassium therapy is doubtful.

Chapter VII The metabolic imbalance of chronic renal failure

Extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents are raised in chronic renal failure, the charges being more marked as the severity of renal impairment increases.

Intracellular water and electrolyte concentrations were

remarkably normal in these patients, suggesting that cellular function is very little upset.

Extracellular water content correlates well with the diastolic blood-pressure of the patients especially in more severe degrees of renal failure. This supports the belief that hypertension in patients with chronic renal failure is salt and water dependent.

Chapter VIII Body water and electrolyte composition in acute renal failure

Patients with acute untreated oliguric renal failure show two types of imbalance. The first group shows loss of extracellular sodium and chloride, with normal intracellular water and electrolytes. These findings are thought to be due to urinary salt loss during the development of oliguria and to inadequate replacement of extrarenal losses.

The second group shows generalised overhydration with an excess of sodium and chloride and a reduction in intracellular potassium concentration.

Hyponatraemia in such patients may therefore be due to either sodium deficit or water overloading, and separation of the two groups on clinical grounds is often difficult.

One patient studied during the diuretic recovery phase showed a marked loss of sodium and chloride, stressing the need to replace

- 4 -

urinary electrolyte losses at this time.

Chapter IX Muscle biopsy analysis in congestive cardiac failure

Severely ill oedematous patients have a gross increase in extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents. These measurements tend to be still greater than normal in non-oedematous patients.

There is a general tendency to a loss of potassium in these patient. In severely ill patients the intracellular potassium concentration was low, but it was normal in non-oedematous patients.

There was no evidence of osmotic inactivation of intracellular cation in the patients studied.

Chapter X The syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone

In untreated patients with this condition, extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents are greater than normal. Total potassium content and intracellular potassium concentrations are reduced.

After treatment by water deprivation, biopsy-specimen electrolyte contents remained as before. Extracellular water was reduced, although the values were still greater than normal. Intracellular water became significantly lower than normal, and as a result intracellular potassium concentrations returned to normal.

The symptoms caused by this syndrome appear to be due to water

intoxication, i.e. by lowering of the intracellular potassium concentration.

Chapter XI Water and electrolyte metabolism in disorders of adrenal cortical function

1. <u>Hyperaldosteronism</u>: there is an expansion of extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents, and a loss of intracellular water and potassium content.

Intracellular potassium concentrations tend to be low and there is a consistent increase in intracellular sodium concentration. This has not been found in any other group of patients studied, and may be due to a direct effect of aldosterone on the cell membrane.

2. <u>Cushing's Syndrome</u>: two patients were studied. Both showed an increase in extracellular water, sodium and chloride contents, with a reduction in intracellular water and potassium content.

Intracellular electrolyte concentrations were quite normal in both patients.

3. <u>Adrenocorticotrophin-secreting bronchogenic carcinoma</u>: initial biopsy in a patient with condition revealed an expansion of extracellular water and electrolytes. Intracellular potassium concentration was low and intracellular sodium concentration was high.

After treatment with metyrapone extracellular water and electrolytes returned towards normal. Biopsy-specimen_potassium content was markedly increased. Metyrapone appears to have blocked production of mineralocorticoid hormones to the extent that excessive renal retention of potassium has occurred.

Chapter XII The relationships between extracellular and intracellular water and electrolytes in health and disease

Analysis of biopsy-specimen results from 42 normal patients and 117 ill patients (167 biopsy-specimens in all) shows that body water content correlates well with the electrolyte content.

Both extracellular and intracellular electrolyte concentrations are a function of the total body water and electrolyte contents.

The conclusions reached are:

(i) body water is passively distributed between cells and extracellular space according to osmotic activity, and that no sustained osmotic gradients exist across the cell membrane.

(ii) there is no significant osmotic inactivation of intracellular cation in the conditions studied in this work.

(iii) the close similarity between regression equations for the biopsy-specimen results and those obtained by other workers using isotope-dilution techniques is further evidence that muscle biopsy-specimen water and electrolytes give an accurate reflection of the body water and electrolyte status.